Review

# Nucleosynthesis and observation of the heaviest elements

E. M. Holmbeck<sup>1,a</sup>, T. M. Sprouse<sup>2,3,b</sup>, M. R. Mumpower<sup>2,3,c</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The Observatories of the Carnegie Institution for Science, Pasadena, CA 91101, USA

<sup>2</sup> Theoretical Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

<sup>3</sup> Center for Theoretical Astrophysics, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

Received: 29 July 2022 / Accepted: 19 January 2023 © The Author(s) 2023 Communicated by N. Alamanos

Abstract The rapid neutron capture or 'r process' of nucleosynthesis is believed to be responsible for the production of approximately half the natural abundance of heavy elements found on the periodic table above iron (with proton number Z = 26) and all of the heavy elements above bismuth (Z = 83). In the course of creating the actinides and potentially superheavies, the r process must necessarily synthesize superheavy nuclei (those with extreme proton numbers, neutron numbers or both) far from isotopes accessible in the laboratory. Many questions about this process remain unanswered, such as 'where in nature may this process occur?' and 'what are the heaviest species created by this process?' In this review, we survey at a high level the nuclear properties relevant for the heaviest elements thought to be created in the r process. We provide a synopsis of the production and destruction mechanisms of these heavy species, in particular the actinides and superheavies, and discuss these heavy elements in relation to the astrophysical r process. We review the observational evidence of actinides found in the Solar system and in metal-poor stars and comment on the prospective of observing heavy-element production in explosive astrophysical events. Finally, we discuss the possibility that future observations and laboratory experiments will provide new information in understanding the production of the heaviest elements.

**Keywords** r process  $\cdot$  Nucleosynthesis  $\cdot$  Actinides  $\cdot$ Superheavy elements

### Contents

1	Introduction	
	1.1	From atoms to nuclei
	1.2	Nuclear transmutations and nucleosynthesis
	1.3	Hints of heavy element nucleosynthesis
2	Nuc	elear physics of the heaviest nuclei
	2.1	Nuclear binding energy and mass
	2.2	Neutron capture
	2.3	Nuclear decay
		2.3.1 Beta $(\beta^-)$ decay $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$
		2.3.2 Alpha ( $\alpha$ ) Decay
	2.4	Nuclear fission
		2.4.1 Fission barriers
		2.4.2 Fission Processes
3	Ast	rophysical alchemy
	3.1	The basic $r$ process $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$
	3.2	Production of the heaviest elements
	3.3	Sensitivity to nuclear physics
	3.4	Sensitivity to astrophysics
4	Observation of the heaviest elements	
	4.1	Actinides in the Solar system
	4.2	Actinides in stars
	4.3	Fission fragments
	4.4	Beyond uranium
5	Sun	mary and future outlook
References		

# **1** Introduction

In the universe, we know of at least 118 chemical elements that can exist. To visualize and sort these elements by their chemical properties, they are placed on the periodic table and grouped according to their chemical structure (see Fig. 1). The heaviest elements on the periodic table are those with



T. M. Sprouse and E. M. Holmbeck contributed equally to this work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>e-mail: eholmbeck@carnegiescience.edu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>e-mail: tmsprouse@lanl.gov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> e-mail: mumpower@lanl.gov (corresponding author)

charge numbers in excess of Z = 83, including the actinide series ( $89 \le Z \le 103$ ) and the transactinide—often called 'superheavy'—elements with Z > 103. Experimental efforts over the past several decades have resulted in the discovery of new elements, including, at the present time, the heaviest known element oganesson, Og, with Z = 118 [1,2]. While all but two elements with  $Z \le 83$  have at least one state in which they live longer than a Hubble time ( $\gtrsim 14$  Gyr), all of the known elements above Z = 83 are radioactive; that is, they only exist only for a finite amount of time. However, an 'Island of Stability' [3–5] has been proposed for elements near  $Z \sim 114$ , where some of these elements are thought to be less radioactive and exist for longer than their superheavy neighbors.

Because heavy elements tend to decay quite quickly when compared to the time that has elapsed since their astrophysical production, most of the heavy elements-especially the transactinides—cannot be found naturally; instead, these may be created in laboratory settings. There are a handful of actinide elements that live sufficiently long to be found naturally in significant amounts: thorium (Th), protactinium (Pa), uranium (U), neptunium (Np), and plutonium (Pu), with Z = 90-94, respectively. Figure 1 highlights the actinide and transactinide elements on the periodic table and colors them by their abundance on Earth. In addition, all of the elements between Bi and Th (83 < Z < 90) occur naturally in the Earth's crust as decay products of the longer-lived actinides, though only in trace amounts. Beyond Earth, Th and U are the only Z > 83 elements that can also be identified in the light of quiescent stars beyond our Solar system, notably in some of the oldest stars in the Galaxy.

The presence of the heavy elements both inside and outside the Solar system attest to a natural production mechanism for these elements [6]. However, no trans-actinide element has yet been found in nature, neither in the Solar system nor outside of it. Can they be created naturally at all? Can the process that makes the actinides also create the superheavies, and is there any chance of finding or observing these elements in their natal production sites? To address these questions, this review first introduces in Sect. 2 the nuclear physics involved in the production (and destruction) of the heaviest elements. Next, Sect. 3 reviews where and how these nuclear properties are active in the astrophysical context that creates the heavy elements. We follow up with the observational consequences of heavy-element nucleosynthesis in Sect. 4, discussing the possibilities of observing the heaviest elements and their natural production. Lastly, Sect. 5 offers encouraging perspectives as we move into the future of this topic at the intersection of physics and astronomy.

### 1.1 From atoms to nuclei

We have, up until this point in our review, focused on the periodic table as the taxonomy within which the rich variety of atomic nuclei may be assigned. Nuclei may be grouped according to their overall number of protons into specific elements. With relatively few exceptions, atomic nuclei belonging to the same element will share a common electronic structure and, consequently, share a common set of chemical and material properties, such that their shared proton number presents an excellent basis for their classification throughout much of chemistry, material science, engineering, and even our daily interactions with the world.

Beginning around 100 years ago, it became increasingly apparent that the classification of atoms according to their chemical properties *alone* was insufficient for uniquely identifying atoms. The gold foil experiments by Ernest Rutherford, Hans Geiger, and Ernest Marsden between 1908 and 1913 set the initial groundwork by developing an atomic model comprised of a dense, positively charged core (what we now know to be the nucleus) surrounded by a relatively dispersed volume occupied by oppositely charged electrons [7,8]. Subsequent experiments over the following few decades—in particular, the discovery of the neutron eventually developed the understanding that the atomic core was comprised of neutrons in addition to protons, giving rise to a further distinction between atoms of the same element [9].

The many years that followed these pioneering efforts in nuclear physics ultimately culminated in the modern understanding of the atomic nucleus: the atomic nucleus is a bound system of neutrons and protons, each of which are composite systems of elementary particles known as quarks. These constituent quarks are bound together by the strong force and mediated by gluons. The protons and neutrons themselves are similarly bound by the strong force but mediated by the exchange of mesons, a quark-antiquark composite particle. The total number of protons (Z) in a nucleus is still broadly responsible for setting its *chemical* properties, but the widely variable number of neutrons (N) that may be combined with those protons to form bound nuclei of various isotopes calls for an independent axis along which they may be sorted, namely neutron number. Similarly, a nucleus can be referred to by its 'atomic mass number,' A: the total combined number of neutrons and protons in the nucleus. In this scheme, a *nuclide* refers to a unique combination of some number of protons and neutrons in a bound system and is the nuclear analogue to the chemical 'element.' As the elements are arranged on the periodic table according to their increasing proton number and electron shell structure, nuclides are similarly arranged on a chart of nuclides, with axes not only describing the number of protons in the nucleus, but also the



Fig. 1 Periodic table of the elements showing the Earth abundances of the heaviest elements above Z > 83, including the superheavy elements (Z > 103). Elements in dark grey are not found on Earth, but instead have been detected in laboratory settings

number of neutrons, indicating all the isotopes that may exist of a particular element.

We define superheavy *nuclei* to refer to those nuclei which possess an extreme number of protons, neutrons or combination thereof; broadly categorizing nuclei with Z > 82. Superheavy *elements* refer to those species with Z > 103, forming a subset of superheavy nuclei. The definition of a superheavy element depends on the atomic or nuclear context; here we take the nuclear perspective.

An element's proton number and electron shell structure (visualized by its location on the periodic table) are the basic properties that describe how an element reacts chemically. Similarly, in addition to its proton and neutron number identity, there are a variety of properties of the nucleus that determine how individual isotopes react and decay. These range from the relatively straightforward, such as their mass or binding energy, to the more complex, such as the precise description of how a nucleus may interact with other nuclei. While any attempt to enumerate these properties in their entirety requires a devoted, exhaustive review, we dedicate Sect. 2 to a more focused discussion of the small subset of these properties which are especially important for understanding the astrophysical production of the heaviest elements.

### 1.2 Nuclear transmutations and nucleosynthesis

Insofar as all nuclei are comprised of the same basic building blocks, protons and neutrons, it immediately follows that there may be some prospect that nuclei may be able to *re*configure themselves into new combinations of the same inherent building blocks. Indeed, this general phenomenon has been observed since the infancy of nuclear physics the observation of radioactivity being perhaps the earliest example—even if it would not be understood as a transmutation of nuclei *per se* for many years later.

Nuclear transmutations may be categorized in any number of ways. One of the more natural ways to approach this task is to consider the circumstances under which a transmutation takes place. For example, some nuclei transmute *spontaneously*, in the sense that they proceed on their own without interaction with any particles external to the nucleus itself. Spontaneous fission and  $\alpha$  decay are clear examples of such transmutations. These spontaneous decays differ from *induced* transmutations, which only occur when a nucleus interacts with some external particle, such as a baryon, another nucleus, or perhaps a lepton.

Another commonly used basis for describing nuclear transmutations concerns the types of interactions that mediate the transmutation. As it is ultimately the strong interaction that binds nuclei together, a broad swath of nuclear transmutations are principally driven in some complex way by the same category of interactions. To highlight how this might proceed, consider the situation in which an incident ('projectile') nucleus bombards another ('target') nucleus. In this scenario, it is possible for some protons and/or neutrons be exchanged between the two. After such a transmutation takes place, the overall numbers of protons and neutrons are independently conserved, but they are nevertheless rearranged to convert the initial target and projectile nuclei into some other nuclei. It is not, however, the case that all nuclear transmutations conserve the numbers of protons and neutrons, as weak interactions may convert protons to neutrons and viceversa, the prototypical example of which is that of nuclear  $\beta^{\pm}$  decay, which changes the element of a nucleus but leaves the combined number of neutrons and protons unchanged.

While the distinction between strong and weak transmutations is useful for discussing such topics at a high level, the fundamental forces are always active, and thus the distinction is not always clean-cut. For example, nuclear  $\beta$  decay (a weak process) leaves a nucleus in an excited state which may emit a proton or neutron (via properties of the strong interaction) before finding its way to its final energy state. Another example is  $\alpha$  decay which exhibits an interplay between strong and electromagnetic interactions. In general, a thorough understanding of all transmutations in which a nucleus might participate will require detailed consideration of all types of interactions as a collective whole.

Given the rich and diverse types of transmutations in which nuclei may participate, the question is raised: do these transmutations actually occur in any significant way in physical environments? This is perhaps most evident when we consider that the immediate aftermath of the Big Bang is understood to have produced primordial nuclei comprised almost entirely of hydrogen, helium, and lithium, in stark contrast with what we now observe to exist today, both in the Solar system and throughout the universe (as shown, e.g., in Fig. 1). In contrast, early studies of Big Bang nucleosynthesis predicted the entire range of elements were created [10]. Given the modern understanding that the Big Bang only produced the lightest elements, the logical explanation for the observation of the rest of the elements found presently would be that nuclear transmutations have been taking place throughout the universe since its very beginning, converting the light nuclei into successively heavier ones, up to and including the naturally occurring thorium, uranium, and plutonium observed, e.g., here on Earth. 'Nucleosynthesis' is the generic term that refers to any process which produces new nuclei in physical systems, with 'astrophysical nucleosynthesis' referring specifically to nucleosynthesis that takes place in astrophysical environments.

The elements we find in our Solar system, then, are a product of roughly nine billion years of distinct and incredibly diverse astrophysical nucleosynthesis processes that created the heavier elements out of the building blocks left by the Big Bang. Figure 2 shows the abundance of each isobar (those nuclei sharing the same total number of protons and neutrons in their nucleus, A) found in the Solar system on a logarithmic scale. While hydrogen and helium are still the most abundant elements—reflective of their primordial origin—the rest of the periodic table ( $Z \ge 3$ ) accounts for only about a total of 2% of the Solar system material [11, 12].

As can be seen in Fig. 2, there is a steady decline in abundance with increasing atomic mass number, where the heaviest elements are also the least abundant. A surprisingly robust theory for explaining this pattern as a consequence of nucleosynthesis was first proposed in the landmark 1957 result of Burbidge, Burbidge, Fowler, and Hoyle [13] and contemporaneous works, e.g., by Al Cameron [14]. These works, which gave birth to the field now known as 'nuclear astrophysics,' interpreted the distinct peaks in the Solar system abundance pattern as a clear signature of nuclear physics structure and stellar evolution. The peaks of locally high abundances, decreasing through the series of C, O, Ne, Si, and S, correspond to the  $\alpha$ -nuclei preferentially formed in the fusion stages of progressively more massive stars, terminating in the iron peak around A = 56 produced by corecollapse supernovae that mark the fusion end-point of very massive stars' lives. Beyond this point, i.e., moving towards the heavier nuclei populating the Solar system (indicated by the shaded region of Fig. 2), the Coulomb barrier increases for heavier elements, making charged particle reactions increasingly unsustainable in stellar environments. In other words, the fusion of like-charged nuclei (e.g., Fe and Fe), which for elements lighter than Fe produced energy that once supported the star, now become energetically expensive for elements heavier than Fe, leading to stellar collapse. It follows, then, that the elements beyond Fe cannot be produced astrophysically by stellar fusion. Rather, the capture of free neutrons onto nuclei is responsible for the vast majority of the abundances of elements with  $Z \gtrsim 30$  in the Solar system, though charged-particle captures are still responsible for the production of some Solar-system nuclei. However, because free neutrons decay with a half-life of around ten minutes, the nucleosynthesis of these heaviest nuclei requires specific and relatively rare astrophysical environments: that is, an environment which also produces the neutrons to be subsequently captured. The capture of light charged nuclei (e.g., a proton) is a possible route to synthesizing heavier neutrondeficient elements. The rapid capture of protons (rp process)

Fig. 2 Abundance of each isobar (constant proton number plus neutron number, *A*) in the Solar system from data in Ref. [11]. The nuclei with primary origins in neutron-capture nucleosynthesis are highlighted in blue



[15] is thought to produce light *p* nuclei up to mass number  $A \sim 110$ , see [16] and references therein. The astrophysical conditions (temperature and density) must be appropriate to favor incident protons overcoming the Coulomb barrier of heavier nuclei. In environments with sufficient neutrino fluxes, anti-neutrino capture on protons, or the *vp* process, may ensue. This process can explain the production of <sup>92,94</sup>Mo and <sup>96,98</sup>Ru in the Solar system [17]. As far as the Solar system is concerned, the heavy elements owe the majority of their production to two generic types of neutron capture: slow and rapid [18]. Any prospect for the production of the (super)heavy elements would necessarily proceed via *rapid* neutron-capture nucleosynthesis (or the 'r process'), a concept which we explore in much deeper detail in Sect. 3.

### 1.3 Hints of heavy element nucleosynthesis

In parallel to breakthroughs in the understanding of atoms and nuclei were landmark identifications of heavy elements on Earth. Today we know that trace amounts of several heavy elements produced by the *r* process can be found on Earth (see Fig. 1). Uranium was first discovered in 1789 from mineral samples [19] and <sup>244</sup>Pu more recently in deep-sea sediments [20–22]. (For an exhaustive review of the history of actinide discoveries, see [23] and [24].) Even before the direct detections of the actinide elements, the existence of Th, U, and Pu was inferred from measurements of Xe and Pb as the radioactive 'mother' nuclei that have undergone nuclear transmuation by decaying into lighter 'daughter' species (e.g., [25–27]). As early as the 1910s, going one nuclear generation further by requiring the origin of uranium as itself a decay daughter product of a still-heavier element was both hypothesized and criticized [24,28]. As we will see in this review, this hypothesis was ironically not completely incorrect. The actinides can indeed be decay products of the superheavy elements, and observations of the actinides may be an indirect route to inferring production of the superheavies [29].

The definition of 'observation' is not limited to direct sample collection and measurement such as that conducted on Earth through, e.g., meteorites or deep-sea sediments; most of the usable and available information about the universe comes from starlight. A star is essentially a cool layer of material surrounding a hotter core that radiates light over a continuum of energies (i.e., wavelengths). Elements in the stellar photosphere can 'absorb' photons radiated by deeper layers of the star at certain energies. Specifically, if a photon has enough energy to excite an electron to a higher atomic energy level (or ionization state), the photon may be 'absorbed' by the electron. This exchange of energy manifests in the electromagnetic spectrum of the relatively cool stellar photosphere as an atomic 'absorption feature' in which the brightness of specific wavelengths of light is less than its neighboring wavelengths that are not absorbed (or not absorbed as strongly). In a quiescent star-such as the Sunthe hot stellar core produces a continuum of light at different wavelengths, and elements in the cooler atmosphere of the star may absorb light emitted by the hot core, producing absorption features unique to the elemental composition of the stellar photosphere. Following this principle, many elements can be identified in the light from the Sun. Indeed, helium was first discovered in 1868 from sunlight during a solar eclipse and thus owes its name to the Greek word for 'sun,' *helios* [30,31]. Somewhat more recently—and more than one hundred year after its terrestrial discovery in 1828 thorium was first identified in the Solar spectrum [32], and we emphasize that this identification would not have been possible without dedicated 'laboratory astrophysics' efforts to characterize the atomic transitions of thorium in order to guide where they can be found in starlight [33]. Outside the Solar system, the energy spectrum of starlight can also reveal the elements present in other stars. In Sect. 4, we will discuss stellar observations of the heaviest elements in more detail.

Observations both on Earth and from the Sun's spectrum of light are able to capture the elemental composition of the Solar system to produce diagrams like Fig. 2, showing how much of each element/isobar exists in the Solar system [34]. Observations from light and those from physical samples are fundamentally different, however. Atomic absorption features visible in stellar spectra are set by the proton number in the nucleus, and only in rare cases do the absorption features show sensitivity to the total number of nucleons in the nucleus. In other words, abundances derived from starlight only indicate the total elemental abundance (i.e., summed over all isotopes that may be present) [35,36]. On the other hand, laboratory techniques are able to separate elements not only by their charge, but also by their mass number, providing another axis along which to characterize the elemental abundances and allowing abundances as a function of atomic mass number to be made (such as in Fig. 2). Because the Solar system is the only system for which isotopic measurements can be made across the whole observable periodic table, it remains the only system for which we have an *isotopic* abundance pattern [37]. Stardust from other systems arriving to the Solar system in the form of pre-Solar grains also allows some isotopic information to be gained, but these grains are uncorrelated with stars that are presently observed with stellar spectroscopy. The abundance patterns of quiescent stars other than our Sun are strictly by element, save for the rare handful of elements for which isotopes can be identified in stellar spectra [38,39].

Similarly, atomic features (absorption or emission) can be detected in non-quiescent events as well. For example, William Huggins made the first spectroscopic observations of a novae in 1866 [40], noting that the hydrogen lines are notably different from those found in stars [41]. Today, classes of novae and supernovae are categorized based on what elements are detectable in their spectra. In Sect. 4, we will address if, when, and how evidence for the heaviest elements can be found in spectra of explosive astrophysical events.

### 2 Nuclear physics of the heaviest nuclei

The production of the heaviest elements in nature critically depends on the properties of very short-lived, unstable nuclei. To date, many of these properties remain unmeasured, and therefore theoretical model calculations of nuclear properties must be used to supplement nuclear data when simulating nucleosynthesis taking place in extreme regions of the chart of nuclides. In this section, we review the nuclear properties that are of particular interest to the formation of the heaviest elements.

### 2.1 Nuclear binding energy and mass

One of the basic properties of a nucleus is its binding energy, or the minimal energy required to separate the nucleus into its constituent nucleons (neutrons and protons). From the Einstein energy-mass relation, this can be equivalently stated in terms of mass. In principle this quantity can be derived from the lowest energy state of the many-body Hamiltonian; however, this calculation is a tremendous task for light nuclei [42] and such complexities only increase for heavy species [43,44].

The most accurate and precise estimates for atomic masses originate from experimental measurements, the data of which are routinely compiled and summarized in regular releases of the Atomic Mass Evaluation (AME) [45–47]. The latest (2020) release of the AME dataset contains the atomic masses of roughly 2,500 species. For the three latest releases of the AME, the average reported uncertainty among all nuclei was 40, 30, and 25 keV respectively. From this progression it is clear that the precision of measurements has continually improved over time, particularly with the replacement of  $\beta$ endpoint measurements with measurements from Penning traps [48].

The first estimates of nuclear binding energy were based on the liquid drop model of a nucleus, and it was shown that this energy saturates per nucleon [49]. Within a few years after this idea, a phenomenological formula was developed by Weizsäcker [50]. This semi-empirical formula consists of additive terms, each describing a unique aspect of the physics of nuclear binding energies:

$$E_B(Z, N) = a_V A - a_S A^{2/3} - a_C \frac{Z^2}{A^{1/3}} -a_A \frac{(N-Z)^2}{A} + \delta(Z, N)$$
(1)

where the first term describes the increase in binding energy as more nucleons are added to the nucleus, the second term describes the surface contribution of nucleons near the edge of the nucleus, the third (Coulomb) term describes the electrostatic repulsion of protons, the fourth term measures the asymmetry (Pauli exclusion), and the final term controls pairwise spin-coupling. The coefficients  $(a_i)$  for each of these terms are fit to the measured nuclear masses of nuclei. Note that going from measured *atomic* masses and *nuclear* masses requires an additional term to account for the binding energy of the electrons.

Perhaps the most immediately apparent shortcoming of the Weizsäcker mass formula is its inability to reproduce the so-called 'closed shell' features appearing in nuclear masses. These closed shells correspond to nucleons completely occupying discrete energy levels of the nucleus and are a direct parallel to the closed valence electron shells of the noble gas elements (i.e., the last column of Fig. 1). By observing the nuclear masses as a function of proton and neutron number, one notes the relatively stronger binding energies of nuclei with specific numbers of neutrons and/or protons compared to their immediate neighbors on the chart of nuclides, an observation which was first postulated to be a consequence of underlying shell structure around 1932 by Bartlett [51,52] and separately by Gapon and Iwanenko [53]. The first calculations of nuclei in a shell structure model were carried out independently by Mayer [54,55] and Jensen [56], which supported the canonical location of the closed neutron and proton shells at 'magic' numbers of 2, 8, 20, 28, 50, 82, and 126 (for neutrons). For heavy or deformed nuclei, the situation becomes somewhat more complicated, with the closed shells appearing at different numbers of protons and neutrons. For example, the heaviest confirmed closed shell for the proton occurs at Z = 82, with the next accessible closed shell suggested at 114, though early extrapolation of nuclear shells to the superheavy elements conjectured the next proton shell closure at Z = 126 in direct analogy with the neutron [57,58]. For the neutron, the heaviest observed closed shell is at N = 126, and it is suggested that N = 184 may also be a closed shell [3,59]. The shell behavior of heavy, neutron rich nuclei at N = 126 and N = 184 has a uniquely important role in mediating the production of the heaviest elements in astrophysical environments, which we discuss in more detail in Sect. 3. Nuclei with both closed neutron and proton shells tend to be spherical and are considered 'doubly magic.' The 'Island of Stability'—a region of the nuclear chart in which superheavy elements are theorized to be long-lived-is conjectured to occur around the postulated doubly magic closed shell at Z = 114 and N = 184, though there is debate on where exactly on the N-Z plane the Island of Stability would exist [60–65].

While Eq. 1 can reproduce basic patterns arising in the masses of measured nuclei, the growing expansion of our knowledge of the nuclear landscape demands the need for more complex theoretical descriptions of the atomic nucleus, both to capture the aforementioned nuclear shell effects and other, more subtle features of nuclear structure. Below, we survey some of the more common approaches that have been applied to the heaviest nuclei in recent years.

The semi-classical approach—sometimes called the macroscopic-microscopic method-breaks the description of nuclear binding down into two parts: (1) the energies related to the macroscopic shape, a more refined counterpart to the Weizsäcker formula, and (2) the energies related to quantum phenomena. The motivation for this approach is empirical in nature and stems from the mean-field picture of atomic nuclei [66]. Popular semi-classical models include the widely used Finite-Range Droplet Model (FRDM) [67-69], Dulflo-Zuker (DZ) [70], KTUY [71], and Weizsäcker-Skyrme (WS) [72-74]. Much of the modern day understanding of neutron-rich nuclei relevant to the r process comes from the fundamental insights provided by semiclassical models [75-81]. To date, macroscopic-microscopic approaches provide a match to mass evaluations on the order of a few hundred keV [82].

A number of powerful and predictive methods seek to model the atomic nucleus based on the nucleon-nucleon interactions between its constituent protons and neutrons, e.g., no-core shell models [83,84], Green's Function Monte Carlo (GFMC) [85,86], or Configuration-Interaction (CI) methods [87]. However, as a result of the many-body problem in physics (which observes the simple fact that the complexity of describing nuclear systems grows combinatorically with atomic mass number), it becomes quickly apparent that these and/or similar methods cannot be reasonably applied to even modestly heavy ( $A \gtrsim 100$ ) nuclei, much less so for the heaviest/superheavy nuclei with  $A \sim 300$ ; the computational resources that would be needed far exceed that which could be envisioned any time in the near or distant future.

Alternatively, energy density functional (EDF) theoretic methods in nuclear modeling intend to capture, in an approximate way, some of the rich microscopic physics present in atomic nuclei while avoiding the combinatorical explosion of complexity otherwise introduced in heavier nuclear systems [88–93]. These approaches focus on describing the nuclear potential energy in terms of local, one-body particle number densities and related quantities (kinetic energy density, spin densities, and spin-orbit densities, among a number of others). Application of the variational principle immediately offers a path to identifying the ground-state configuration by minimizing the energy density functional with respect to all possible configurations, from which nuclear mass (among other nuclear structure observables) may be inferred. Nuclear pairing effects prove something of a challenge for these methods, so model predictions in the nuclear EDF approach are generally restricted to even-even nuclei, although methods have been developed to also treat nuclear systems with unpaired protons and/or neutrons, e.g., via a blocking procedure [94]. With phenomenological corrections applied on top of 'bare' model predictions, these models can generally match known data on the order of a few hundred keV [95–103]. This situation is largely comparable to that of macroscopic-microscopic approaches; note, however, that in either approach, experimental measurements have characteristic uncertainties around an order of magnitude (or more) lower than any theory currently provides.

In any of these approaches, theoretical mass models use experimentally known nuclei to constrain the underlying parameters within the model. In some cases, other information can also be used in this parameter optimization step, including properties of extended nuclear matter, fission barrier heights, nuclear deformation, nuclear saturation density, the nucleon-nucleon interaction, and neutron skin depths.

Of chief concern for studying the production of the heaviest nuclei is how well models perform when extrapolating far from known, measured nuclei [104–107]; open questions still persist around the evolution of deformation and collective effects [108–110], as well as the strength of shell closures [111–114]. Figure 3 shows the behavior of several mass models for the uranium isotopic chain along with measurements from the AME2020 compilation where available. All sets of masses are compared to a baseline mass model, FRDM2012, which allows for the opportunity to gauge extrapolations. The difference between the mass model predictions and AME are within the standard uncertainty (500 keV) for theory mass calculations where there is measured data. However, outside of the range of measured masses, the divergence between mass models quickly exceeds 500 keV, especially on the neutron-rich side. This divergence of model predictions with increasing neutron excess is a general trend with current modeling efforts.

Accurate mass measurements of neutron-rich nuclei (those on the order of  $\sim 25$  keV uncertainty or less) are the primary way to resolve discrepancies among mass predictions [115]. Measurements at modern facilities have provided a wealth of knowledge in recent years [116–122]. Insights include the behavior of highly deformed nuclei [123–125], the behavior of nuclear near shell closures [126–129], the resolution of isomeric states [130–132] and the first direct mass measurement of a superheavy nuclide [133].

As we will see in the following subsections, the masses of nuclei play a critical role in nuclear reaction and decay rates, and remains one of the largest sources of uncertainty for the properties of neutron-rich nuclei. Section 3 will discuss in detail how different theory predictions for nuclear masses affect the production of the superheavy elements, helping or hindering the potential to observe them.

### 2.2 Neutron capture

Neutron capture is a transmutation process in which a nucleus absorbs a neutron, increasing the mass number by one unit. This process is typically followed by the emission of  $\gamma$ -rays in the excited compound nucleus. For the incident neutron energies ( $E_n \sim 1-100 \text{ keV}$ ) relevant to astrophysical pro-

cesses that creates the heaviest elements, neutron capture can be described by Hauser-Feshbach theory [134–136]. This statistical approach is based on the formation of a compound nucleus and is valid for nuclei that have sufficiently high level densities [137, 138]. For nuclei with low level density (e.g., near closed shells) or for nuclei near the neutron dripline, the direct capture mechanism can also contribute in a significant way [139–142]. Pre-compound reaction mechanisms such as semi-direct capture are less likely to play a role at the relatively low neutron energies found in astrophysical environments [143].

Statistical model calculations require inputs from nuclear structure models including the optical model potential [144, 145], nuclear level density [146–148], and the  $\gamma$ -strength function [149–152]. The optical model—together with the associated optical model potential-is used to describe the overall cross section for the absorption of a neutron into a compound nucleus. The nuclear level density and  $\gamma$  strength functions are then used to infer the relative probability of the compound nucleus to de-excite. When the excitation energy is well above the neutron separation energy, as in the case with  $\beta$ -decay of neutron-rich nuclei, neutron emission will dominate  $\gamma$  emission in the statistical approach. In contrast, for neutron capture in astrophysical environments, the total excitation energy in the compound nucleus is comparatively lower, thereby limiting the reaction channels primarily to elastic, inelastic, or radiative ( $\gamma$ ) emission. In radiative neutron capture, denoted  $(n, \gamma)$ , the nucleus deexcites by the emission of one or more photons populating either the ground state or an isomeric state of the compound nucleus [153]. For some light nuclei the  $(n,\alpha)$  channel and its inverse may become energetically favorable [154, 155] while neutron-induced reactions on nuclei near the neutron dripline [156] may also exhibit the (n,2n) channel due to the low separation energies [157]. In both of these cases the channels will compete with  $(n, \gamma)$ . Besides the competition between neutron and  $\gamma$  emission of the compound nucleus, for very heavy nuclei, the compound nucleus can be found in a state in which nuclear fission may also compete; this is discussed in much more detail in Sect. 2.4.2.

Closely related to neutron capture is its inverse process, photodissociation, in which a photon has enough energy to liberate a neutron from the nucleus. The energy required for such photons to cause photodissociation must naturally exceed that of a nucleus's one-neutron separation energy, without which the combined photon-nucleus system would have insufficient energy to strip a free neutron from the nucleus. Unlike neutron-capture cross sections, which must generally be modeled directly, the rate for the inverse process may quickly be arrived at by applying arguments based on statistical mechanics—in particular, the principle of detailed balance. In this way, the photodissociation rate can be Fig. 3 Mass model predictions along the U (Z = 92) isotopic chain relative to FRDM2012. The plus markers and dark grey band show mass measurements and uncertainties, respectively, from each Z = 92 entry in AME2020. (For clarity, the extent of current mass measurements along this isotopic chain is also indicated.) The light grey horizontal band indicates an overall 500 keV uncertainty, which is readily achieved by theoretical models within the region where mass measurements exists. Outside measurements, model predictions diverge rapidly



expressed via the equation:

$$\lambda_{(\gamma,n)} = \frac{2}{n_n} \frac{G'(T)}{G(T)} \left(\frac{\mu k_B T}{2\pi\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \lambda'_{(n,\gamma)} e^{-S_n/k_B T},$$
 (2)

where  $n_n$  is the neutron density; G(T) is the nuclear partition function;  $\mu$  is the reduced mass of the target and projectile nuclei; T is the temperature;  $S_n$  is the neutron separation energy;  $\lambda_{(\gamma,n)}$  and  $\lambda_{(n,\gamma)}$  are the photodissociation rate and neutron capture rate, respectively, of a nucleus with (Z, N); and primed quantities correspond to those of the nucleus with one fewer neutron relative to those of the unprimed quantities, i.e., (Z, N - 1). For any fixed temperature, the separation energy controls the photodissociation rate insofar as it appears inside the exponential factor.

Overall, for a fixed neutron density, the specific point along an isotopic chain at which equilibrium is reached between the two processes, i.e., where the flow of nuclear abundance 'stalls,' requires a detailed understanding of *both* the astrophysical conditions (which sets the temperature of the nucleosynthetic environment) as well as nuclear structure for neutron-rich nuclei across the chart of nuclides (which sets the one-neutron separation energies). The specific implications of this relationship for heavy-element nucleosynthesis are discussed further in Sect. 3.

### 2.3 Nuclear decay

A basic property of a nuclear species is how long it may persist, on average, before succumbing to radioactive decay. The radioactive decay of a species involves changing the identity of one or more nucleons (as in the case of nuclear  $\beta$ decay, Sect. 2.3.1) or breaking into multiple, smaller nuclei ( $\alpha$  decay and fission, Sects. 2.3.2 and 2.4.2, respectively). The elapsed time for a collection of identically prepared species to reduce to half of its initial population via radioactive decay is known as a half-life,  $T_{1/2}$ . It is important to recognize that this definition is statistical in nature, and thus describes the average behavior of an ensemble of identically prepared states.

Half-lives of the ground state of nuclei may range from fractions of a second to longer than the age of the universe. Figure 4 shows the total half-lives for the heaviest measured isotopes as reported in the NuBase (2020) evaluation [158]. Stable isotopes are indicated by black squares while radioactive nuclei are colored according to (the  $log_{10}$  of) their halflife. Many elements in the actinide region, as well as all but two elements with a lower charge than bismuth (Z < 83), have at least one long-lived isotope. The exceptions of lighter elements with no stable isotopes are technetium (Z = 43)and promethium (Z = 61). A gap of very short-lived nuclei exists between these two regions where  $\alpha$ -decay is the dominant decay mechanism. Outside the region of measured masses, nuclei become evermore short-lived and, for lighter nuclei below  $Z \sim 90$ , are predicted to primarily undergo  $\beta$ -decay.

When two or more nuclear decay processes proceed in tandem, the total half-life is the sum of the inverse partial half-lives, which are defined as if each of the decay processes happened independently. The total half-life is particularly relevant for the heaviest nuclear species where  $\beta$  decay,  $\alpha$  decay, and (spontaneous) fission may all compete. Figure 5 plots the primary measured decay mode across the chart of nuclides. The majority of nuclei far from stability (including those involved in the creation of the heaviest elements) will undergo  $\beta$  decay. However, in the heaviest region, there is competition between these channels, and any individual nucleus may have significant chance to decay by  $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ , or fission.







Although the specific half-life of a nucleus depends on the combined probabilities of all its decay channels (which typically involve Q-value differences), the location of the *most*  $\beta$ -stable nucleus along an isobaric chain can nonetheless be approximated from the binding energy. Returning to the semi-empirical mass formula, one can estimate the minimum binding energy per nucleon (and therefore which combination of Z + N = A is the most stable):

$$N/Z \sim 1 + \frac{a_C}{a_A} (Z+N)^{2/3},$$
 (3)

where  $a_C \sim 0.7$  MeV and  $a_A \sim 23$  MeV are the Coulomb and asymmetry coefficients. The small, positive factor implies that heavier stable nuclei have slightly more neutrons than protons. This fact can be observed in Figs. 4 and 5 as the known stable nuclei bend progressively away from N = Z.

Below, we discuss the principle modes of spontaneous decay for heavy, neutron-rich nuclei that involve particle emission. Spontaneous fission and  $\beta$ -delayed fission, which are also important in determining the overall (in)stability of the heaviest nuclei, are reserved specifically for our broader discussion of fission in Sect. 2.4.2.

# 2.3.1 Beta ( $\beta^{-}$ ) decay

Nuclear  $\beta^-$  decay is the primary decay mode for the majority of nuclei involved in the neutron-capture processes responsible for creating the heaviest elements, the *r* process. This nuclear transmutation process is governed by the weak interaction that converts a neutron into a proton in the nucleus. The nucleus simultaneously emits an electron and an antineutrino to conserve charge and lepton number. In a somewhat humorous letter by Pauli [159], the neutrino itself was postulated in order to explain the continuous energy distribution of the electron that was observed decades earlier [160]. Later, Fermi provided a theoretical framework for performing calculations [161] (see also Wilson's English translation [162]). For completeness—though not especially relevant during the astrophysical production of heavy nuclei via rapid neutron capture— $\beta^+$  decay occurs on the neutron-deficient side of nuclear stability when a proton in the nucleus transmutes into a neutron via the emission of a neutrino and a positron. The decay of nuclei via  $\beta^+$  (or  $e^-$ -capture) may contribute non-negligibly in the slow neutron-capture process, especially at branch points. Unless otherwise specified, any mention of ' $\beta$ ' decay here refers to  $\beta^-$  decay.

The  $\beta$ -decay process may leave the nucleus in an energetically excited state. In this excited state, the nucleus can either emit energy in the form of photons to decay to lower lying states, or, if energetically allowed, emit ( $\beta$ -delayed) particles, possibly changing its identify yet again (a possibility we will discuss later in this section and in Sect. 2.4.2). The total energy available in  $\beta$  decay is measured by  $Q_{\beta}$ , the energy (or mass) difference between the initial and final ground states:  $Q_{\beta} = m_i - m_f - m_e$ . This energy represents the maximum possible excitation energy of the residual nucleus immediately after the initial  $\beta$  decay. Theoretical models of nuclear  $\beta$  decay require both the relative energy between the parent and daughter states as well as a prediction of the transition strength (or intensity) between these participating levels [163]. This requirement amounts to applying Fermi's Golden Rule to specific nuclear operators [164–166]. The pairing of this information may be summarized in a  $\beta$ -decay strength function of a nucleus [167], from which the overall  $\beta$  decay rate may be immediately calculated [168]. When, following  $\beta$ decay into an excited state, the population of excited states in the daughter nucleus exceeds particle threshold, delayed particle emission may ensue [169, 170]. For neutron-rich nuclei, delayed particle emission may occur when the neutron separation energy in the daughter nucleus is less than the parent's  $Q_{\beta}$ , i.e.,  $S_n(Z+1, N-1) < Q_{\beta}(Z, N)$ , leading to so-called  $\beta$ -delayed neutron emission [171, 172].

Overall, the excited nucleus will favor particle emission over electromagnetic decay whenever it is energetically allowed [173]. However, a more refined portrait may be obtained by employing principles of statistical decay, in very much the same way as de-excitation is modeled following the formation of a compound nucleus [174] following neutron capture (Sect. 2.2). In this way, the branching ratios and energy spectra of emitted particles may be calculated [175, 176]. Because the overall energy of the compound nucleus is determined by  $Q_{\beta}$ , which can be quite large (ten MeV or more) for the very neutron-rich nuclei populated during an *r* process, it is energetically favorable for multiple neutrons to be emitted before a  $\beta$ -unstable nucleus finds its way to a stable nucleus. For nuclei with large  $Q_{\beta}$ , i.e., as one approaches the neutron dripline, modern models predict approximately five delayed neutrons emitted per  $\beta$  decay [177]. In the most extreme cases, as many as eight or more neutrons may be emitted following  $\beta$  decay in *r* process nuclei.

For nuclei in a localized region of the chart of nuclides, the nuclear shell model may be used to calculate  $\beta$ -decay rates [178–181]. However, currently, to compute all relevant nuclei, theories with a global reach must be employed [182,183]. Global calculations of  $\beta$ -decay properties have been calculated within the macroscopic-microscopic method based on the Quasi-particle Random Phase Approximation (QRPA) [184] with phenomenological treatment of firstforbidden transitions [185]. This approach generally yields  $\beta$ -decay properties dominated by Gamow-Teller transitions [186]. In contrast, microscopic approaches suggest that firstforbidden transitions play a strong role, especially above the N = 126 shell closure [187]. More recently, microscopic approaches have utilized the finite-amplitude method to speed up the calculation of  $\beta$ -decay properties [188, 189]. It is important to keep in mind that the current large discrepancies in  $\beta$ -decay properties will have substantial impact on the creation of the elements in astrophysical environments. We return to this point in Sect. 3.

# 2.3.2 Alpha (a) Decay

Alpha decay is a nuclear transmutation in which an  $\alpha$  particle (a helium nucleus consisting of two protons and two neutrons) is emitted from the nucleus. Alpha decay is technically possible when the *Q*-value ( $Q_{\alpha} = m_i - m_f - m_{\alpha}$ ) is positive, and it is one of the primary decay modes of the heaviest nuclides. However, because of a relatively strong Coulomb barrier established by the parent nucleus, there are many nuclei which exhibit a positive  $Q_{\alpha}$  but which undergo  $\alpha$  decay with effectively zero probability, and those nuclei with significant  $\alpha$  decay rates are those with comparatively larger  $Q_{\alpha}$  values.

Figure 6 shows the behavior of  $Q_{\alpha}$  along isotopic chains for heavy nuclei. Measurements reported in the AME2020 are shown in points while lines indicate  $Q_{\alpha}$  predictions from FRDM2012. Black solid (dotted) lines specify proton numbers divisible by ten (five). This figure reflects the general qualitative agreement between theory and experimental values when used to determine relevant *Q*-values for nuclear reaction and decay calculations. In reference to the *r* process specifically, however, it should be noted that those nuclei with significant  $Q_{\alpha}$  lie much closer to those with known masses, so the difficult and persistent complication of uncertain nuclear masses in relation to, e.g., theory calculations of neutron capture or  $\beta$ -decay of very neutron-rich nuclei is not nearly so severe for analogous predictions of  $\alpha$ -decay properties. Fig. 6 Isotopic  $\alpha$ -decay O-values from the 2020 release of the Atomic Mass Evaluation (AME2020) (points) [47] compared with those from the FRDM2012 model (solid lines) [69] along constant proton number. Thick black lines indicate proton-number intervals of ten





180

Neutron number, N

190

170

The partial half-life of  $\alpha$ -decay may be calculated via an assumption of quantum tunneling through a barrier, which results in the well-known Viola-Seaborg relation [191]. This kind of phenomenology was crucial in anticipating the possible N = 184 shell closure. Following this work, subsequent predictions of  $\alpha$ -decay half-lives have been made using various methods [192–197]. While measurements have recently been made of lighter  $\alpha$ -decaying nuclei [198], it is the  $\alpha$ decay chains of the heaviest nuclei that impact the actinide and superheavy elements.

90

80 130

140

150

160

# 2.4 Nuclear fission

The heaviest nuclear species may undergo fission, which is the general term for processes that splits the nucleus into two or more lighter 'fission fragments.' The splitting of a nucleus into two main fragments along with, possibly, some small handful of neutrons is the most common modality, as first reported by Meitner, Strassman, and Hahn [199].

200

210

220

0

230

Fission rates are the most important fission property in controlling whether and how many heavy and superheavy nuclei might be produced following an r process; if the rates for certain nuclei are too fast, for example, nuclei will have a small 'survival probability' during their decay towards less neutron rich nuclei that occurs at the end of any r process. At the same time, electromagnetic and particle radiation spectra, as well as fission fragment yields, can be important observational tools for examining the possibility of heavy and superheavy element production in r-process environments and their associated remnants.

Overall, a complete theoretical framework for calculating the numerous fission properties of interest to the r process has proven to be a formidable task, and a number of approaches have been developed to make progress towards this persistent challenge in nuclear theory. Broadly speaking, the theoretical

approaches mirror those applied in nuclear structure (see discussion of Sect. 2.1), with fully microscopic, macroscopicmicroscopic, and phenomenological models all providing important developments in our understanding of, and predictions for, fission properties across the nuclear chart (see Ref. [200] for a recent and thorough review). Microscopic approaches, in particular, are at a uniquely promising point in their history, as recent advances in computational hardware are beginning to provide the considerable resources needed to fully apply such methods to the problem of fission [201-218] (also see Ref. [93] and references therein). At the same time, macroscopic-microscopic approaches have continued to fill a gap insofar as their comparatively less demanding computational methods enable studies that predict fission properties across the entire nuclear chart [219-226]. Still too, systematics fill important gaps in our ability to make reasonable predictions for certain types of fission observables, particularly with regards to the calculation of fission rates [227–231] and approximate fragment yields [232,233]. Modern treatments now also include fragment energy partitioning, deexcitation, and corresponding neutron and gamma emission spectra [234–239].

We explore the specific implications of fission for nucleosynthesis in Sect. 3 while focusing the remaining portions of the present discussion on the modern understanding of fission in and of itself.

# 2.4.1 Fission barriers

In any prediction of fission rates-regardless of fission process or nucleus-the fission barrier is one of the strongest predictors of a nucleus's propensity to fission. Because the fission properties of so few nuclei have been measured experimentally (and fewer still, when only nuclei of interest to the r process are considered), r process simulations rely on global models for predicting fission barriers which are, in turn, used to calculate actual fission rates for the relevant fission processes. Such global predictions are available in the BCPM [240], ETFSI [241,242], FRLDM [190], HFB-14 [243], and Thomas-Fermi [244] models. In each of these models, the nuclear potential energy of each nucleus is computed across a domain of collective coordinates, and the resulting geometry of the potential energy surface is analyzed to identify the fission barrier in reference to the ground state and splitting (scission) configurations. The difference between the ground state and fission barrier energies is taken to be the 'fission barrier height,' which is the quantity ultimately used to predict the rates for the different fission processes [245]. When a nucleus is initially in an excited state (e.g., as in the compound nucleus formed in neutron-capture or the excited energy states nuclei  $\beta$  decay into), the excitation energy may be subtracted from the barrier height to obtain an effective value for further use in such calculations.

In Fig. 7, we show the global behavior of barrier heights across the fissioning region of the nuclear chart for the FRLDM model [190]. Particularly noteworthy is the transition to a broad, diffuse region of low barrier heights for very neutron-rich nuclei located around Z = 100 and N = 190. In the 1960s, it was already expected that this general region would have relatively lower barrier heights that would enhance the propensity to fission as r process attempt to traverse this region on a path towards the superheavy elements, ultimately inhibiting or altogether preventing the production of these elements in nature [246]. Modern calculations involving the aforementioned models generally agree with each other on the order of 5 MeV (but diverge more significantly for the most neutron-rich nuclei), but in any case generally demonstrate this region of lower barrier heights, along with the corresponding implications for superheavy element production [177, 240, 247-249]. Nevertheless, these calculations are subject to the same level of uncertainties characteristic of nuclear theory in general; future work that aims to improve on these methods is surely warranted. We will explore in Sect. 3.2 how this region of low fission barrier heights affects superheavy-element formation in modern r-process simulations.

# 2.4.2 Fission Processes

In the most general sense, fission occurs when a nucleus proceeds through a complex configuration space, temporarily passing through one or more regions associated with a relatively high potential energy, until it arrives at one of many possible highly deformed 'scission configurations' with much lower potential energy than it began with. Once a scission configuration is realized by the nucleus, the nucleus is energetically driven to split into two or more fragments. The fission barrier measures the minimum excitation energy (relative to the ground state) that the nucleus must possess in its initial state to undergo this process in the classical sense, i.e., such that the total energy never drops below zero throughout its dynamical trajectory to fission. Of course, the nucleus is clearly a quantum mechanical system, so it is often the case that the nucleus proceeds through the barrier by tunneling on occasion, and the fission barrier is therefore used as a proxy for predicting fission rates in phenomenological approaches.

The different fission processes observed in nature, then, are categorized in reference to the different ways that the initial state of a fissioning nucleus might be prepared. Perhaps the simplest among these is the case of spontaneous fission, which can occur in ground or metastable states of especially heavy nuclei, in which fission proceeds *in situ* by tunneling through the fission barrier [250]. In this case, the rate of spontaneous fission is a constant property of the nucleus (i.e., not determined by extrinsic factors such as temperature, density, or other nuclei) [251–253]. Even though spon-

taneous fission may technically be possible for a large number of unstable heavy nuclei, it is frequently the case that it is negligible when compared with other available decay modes that proceed much more quickly. For nuclei produced during the r process, this is generally the case. However, on longer timescales after the r process has concluded, it is likely to contribute significantly once other decay and/or fission modes have become inaccessible (e.g., after the exhaustion of free neutrons effectively closes off the neutron-induced fission channel, discussed below). While a small number of spontaneous fission rates have been experimentally measured [158], the intersection of these instances with r process nuclei is quite small. Theoretical calculations may be based on barrier penetration arguments [254] or empirical phenomenology [229], some of which broadly capture the dependency of the rate on the fission barrier [230,255].

In contrast with spontaneous fission, there are any number of conceivable ways that a nucleus can be prepared with a wide range of excitation energies. When this occurs, a nucleus's total energy will be brought much closer to the fission barrier, which can dramatically increase the probability of fission. Of particular interest to *r* process applications are the neutron-induced and  $\beta$ -delayed fission processes, both of which may provide a nucleus with such excitation.

In neutron-induced fission, a compound nucleus forms in much the same way that of neutron capture. The total energy of a nucleus immediately after it captures a neutron is equal to the sum of the neutron energy and the one-neutron separation energy ( $S_n$ ) of the product nucleus. In ordinary neutron capture, the compound nucleus will undergo a cascade of electromagnetic decays to the ground state. However, for the heavier nuclei, where the fission barriers are sufficiently low, fission competes with the electromagnetic decays, such that some (possibly significant) fraction of neutron-capture events terminate with fission, rather than with the ground state associated with the compound nucleus. The total neutron-induced fission and neutron-capture rates can be evaluated by considering both channels in statistical Hauser-Feshbach approaches [256].

In Fig. 8, we plot both of the neutron capture and neutroninduced fission cross sections as a function of increasing neutron number for the Np (Z = 93) isotopic chain and for thermalized environments at a temperature broadly representative of the *r* process, T = 1 GK. Recalling the fission barriers plotted in Fig. 7, there is a diffuse region of considerably lower fission barriers that the Z = 93 isotopic chain passes through for isotopes with neutron numbers roughly between N = 165 and N = 175. This trend in fission barrier height is clearly reflected when comparing the relative cross sections for fission vs. neutron capture, where the sharp peak in the fission cross section precisely coincides with the nuclei with the lowest barriers, with neutron-induced fission clearly



Fig. 8 Maxwellian averaged cross sections (MACS) for neutron capture (red) and neutron-induced fission (blue) across the Np (Z = 93) isotopic chain. The cross sections are evaluated at  $T_9 = 1$  GK, a typical temperature that an r process might traverse through

dominating over neutron capture by around three orders of magnitude in the most extreme instances.

Importantly, the total neutron-induced fission rate for each nucleus,  $\lambda_{(n,f)}$ , depends directly on free neutron number density,  $n_n$ , such that  $\lambda_{(n,f)} \propto n_n$ . Correspondingly, in the extremely neutron-rich environments characteristic of the r process, neutron-induced fission can be quite significant, especially during the earlier phase of the r process where the total number of neutrons exceed all other nuclei in the environment. Indeed, network calculations suggest that neutron-induced fission can, for a brief but critical period of time during nucleosynthesis, be the fastest fission process [257].

The third and final fission process typically considered in *r*-process studies is  $\beta$ -delayed fission. In this scenario, a nucleus undergoes an initial  $\beta$  decay which leaves it in any number of excited nuclear states of the final nucleus, ranging from the ground state up to the *Q*-value for the decay, with the remaining energy being carried away by the electron and anti-electron-neutrino that are immediately produced by the decay. As in neutron-induced fission, the excited nucleus formed immediately after  $\beta$  decay has some probability to fission, the extent of which is determined largely by the relative magnitude of the excitation energy and the fission barrier. The total  $\beta$ -delayed fission rate is then taken to be product of the total  $\beta$ -decay rate and the probability to subsequently fission, and the effective  $\beta$  decay rate is the difference of the total rate with the  $\beta$ -delayed fission rate.

An interesting variation on  $\beta$ -delayed fission happens when the most neutron-rich nuclei of the *r* process are considered. As one moves across an isotopic chain towards increasingly neutron-rich nuclei, the neutron separation energy *decreases* while the *Q*-value for  $\beta$  decay *increases*. As discussed in Sect. 2.3.1, this provides ideal conditions for the emission of one or more delayed neutrons. By coupling a probability to fission at each stage of this decay sequence, and provided that the fission barriers are sufficiently low that fission becomes an appreciable possibility, this introduces the prospect for *multi-chance*  $\beta$ -delayed fission, a process which comprises a spectrum of possibilities for the emission of some number of delayed neutrons followed by fission (as opposed to electromagnetic decay to a ground or metastable state). The overall process of  $\beta$  decay is then a complex convolution of electromagnetic decays, neutron emission, and fission. The cumulative effects of the competition between these decay modes can be carefully resolved in a statistical Hauser-Feshbach framework [177,248] in much the same way that the competition between different exit channels are treated to resolve the probability of neutron-induced fission relative to neutron capture.

While neutron-induced fission can be the fastest fission process during the first second(s) of an *r* process, when free neutrons are still extremely abundant,  $\beta$ -delayed fission and multi-chance  $\beta$ -delayed fission rates, which are constant and necessarily *do not* depend on neutron abundance, can become the primary fission process once the neutron abundance drops to sufficiently low levels, thereby eliminating any significant possibility for neutron-induced fission to occur. Because this generally occurs when nuclei are decaying towards longerlived and less neutron-rich nuclei, accurate predictions for  $\beta$ -delayed fission rates across the nuclear chart are especially important for understanding the formation of heavy and superheavy elements in the aftermath of the *r* process [232,247,248,257–260].

# 3 Astrophysical alchemy

### 3.1 The basic *r* process

As we alluded to in Sect. 1.2, the natural abundance of elements heavier than iron are expected to be mostly produced by neutron capture nucleosynthesis, with the heaviest among these (those heavier than lead) in particular being produced entirely by a subset of neutron-capture nucleosynthesis known as the *rapid neutron capture process*, or the *r* process [261]. Up until now, we have made many references to the *r* process while describing the properties of the heaviest nuclei that are created—even if momentarily—by this nucleosynthetic mechanism. Now, equipped with knowledge of the relevant nuclear physics in the heavy-element region, we may turn to a comprehensive description of the *r* process itself.

Schematically, the r process proceeds as follows: given a system with a small abundance of 'seed' nuclei but subjected to an extraordinary flux of free neutrons, the neutrons will radiatively capture onto the seed nuclei, transmuting them along isotopic chains to nuclei with heavier mass numbers but the same atomic number. In this way, the nuclei may be pictured as moving horizontally on the chart of nucleides

(when plotted in N versus Z). As neutron number increases for a given isotopic chain, the  $\beta$ -decay rates tend to become much faster [262]. At the same time, the neutron separation energies tend to decrease as nuclei become more neutronrich, such that the rate of neutron capture will become slower overall, with the inverse process, photodissociation of neutrons from nuclei, further reducing the overall capacity of nuclei to net-capture neutrons. The combined effect of the increasing  $\beta$ -decay rate and decreasing neutron-capture rate is that the seed nuclei will continue to capture neutrons (forming heavier nuclei) until  $\beta$  decay rates become fast enough to compete with neutron capture, which will then increment the nuclei to the next successive element. This process repeats for the next isotopic chain, with neutron capture increasing mass number and  $\beta$  decay transmuting nuclei into heavier elements.

Figure 9 shows a schematic for how the heaviest nuclei are populated during the *r* process in terms of their primary reaction channels: captures, decays, and fission; recall discussion in Sect. 2. The *r*-process 'path' shown by the lines with arrows approximately denotes a neutron-rich pathway near the neutron dripline traversed in creation of the heaviest elements. Along the red line, there are more captures per decay, as indicated by its shallow slope. The blue line indicates that the process of moving up a closed neutron shell—such as that predicted at N = 184—is moderated by decays. Once the predicted shell closure is surmounted, large uncertainties make the definition of the *r*-process path (and the dominant channel) difficult to determine.

The *r*-process path denoted in Fig. 9 is purely schematic. It is more rigorously defined as the set of the most abundant nuclei along each isotopic chain at a given time in the *r* process. In the early stages of the *r* process at high temperatures and densities, the path can be defined by an equilibrium between  $(n,\gamma)$  and  $(\gamma,n)$  along any given isotopic chain. Once the bulk of these reactions are no longer in equilibrium, a point known as  $(n,\gamma)$  freezeout, the path may be defined by a subset of nuclei for which the  $\beta$ -decay rates have become competitive with the neutron-capture rates [263].

After this trade-off between neutron-induced reactions and  $\beta$  decay has continued for some time (generally within a second or so), the neutrons will be mostly or entirely exhausted, after which  $\beta$  decay overtakes neutron capture as the dominant transmutation mechanism. Figure 10 shows the abundances of each nucleus at freezeout (panel 'a') and other key times in an *r* process calculation using neutronrich conditions (trajectory from [264] with nuclear physics as in [248]). After freezeout, the nuclei begin their long series of decays, as show in Fig. 10b, eventually terminating at the stable and extremely long-lived nuclei and beginning an isochronic phase of the *r* process (Fig. 10c) [265]. Save for a handful of late-time  $\alpha$  decays, spontaneous fission events, and latent neutron capture that can adjust the final Fig. 9 Schematic description of the r-process pathway and the dominant reaction channels active in the heavy-element region. Black boxes indicate stable nuclei, outlined boxes measured nuclei, and grey-filled a theoretical extent for which nuclei could possibly exist. Note that for these heavy-element regions, the r-process pathway is very far from the extent of measured nuclear data (i.e., far from the black-outlined boxes denoting the extent of the AME2020), indicating that the nuclear data in these regions rely on theory and become very uncertain



abundances [266,267], the abundances in Fig. 10c show the stable and long-lived nuclei created by the r process that, e.g., are now observed in the Solar system and throughout the universe.

Both during the r process itself as well as after freshly synthesized nuclei have decayed to their final, stable/longlived configurations, the closed neutron shells at N = 50; 82; 126; and, possibly, 184 manifest as relatively over-abundant 'peaks' in the abundance pattern. For example, the peaks in the Solar system isotopic pattern in Fig. 2 at  $A \sim 80, 130,$ and 195 are a direct consequence of the closed neutron shells. (The sharper peaks at higher mass numbers in Fig. 2 are also from the same closed neutron shells, but occur from the slow neutron-capture process, which populates those shells at higher charge numbers, and hence, higher mass numbers overall.) These peaks are explained simultaneously by an increase in half-lives along the shell closure and the sudden drop in neutron separation energies that occurs just after the shell closures are crossed [268]. The net effect of which is to strongly impede the nuclear flow across such isotones, leading to the retention of nuclei at a neutron richness considerably less than that found elsewhere throughout the chart of nuclides [269]. Because the  $\beta$ -decay rates for these closedshell nuclei are slower than surrounding counterparts, the closed shells act to restrict the flow of nuclear abundance to heavier nuclei, and nuclei will tend to accumulate around these discrete neutron numbers. Notice in Fig. 10a that nuclei at the closed neutron shell N = 126 indeed show the largest abundances in the calculation. After freezeout-and depending on the extent of latent neutron capture-the nuclei once populated at the closed N = 126 shell maintain their high abundances along the same *isobars* ( $A \sim 195$ ), but the high abundance peak shifts to lower neutron numbers. This shift of the abundance peak can just be begun to be seen in Fig. 10b by the slight shift to lower neutron numbers of the highabundance region at Z = 70. Finally, at late times this highabundance feature (produced pre- and mid-freezeout as an effect of the neutron shell closure at N = 126) now populates  $N \sim 118$ , as can be seen in Fig. 10c.

The proposed closed neutron shell at N = 184 is particularly relevant for the superheavy elements, as it is around the N = 184 and Z = 114 doubly magic region that the Island of Stability is speculated to occur [270]. We discuss next the region beyond N = 126, where the abundances of nuclei during a standard *r* process depend on the complicated interplay of reactions beyond just neutron capture and  $\beta$  decay.

### 3.2 Production of the heaviest elements

As described in the previous section, a basic canonical picture of the *r* process involves neutron capture, its inverse process of photodissociation, and  $\beta$  decay. However, as soon as an *r* process produces the heaviest elements, particularly those well beyond Pb, the situation becomes substantially more complicated, and the effects of a more diverse set of processes—such as  $\alpha$  decay and fission—may significantly contribute to the overall dynamics of the ensuing nucleosynthesis. The competition between inflowing and outflowing material at high charge and mass ultimately determines abundance of heavy elements produced by the *r* process, including, possibly, the superheavies.

Recalling Fig. 9, neutron capture and  $\beta$  decay bring material to the actinide region. Once occupying the actinides, nuclei have a chance to undergo fission through neutroninduced,  $\beta$ -delayed, and/or spontaneous fission channels [248,271]. As described in Sect. 2.4.2, nuclei with proton number larger than  $Z \sim 90$  may be driven to fission by an incoming neutron [272,273]. Similarly, fission can follow the  $\beta$  decay of a nucleus if that decay places it in a sufficiently Fig. 10 Snapshots of nuclei produced in an r process network calculation using astrophysical conditions from the neutron-star merger simulations of [264] and nuclear data from [248] for three key times: (a) before  $(n, \gamma)$  freezeout, (b) decay back to stability, and (c) well after the *r*-process event. Colored boxes show the abundances of the nuclei at each moment in the calculation. Stable nuclei are shown as black squares, and the limit of mass measurements from AME2020 [47] is shown by the black outline. The grey shaded region shows the theoretical extent of bound nuclei that may exist according to the FRDM2012 mass model [68], and the vertical and horizontal bars at N = 126 and Z = 82 denote closed nuclear shells



excited state [247,248,259]. For some theoretical models,  $\beta$ -delayed and neutron-induced fission can ultimately terminate the *r* process and prevent very high-*A* nuclei from being synthesized. This effect is apparent in Fig. 7 by the extremely low fission barrier heights near Z = 100 and just beyond N = 184.

Modern simulations of the *r* process suggest a final fission termination point between  $A \sim 275$  and  $A \sim 300$  [248, 274,275]. The nuclei populated in this region of the chart of nuclides are certainly superheavy in the sense that they have an extreme neutron excess. Whether superheavy *elements* are created this far from stability early on in the *r* process as well as their possible survival to more stable species remains an open question. These questions are related to the maximum termination point of the *r* process, which is also uncertain. Sufficiently high fission barriers for these extremely neutron-rich species would raise the terminus of the *r* process to even higher mass numbers [276].

Once the neutron-flux drops and the  $\beta$ -decay timescale dominates over neutron-capture, the newly synthesized neutron-rich nuclei can decay to even heavier elements, whereby they have another chance to populate the superheavies. Figure 11 shows paths along which some neutron-rich nuclei that could be made in an r process may  $\beta$  decay. The most neutron-rich nuclei are more likely to emit at least one neutron after  $\beta$  decay ( $\beta$ -delayed neutron-emission), which further decreases the mass of the nuclei that are ultimately formed at the end of those  $\beta$ -decay chains. However, these nuclei are not completely free to  $\beta$ -decay undisturbed; during these  $\beta$ -decays, fission processes can continue to evacuate material from the heavy-element region. Sufficiently low fission barrier heights in this region can cause nuclei to prefer fission over  $\beta$  decay and therefore throttle production of the actinides and superheavies.

The green and blue colors in Fig. 11a show the probability that a nucleus will survive fission and  $\beta$  decay in the absence of neutron-induced fission. These probabilities were calculated by taking the ratio of the  $\beta$ -decay rate to the sum of the  $\beta$ -decay,  $\beta$ -delayed, and spontaneous fission rates (from the FRDM2012 mass model [68,69] and FRLDM fission barrier heights [190]) on a per-nucleus basis. By taking the product of the probabilities along a particular  $\beta$ -decay path (e.g., one of the black dotted paths), we can obtain an upper limit for how likely it is that a particular nucleus at freezeout will transmute into a superheavy species. To create, e.g, <sup>290</sup>Ds (Z = 110), a progenitor <sup>304</sup>Cm (Z = 96) nucleus would have to traverse through several regions where the probability to fission exceeds the probability to  $\beta$  decay. In total, the cumulative probability that <sup>304</sup>Cm and the daughter nuclei that are created by subsequent  $\beta$  decay will survive each opportunity to fission and create <sup>290</sup>Ds is found to be about 0.1% in the absence of neutron-induced fission.

When the neutron-induced fission channel is included (i.e., by adding an additional term to the rate ratio), even at low temperatures and neutron fluxes, neutron-induced fission at late times when the nuclei are closer to stability can thwart superheavy-element production, as shown in Fig. 11b. In the case of <sup>290</sup>Ds, even a low neutron flux decreases the total probability of production by more than an order of magnitude. On the lower-mass side, there is a small window with lower probabilities to fission where nuclei can decay into the superheavy series. For example, in the absence of neutroninduced fission <sup>294</sup>Pu (Z = 94) has about a 0.8% chance to survive every fission event along its most-probable decay chain and create  ${}^{283}$ Hs (Z = 108). (Neutron-induced fission changes this endpoint nucleus to <sup>283</sup>Db (Z = 105) with a combined survival probability of 0.04%.) In the next section, we will explore how these predictions vary for different assumptions of theoretical nuclear physics properties.

### 3.3 Sensitivity to nuclear physics

In the extremely neutron-rich regions of the chart of nuclides, all properties of nuclei entering into r process simulations depend on theory calculations, and predictions by theory may vary. For example, the strength of the closed neutron shells affects how long nuclei remain at that nucleus, eventually determining how much mass occupies the closed shells. Neutron shells that are too strong effectively stockpile abundance at the closed shells, which may prevent material from reaching the actinide region and have important consequences for superheavy elements production [277]. In particular, the N = 126 is the highest known spherical neutron shell closure. Though theories predict the next spherical neutron shell closure at N = 184, its existence has not yet been confirmed. In modern, dynamic simulations, neutron-rich r processes that proceed beyond the N = 126 shell closure are typically terminated around N = 184 by fission processes, as discussed in Sects. 2.4.2 and 3.2. The strength of this closed shell plays an additional role in the production of heavy and superheavy nuclei moderating late-time neutrons. Recent microscopic fission models [278] show that material accumulated around closed shells like N = 184—resistant to neutron capture-can allow more late-time free neutrons, which may in turn induce fission on the heavy nuclei decaying to stability, for example as is the case in Fig. 11b. On the other hand, if the N = 184 shell closure does not exist, or is weakened as a function of neutron excess, it is possible that the r process terminates at higher mass numbers, providing an easier pathway for the population of superheavy nuclei. Such considerations are sensitive to the behavior of nuclear reactions at large neutron excess [279].

Similarly,  $\beta$  decay determines how quickly material traverses between (and beyond) the closed neutron shells. This is particularly important for the N = 126 closed shell as it

**Fig. 11** Most likely  $\beta$ -decay paths (dashed) of some neutron-rich nuclei that can populate the superheavy elements as they traverse through regions where there is a probability to fission (colors). calculated using decay and reaction data based on the FRDM2012 mass model [68,69] and FRLDM fission barrier heights [190]. Only  $\beta$ -delayed fission and spontaneous fission are included in panel (a), and panel (b) additionally includes the neutron-induced fission channel. The black-outlined region shows the extent of current nuclear mass measurements from the AME2020 compilation [47], and the grey boxes show a theoretical extent for what nuclei could possibly exist. Superheavy elements that have been observed in laboratory settings are marked with red, and the black circle indicates the region of the theoretical superheavy 'Island of Stability'



acts as a gatekeeper to the production of the heaviest elements [129]. Decay rates that include First-Forbidden transitions for nuclei above the N = 126 shell closure increase the  $\beta$ -decay rates by over an order of magnitude on average compared to model predictions that do not fully include these types of transitions (e.g., [187] versus [186]). As a consequence, heavy nuclei spend very little time in the N > 126 region before reaching the fission region. In the end, overall less material populates the actinide region by the time  $\beta$  freezeout occurs, resulting in a decreased likelihood that the superheavy elements will be robustly populated. Other studies of  $\beta$ -decay involve experimentally characterizing  $\beta$ -delayed neutron emission for neutron-rich nuclei [172, 280]. Not only can late-time neutron emission increase the probability of heavy nuclei to fission, but understanding the competition the between  $\beta$ -delayed neutron-emission and  $\beta$ -delayed fission channels will also inform how much material is mapped to lower mass numbers in the r process due to  $\beta$ -delayed fission.

If the theoretical (and experimental) mass and  $\beta$ -decay predictions are generous enough to abundantly populate the actinide region during the r process, the heavy nuclei will then have to contend with fission, another source of uncertainty in nuclear theory. As shown in Fig. 7, there are significant regions with low barriers to fission, which is intrinsically related to the fission rate. Such low barrier heights cause fission to be the dominant transmutation channel, decreasing the probability that a heavy nucleus will survive as it undergoes  $\beta$  decay though the low fission barrier region [257,258]. Low fission barrier heights beyond N = 184 inhibit the production of superheavy elements, particularly as nuclei pass through a region where the probability to undergo  $\beta$ -delayed fission is nearly 100% [248]. Fission barrier heights-and therefore the probability to undergo fission-differ between theory predictions. Theories that predict higher fission barriers and a weaker (or no) N = 184 shell closure have an increased probability of populating heavier masses that may decay to superheavy elements, provided that the barrier heights are sufficiently high that  $\beta$ -delayed fission is also suppressed.

The existence of deformed shell closures in the heavy mass region is supported by experiment [281-284] and can be described by theoretical treatments [285–288]. However, there remains the open problem of whether or not these shell features persist for the most neutron-rich nuclei. The emergence of an alternative shell closure in this region of superheavy nuclei would influence the population of actinides and superheavies. For example, theoretical models indicate a deformed neutron shell closure at N = 162 [289–291]. A deformed or spherical shell closure below N = 184 would hold material up at lower mass number, likely leading to a relatively larger population of the lightest actinides. Conversely, the absence or weakening of the proposed N = 184 closure paired with another higher closure could lead to a larger production of the heaviest actinides or superheavy elements, assuming fission does not substantially interfere during the decay back to stability.

Figure 12 shows how differing mass model and fission barrier height combinations can produce different elemental abundances in an r-process simulation. To explore the current variation in model predictions, HFB14 barriers were used in combination with UNEDF0 and HFB27 masses, FRLDM barriers were used for FRDM2012 and WS4 masses and KTUY barriers were used for DZ masses. At approximately seven hours after an r-process event, a relatively robust pattern emerges for elements below  $Z \sim 98$ , whereas above Cf, the predictions vary substantially. The heaviest elements are produced with the DZ/KTUY dataset, resulting in a termination around  $Z \sim 108$ . The HFB model produces the highest yield of superheavies while the masses with FRLDM barriers represents a more pessimistic case. According to their primarily  $\beta$ -decay population mechanism, the superheavies that would be synthesized by the r process would naturally be on the neutron-rich side of the chart of nuclides and hence likely to be more neutron-rich than what has currently been created in the laboratory.

The select models used here suggest that thorium (Z = 90), uranium (Z = 92), and plutonium (Z = 94) are among the most populated actinide species around 7.5 h after an *r*process event. Subsequent  $\alpha$ -decay from heavier actinides can continue to to contribute to their production on much longer timescales than that of the neutron capture phase of the *r* process. Above californium (Z = 98) the models begin to substantially diverge in their production of the heaviest elements. The KTUY fission barrier model, with its high fission barriers, consistently affords the ability to produce the nuclei with highest proton number, even with variation in the assumed masses (not shown). It is also found that HFB models consistently produce the highest population of superheavies; in the case of Fig. 12, the bulk of the population resides in rutherfordium (Z = 104). The diversity of species pop-



Fig. 12 Total elemental abundances at about seven hours in an *r*-process calculation using different nuclear mass models and fission barrier heights. For the UNEDF0 and HFB27 models, barrier heights from HFB14 were used. Both WS4 and FRDM2012 use FRLDM fission barrier heights [190], and DZ uses KTUY barriers [292]

ulated in Fig. 12 will result in a significant variation in the final decay pathways of the heaviest elements, which in turn influences the potential for observations that occur on longer timescales.

Revisiting the values in Fig. 11 with a more optimistic choice like HFB27, the cumulative probability that  $^{304}$ Cm survives fission to populate  $^{290}$ Ds is about 7.6% without neutron-induced fission, and 1.8% with it active. For a slightly lower-Z superheavy, say  $^{283}$ Hs, the decay path from 299Pu goes between regions of low barrier heights, leading to a cumulative survival probability of 63%. Masses and fission barrier heights thus have a significant effect on the superheavy elements that can be produced by the *r* process.

It is important to recognize several points here regarding the simulations shown in Fig. 12; even in optimistic scenarios (e.g. DZ/KTUY) with significant superheavy elements created, they are likely to be found in trace amounts relative to the abundances of lighter nuclei which can be populated in many more, less extreme, astrophysical conditions. Second, simulations presented here do not fully estimate all the nuclear uncertainties involved in the production of the heaviest nuclei. Additional uncertainties, particularly with  $\beta$ half-lives will serve to increase the variations observed in Fig. 12.

Given the orders of magnitude variation found in the production of superheavy elements with current modeling, extensive work involving measurements and theoretical calculations are required to resolve this situation. Continued efforts to understand the fission of heavy neutron-rich nuclei will clarify the likelihood of heavy nuclei to survive their long  $\beta$ -decay chains and eventually populate the superheavy elements [98,293]. Observational implications of fission will be discussed in Sect. 4.

#### 3.4 Sensitivity to astrophysics

Not only is the production of superheavy elements sensitive to the as-of-yet unknown nuclear physics of neutron-rich nuclei, but it is also sensitive to the astrophysical conditions responsible for an r-process event. Temperature, entropy, density, and neutron-richness shape the initial elemental composition—which nuclei are present when the r process begins-as well as the reaction rates between nuclei during the r process, in part determining how far in mass number the r process progresses. For example, at the same temperature and density, astrophysical conditions with a higher neutronrichness (more free neutrons available for capture) will generally produce a stronger r-process, and thus a higher probability of producing the heaviest elements. The dependence of isotopic production on r-process dynamics is not unique to the discussion of superheavy elements. For example, the formation of the rare-earth nuclei has been shown to depend on the conditions of r process freezeout [142,249,275,294– 296], and the production of the heaviest elements has also been thoroughly explored in previous work (e.g., [297–300]).

Figure 13 highlights an example of the dependence of heavy-element production on two astrophysical parameters in a standard r process: specific entropy (s) and initial composition  $(Y_{e})$ . The trajectories used for the construction of Fig. 13 derive from the parameterization used in [301], where we have fixed the timescale parameter  $\tau = 10$  ms. Generally, lower  $Y_e$ —and thus more neutron-rich conditions yield a higher actinide abundance which is indicated by bright yellow. Similarly, a higher entropy generally enables even moderately low- $Y_e$  conditions to produce significant actinide material since high-entropy conditions allow more photodissociation of neutrons from nuclei. Noting the trends in Fig. 13, the production of the heaviest elements is clearly not straightforwardly quantifiable as a simple function of astrophysical parameters. In any case, the greatest chance of observing the superheavy elements would likely result from an astrophysical environment in which the abundance of the heavy elements is maximized.

Currently, the conditions that favor heavy and superheavy element production are low-entropy, low- $Y_e$  astrophysical sites, generally agreeing with early studies of superheavy element production in r processes that use parameterized calculations [302–305]. Modern simulations of binary neutron star mergers robustly predict low-entropy, low- $Y_e$  conditions [157,306], which could prove suitable for superheavy-element production. Neutron star mergers contain several interesting sites possible for r-process nucleosynthesis including a post-merger accretion disk [307,308] and tidally stripped ejecta [309]. Complex simulations with Monte-Carlo radiation transport of the accretion disk [310,311] currently do not produce significant quantities of the heaviest elements, but this conclusion depends strongly on uncertain-



Fig. 13 Actinide production as a function of entropy (vertical axis) and electron fraction (horizontal axis) for parameterized astrophysical conditions with fixed expansion timescale  $\tau = 10$  ms

ties in neutrino physics which controls the morphology of the disk [312–315]. Tidal ejecta may be a more favorable location for the production of the heaviest elements owing to generally lower initial electron fractions and less time for neutrinos to interact with the material [316–320]. Complete simulations from the inspiral phase until creation of the postmerger disk will be very valuable in assessing the capacity of heaviest element synthesis in neutron star mergers.

Other compact object mergers of interest include blackhole neutron-star (BHNS) mergers which also have the potential to produce the heaviest elements [321,322]. The study of BHNS binaries offers for exploration a wide range of physical processes beyond nucleosynthesis, including the neutron star equation of state, stellar evolution, high-energy astrophysics, and the expansion of the universe [323]. However, blackhole neutron-star mergers may be unlikely multi-messenger sources due to the requirement of high-spin for an electromagnetic signal which is further compounded by limitations of current observing technologies [324].

Finally, it remains possible for magnetorotational supernovae or collapsars to reach suitable conditions for the formation of the heaviest elements [325–330]. Further investigation is warranted on this front, particularly with the starting configurations of the disk which strongly influences the resultant nucleosynthesis.

### 4 Observation of the heaviest elements

We have discussed the properties of the heaviest nuclei from a nuclear perspective and how those properties play into the potential astrophysical production of these elements. If superheavy elements are made in the universe, where and how can we observe them, if at all? The definition of 'observation' in this context extends from direct measurements through, e.g., atomic mass spectrometry and stellar spectroscopy, to indirect ones through, e.g., heavy-element decay products and lightcurves following explosive astrophysical events. Here we review a brief history of translead observations both in the Solar system and outside of it and discuss potential observations regarding the heaviest elements that may be formed in the r process.

# 4.1 Actinides in the Solar system

The existence of heavy elements on Earth and in meteorites gives some indication of the astrophysical events that produced those elements before Solar system formation. Studies that seek to explain the last enrichment event by the r process before the Solar system formed frequently employ not only the heavy elements, but also their short-lived radioactive decay products [22,331,332]. Understanding the production of heavy elements and their decay products can constrain galactic chemical evolution studies by elucidating which rprocess sites dominate at which times in galactic history [333–336]. In any case, the measurements of translead nuclei created before Solar system formation is constrained by the half-lives of those elements. Recall from Fig. 4 that all known translead nuclei are unstable, and the half-lives of superheavy elements generally become shorter with increasing atomic number. Even if superheavy elements were present at Solar system formation, they likely would have decayed to less than trace abundances over the 4.6-Gyr age of the Solar system.

Starting in the early 1960s, fossil tracks were found in naturally occurring mica, believed to be made from the fragment from the spontaneous fission of <sup>238</sup>U [337]. These observations followed a study on artificially irradiated mica that discovered uranium fission fragments can leave such a record [338]. Extending this logic, it was believed that fossil tracks from cosmic rays could be found in cosmically irradiated meteorites, and such tracks were identified for medium nuclei and heavy nuclei, including <sup>244</sup>Pu, within the decade [339–342]. Extrapolating further still, experimental undertaking were designed in the specific search for superheavy nuclei in meteorites [343,344]. Results from these experiments claim detections from superheavy nuclei as well as lighter, transuranic species that could possibly be decay products from the same long-lived superheavies [345–348].

Inferring the existence of short-lived mother nuclei by measuring the abundances of their longer-lived daughter nuclei has been applied to other actinides elements as well. For example, after a series of  $\beta$  and  $\alpha$  decays, <sup>247</sup>Cm ( $T_{1/2} = 15.6$  Myr) eventually transmutes into the much longer-lived <sup>235</sup>U ( $T_{1/2} = 708$  Myr) [349]. The ratios of long-lived actinide species like <sup>235</sup>U, <sup>238</sup>U ( $T_{1/2} = 4.47$  Gyr), and <sup>232</sup>Th ( $T_{1/2} = 14$  Gyr) are often used to calculate the time between the *r*-process event that produced them and the time they are observed (i.e., present day) through a method known

as 'cosmochronometry' [277, 350–356]. In the Solar system, ages calculated from the ratio of <sup>235</sup>U to <sup>238</sup>U have shown some disagreement from those calculated from other ratios, e.g.,  $^{232}$ Th to  $^{238}$ U. Since all actinides are necessarily rprocess-only nuclei, they must all have been made in the same event(s), and variations between the ages inferred from the ratio point to an inconsistency in understanding their production rather than variations in the age of the material itself. To solve this inconsistency, it has been suggested that the decay of <sup>247</sup>Cm, which would have been present in the early Solar system, causes a residual enhancement to <sup>235</sup>U [357], thus explaining the different in ages calculated with different actinide ratios. Indeed, <sup>247</sup>Cm found in meteorites is consistent with a single *r*-process event that is responsible for the bulk of actinide material currently found in the Solar system [358]. A similar conclusion is drawn from comparing the abundances of actinides to lighter elements, i.e., through the  $^{129}$ I/ $^{247}$ Cm ratio [359]. Further observational evidence of a consistency in the <sup>129</sup>I/<sup>247</sup>Cm ratio would strongly suggest that both lighter r-process nuclei and the heaviest r-process nuclei are all created in a single event. This ratio is also able to estimate that the time between the last r-process event that enriched the pre-Solar gas and condensation of that gas into solids was about 100-200 Myr [359]. Observing r-processonly nuclei like the actinides in the Solar system thus provides powerful ways of understanding their astrophysical production.

### 4.2 Actinides in stars

As mentioned in Sect. 1, atomic absorption features in stellar spectra are correlated with elements present in the star's photosphere. Through the identification and measurement of these absorption features, the elemental composition may be characterized and quantified in stars. For example, Fig. 14 shows absorption features identified in a stellar spectrum over two narrow wavelength regions. The continuum of light is normalized to unity, and significant deviations from unity correspond to atomic transitions of elements present in the stellar photosphere. Of measured translead nuclei, only three actinide nuclei—and no superheavies—have half-lives sufficiently long for the species to be observable today in starlight: <sup>232</sup>Th, <sup>235</sup>U, and <sup>238</sup>U. The most prominent atomic transitions of Th and U in optical wavelengths are shown in Fig. 14.

It is important to note that observations through stellar spectroscopy are in most cases naturally limited to deriving elemental—not isotopic—abundances. Unless the hyperfine structure of a nucleus alters the absorption feature within measurable limits (e.g., the detector's resolving power), the shape and central wavelengths of atomic absorption features are degenerate with isotopic mass. Only in rare cases (or extreme conditions) can isotopic abundances be inferred from stellar spectra [360–362]. In the case of the actinides, it



Fig. 14 Observed stellar spectrum (points) in wavelengths centered on the absorption features of Th (left) and U (right) compared to models (colours) used to derive the abundance of the element in the star. Dotted

is safe to assume that the only isotope of Th present in stars is  $^{232}$ Th, since the half-life of the next longest-lived Th nucleus is less than 10,000 years and would have decayed away possibly even before the star was born. Similarly, for stars sufficiently old,  $^{238}$ U dominates over the faster-decaying  $^{235}$ U, and the abundance of U derived from stars can be almost entirely attributed to  $^{238}$ U. As mentioned in the previous section, this assumption does not hold for young stars like the Sun. Beyond  $^{238}$ U, no heavier element has been identified in stellar spectra, and there are currently only five stars for which even the abundance of U has been derived [363–367].

The identification of actinides in stellar spectra (primarily through Th) ranges over cosmic time and is not limited to the Sun or our Solar system. Thorium has also been identified in stars similar to the Sun and could play a role in planet formation and habitability around Sun-like stars [368,369]. In these 'Solar twins,' the abundance of Th roughly agrees with the Sun. Since the actinides are necessarily produced by r process conditions, the consistency of finding Th across several stars could be considered evidence that either (1) one r process site dominates Th production, or (2) the r process behaves universally.

The Sun and stars similar to it are young by cosmic standards. The gas that made the Sun and its planets is the result of the preceding nine billion years of chemical evolution. The universe started with H, He, trace amounts of Li, and negligible amounts of anything heavier. The most massive stars—such as the first generation of stars in the universe was thought to be—continue subsequent stages of fusion in their cores up to iron. Over time, the nearly pure H-He com-



lines show model spectra with no Th and U present. Absorption features of notable elements and molecules are also labelled

position of the universe became enriched with Fe and other elements ejected by stars as they evolved. The oldest stars, therefore, are reasonably assumed to be those with the lowest amount of Fe (low 'metallicity'), since they were made at a time when the universe was still chemically primitive.

Not only can actinides be measured in the atmosphere of both our Sun and stars similar to it, but Th (and sometimes U) can also be found in stars much more chemically primitive than the Sun. These 'metal-poor' stars were made from gas that had less than 1% of elements with Z >= 3than the gas from which the Sun was made. Given that the universe evolved from a metal-free state to its current metal content, the low metallicity of these stars indicates that they are much older than the Sun, possibly even belonging to the second generation of stars ever made in the Galaxy. Galactic chemical evolution modeling supports this basic assumption, though the correlation of metallicity with age becomes less straightforward at early times (e.g., [377]).

As can be seen by Fig. 2, elements made by the *r* process are a small fraction of the total composition of the Solar system. In metal-poor stars, the abundances of heavy elements  $(Z \ge 26)$  are reduced even further by a factor of ten or more in comparison. However, even though their absolute elemental abundances are low, heavy elements can still be identified in metal-poor stars [378]. Figure 15 shows the abundance of Th relative to Fe (scaled to the Sun) in stars inside and outside the Galaxy spanning a range of metallicities ([Fe/H]), with the most metal-poor (lowest [Fe/H]) likely being the oldest stars. Stars with [Fe/H] < -2.0 have less than 1% of the iron that the Sun has and are called 'very metal-poor Fig. 15 Thorium abundances ([Th/Fe]) for stars across a variety of metallicities ([Fe/H]) and stellar populations: very metal-poor (VMP) Galactic halo stars ([Fe/H] < -2.0) from the JINAbase compilation and references therein [370], extra-Galactic systems [371,372], the M5 globular cluster [373], Milky Way thin-disk [374], and Galactic solar twins [368,375]. The five metal-poor stars that have a derived abundance of uranium are from [363,365-367,376]. Zero on both axes defines the Solar system value



(VMP).' The '[X/Y]' notation indicates the logarithm of the number abundance ratio of element X per Y, then scaled to the Solar ratio. For example, stars with [Th/Fe] = 1.0 have ten times the number of thorium atoms per iron atom than the Solar system. The (currently only) five stars in which U—in addition to Th—is detected [363,365–367,376] are indicated in Fig. 15 along with two cases in which Th has been identified in stars outside of the Milky Way (i.e., in the dwarf spheroidal Galaxy, Ursa Minor [371], and in the ultra-faint dwarf galaxy, Reticulum II [372]). The presence of the *r* process elements, including Th, in metal-poor stars is evidence that the *r* process has been active even since early times, both in this galaxy and in others.

The range spanned by [Th/Fe] in Fig. 15 indicates that either these elements are not produced in the same *r*-process site, or not always with the same ratio every time. If they were, the Th/Fe ratio would be constant over time (and over metallicities). Instead, the stochasticity of thorium-especially the high abundances at low metallicities—is evidence that rare, prolific *r*-process sites were active at early times in the Galaxy. The convergence of [Th/Fe] towards the Solar value ([Th/Fe] = 0) by Solar metallicity ([Th/Fe] = 0) could be explained by the actinide-producing r-process site becoming more frequent and less prolific (i.e., a constant production over time), or simply that the actinide abundances 'average out' due to, e.g., gas mixing as the Galaxy ages. In any case, sites that produce an abundance of actinides could possibly have produced non-trivial amounts of the superheavy elements as well. However, due to the very old ages of stars showing the highest actinide abundances (> 10 Gyr), any superheavy elements that were produced would have all but decayed by the time of their modern observation. Although these stars in and of themselves offer little hope of observing the superheavy elements naturally through their starlight,

their existence raises questions about the r process site: are prolific producers of the actinide elements still active in the Galaxy today? If so, then is there a change of catching superheavy-element production in the act?

Many other r-process elements in stars can be measured through stellar spectroscopy. As long as a strong atomic transition occurs within visible wavelengths, it is possible to identify the corresponding absorption feature with ground-based telescopes. For more energetic transitions with wavelengths in the ultraviolet (UV) range, space telescopes with UV capabilities must be used. Fortunately, about half ( $\sim 30$ ) of the rprocess elements have atomic transitions in the visible range which are strong enough to allow ground-based telescopes to obtain nearly complete elemental abundance patterns of stars, similar to Fig. 2. Another dozen or so r-process elements have strong transitions mainly in the UV regime, requiring space-based telescopes for even more complete abundance patterns. Recently, 42 r-process elements were measured in the spectrum of a metal-poor star by combining space and ground-based observational facilities, representing the most complete abundance pattern for a star outside the Solar system [39]. Figure 16 shows three metal-poor stars in which their elemental abundances appear in an r-process pattern, similar to the r-process fraction derived for the Solar system. The Solar *r*-process pattern, scaled down to roughly the level of abundances in the other stars, is shown for comparison. Note again here that their abundance patterns are necessarily elemental since most atomic absorption features are degenerate to the isotopic number of the element. In addition, there are no measured elements with Z = 43 (Tc), Z = 61 (Pm), and 82 < Z < 90 (everything between Pb and Th) since all known isotopes of these elements are radioactive over stellar lifetimes. Elements with  $47 \lesssim Z < 56$ , which includes most of the second r-process peak, and around Z = 80 do not have

Fig. 16 Top: elemental abundance patterns of three metal-poor stars with varying degrees of actinide enhancement (DES J0355–5404 [372], CS 22892-052 [379], and 2MASS J0954+5246 [367]) compared to the Solar *r*-process component scaled by a constant. Bottom: differences between the stellar abundances and the Solar *r*-process component by element, normalized to the average difference among the lanthanide elements



strong atomic transitions within the visible range, making their detection in stellar spectra unfeasible with ground-based telescopes. Some elements ( $46 \leq Z \leq 52$ ) can be obtained with UV-capable facilities (such as the Hubble Space Telescope), which has been accomplished for a handful of metalpoor stars [363,376,380–383].

Despite the tendency of elemental *r*-process abundances observed in stars to show a considerable similaritiesappearing to suggest a sort of universality to their production mechanism-they show significant deviations in their actinide abundance compared to the rest of their r-process elements. One such deviation is the small subset of stars that demonstrates a strong enhancement in their actinide abundance. These stars have been termed actinide-boost stars due to their enhanced levels of Th relative to the lanthanide elements (e.g., Eu), which otherwise do display remarkable universality [260, 300, 384, 385]. Of the VMP stars only a couple dozen have thorium abundances derived, and about one-third of those display the actinide-boost signature [386]. Abundance variations like the actinide boost challenge the notion of 'r-process universality,' and some studies show that star-to-star actinide variations may be attributed to different astrophysical conditions within a single astrophysical r-process site [387]. One such actinide-boost star-2MASS J0954+5246, the most enhanced yet known [367] is shown in Fig. 16. Compare its Th abundance to a star considered 'actinide normal' (approximately agreeing with the Solar value after accounting for its older age), CS 22892-052 [379], and a star that is potentially actinide *deficient* (much lower than Solar), DES J0335–5404 [372], belonging to the extra-Galactic dwarf galaxy Reticiulum II.

Besides the important implications for understanding the production of actinides throughout the universe, this overproduction of actinide phenomenon may, in principle, be used to explore the possibility of superheavy elements, as those astrophysical conditions producing the most actinide material could suggest the possibility that superheavy progenitors along decay series may be maximally produced as well. Alternatively, it may be that the production of material of superheavy elements could *inhibit* the production of actinides. If nuclei along superheavy decay series exhibit strong spontaneous fission branchings, material that would otherwise be destined for long-lived actinides would be effectively rerouted into much lighter elements. In this scenario, then, the overproduction of the long-lived actinides may be correlated with the production of *fewer* superheavy elements. In either case, advances in nuclear theory and precision measurements will both be crucial for resolving the decay modes and branching ratios that are critical to fully understand this relationship.

If superheavy elements were ever measured in stars, they would have to have half-lives comparably long to the age of the star in order to be detected through stellar spectroscopy, as they would otherwise decay on observational timescales. Elements occupying the Island of Stability provide the most optimistic detection prospects among the superheavies, as they are projected to be the longest lived. Unfortunately, current estimates of these half-lives (seconds to years) [230] are still far too short to support their observation over the relevant astrophysical timescales. At the present, the only remaining feasible possibility is to attempt to catch element formation 'in the act.' This would involve unearthing unique features in atomic or nuclear spectra for a nearby event [388–390]. For example, a sufficiently strong  $\gamma$ -ray signal as part of a larger set of multi-messenger observations (e.g., gravitational waves), could distinguish between light and heavy r-process components [391]. A complementary approach may also be possible via indirect observation that provides a distinct signature of the influence of long-lived decay products of the heaviest elements [266, 267, 392-395].

### 4.3 Fission fragments

Calculations that produce superheavy elements in an r process typically find that the longest timescales for the populated nuclei are on the order of days to years [257, 396]. As discussed above and in Sect. 2, these short half-lives and low fission barriers in the transactinide region reduces the chances of directly detecting the superheavy elements and/or their lower-charge progenitor nuclei. However, fission could be harnessed as a way to infer the existence or production of the superheavy elements. The fission products of heavy nuclei populate lower mass and charge numbers, and-after finding their own way back to stability via  $\beta$  decay—eventually lead to an enhanced production of lighter nuclei (around the second *r*-process peak  $A \sim 130$ ). Since all but two Z < 84 elements have at least one stable isotope, such an overproduction from fission deposition can persist on indefinite (i.e., observable) timescales. Substantial overproduction of key elements in the fission product region could therefore be observed in, e.g., stars and thus would indicate that fission of heavy or superheavy elements must have occurred.

The particular elements that would unequivocally be evidence of fission by (super)heavy nuclei are uncertain. The landscape of fission barrier heights determines where the bulk of heavy nuclei undergo fission, and this region is highly uncertain and unconstrained, as discussed in Sect. 2.4.2 [249, 278]. Similarly, the fragment distribution of the extremely neutron-rich nuclei undergoing fission in the r process is also unknown [225]. Theoretical descriptions of fission fragment deposition vary from producing lower-mass nuclei around  $A \sim 105$  to being responsible for the rare-earth peak at  $A \sim 165$  [275, 397, 398]. In any case, if uncertainties on the fission rates (from the fission barrier heights) and fission fragment distributions can be reduced, key elements observed in metal-poor stars can be associated with and even quantify the extent of overproduction via fission e.g., through network tracing [399].

### 4.4 Beyond uranium

Although the presence of actinide elements are an indication that the r process can occur naturally, their existence alone is insufficient to determine the full elemental extent of r-process production. The most promising avenue towards potentially confirming the production of superheavy elements in nature is through direct observation of r-process events, especially in the light that is emitted by radioactive nuclei produced therein. High-opacity lanthanides and actinides affect the bulk properties of 'kilonova' light (see [400] for a recent review) or by producing an observable feature in their spectra [401]. Following kilonova and gammaray bursts on short timescales after an r-process producing event could reveal fingerprints of extremely radioactive nuclei with short half-lives. For example, it has been found that the radioactive decay of  ${}^{254}$ Cf ( $t_{1/2} \approx 60$  days) can leave a distinguishable feature in the light curve following a nucleosynthetic event [266]. The energy released by the (spontaneous) fission of  ${}^{254}$ Cf was initially thought to be responsible for powering the light curves of Type Ia supernovae [402]. However, as supernovae have fallen out of favor as actinideproducing *r*-process sites,  ${}^{254}$ Cf has resurfaced as theoretically contributing to kilonova light curves following, e.g., the merging of a compact-object binary system [266,392]. Zhu et al. found that the fission of  ${}^{254}$ Cf produces sufficient energy to delay the otherwise power-law decay of kilonova lightcurves at about 60–100 days post-merger.

Figure 17 shows the impact of  $\alpha$  decay and fission of the heavy elements on the heating rate from material produced by the r process. This 'heat' tracks the energy produced by nuclear reactions and decays (see Sect. 2) and, through the opacities of atoms constituting the material, bears directly on the observable lightcurve from such an event. A standard r-process simulation is used with three nuclear physics combinations that optimistically and pessimistically produce superheavy elements, according to Fig. 12: DZ, HFB27, and FRDM2012. As a baseline case, the total energy release as a function of time is taken and any contribution by  $\alpha$  decay and fission from elements with  $Z \ge 89$  is removed, which includes all the actinides and superheavy elements. The total energy release is then recalculated, this time including the contribution from all actinides, but no superheavy elements (e.g., only  $Z \leq 103$ ). Lastly, all elements are allowed to contribute to the energy release.

To visualize the impact from all  $Z \ge 89$  and  $Z \ge 104$ elements, we compare the two latter calculations that have  $Z \ge 89$  contribution to the first calculation that does not include these elements. In Fig. 17, the shaded regions show the effect that simply including actinides (but no superheavy elements) has on the total energy release. The solid line shows the effect when superheavy elements (in addition to the actinides) are included. When any of the  $Z \ge 89$  elements are included, the energy released is increased relative to the case without those elements, as a consequence of the energetic  $\alpha$  decay and fission of those elements now being allowed to add energy (heat) to the *r*-process ejecta. Note that the three mass models qualitatively agree on when the most significant contribution occurs, but disagree in their details of relative impact.

The most interesting comparison is between the solid lines and filled regions in Fig. 17. For the most part, the solid and filled curves are indistinguishable (especially for FRDM2012), meaning that superheavy elements are not contributing significantly more than just the actinides themselves. A revisit of Fig. 12 explains this result; the FRDM2012 mass model most pessimistically produces the superheavy elements, so their low abundances have little to Fig. 17 Enhancement to energy released from the  $\alpha$ decay and fission of very heavy and superheavy elements. Standard r process conditions (cold, very neuron-rich) were run using three nuclear mass models and fission barrier heights: HFB with HFB-14 barrier heights [243] (yellow), DZ [70] with KTUY [292] (green) and FRDM2012 [67-69] with FRLDM [190] (pink). The late-time bump around 130 days that appears in all three cases is attributed to the spontaneous fission of <sup>254</sup>Cf



no impact on the total energy release. On the other hand, HFB27 produces the highest total abundance of superheavy elements at that time, though that abundance is concentrated at Z = 104 (Rf). Notably, the excess energy provided by the production of superheavies is on the order of a factor of two. The DZ model shows a lower total superheavy abundance than HFB27, but a greater extent in charge number, peaking at Z = 108 (Hs). Consequently, HFB27 and DZ do show a deviation between the cases with and without superheavy elements (see around 0.1 and 1 day in Fig. 17), presenting a chance to witness their natural, astrophysical production. These energy-excess features—whether from solely the actinides or the superheavy elements-would reveal themselves in both the bolometric light curves of r-process events and the near-infrared (JHK) bands [267]. Observations of late-time infrared excess in lightcurves could therefore indicate the presence of actinides and superheavy elements [393]. Such observations may be possible with the NIRSpec detector on the recently launched JWST, which has observational capabilities in the near-infrared region [403]. Long-term follow up of future kilonova events can be a route to observationally confirming the extent of heavy-element production by the r process.

Not only would such observations directly confirm the synthesis of actinide and possibly superheavy material by the astrophysical r process, but they also have the potential to reveal unknowns of the r process itself. Recent studies have explored the impact that nuclear physics far from stability has on the production of  $^{254}$ Cf and other short-lived nuclei that can contribute to radioactively powered light

curves [249, 393, 394]. For example, the choice of theoretical basis for calculating unknown nuclear masses and reaction rates determines how much material is lost to fission before the actinides, superheavies, and their  $\beta$ -decay progenitors are populated by the r process. On Fig. 17, the contribution to the energy excess from the spontaneous fission of <sup>254</sup>Cf can be seen in all models at around 130 days. Depending on the reality of nuclear physics far from stability, fission of short-lived superheavies could leave a similar signature on the electromagnetic counterparts to r-process events, albeit on shorter timescales than in the case of <sup>254</sup>Cf, see, e.g., the superheavy-element features in the HFB and DZ models in Fig. 17 at  $t \leq 1$  day. Even if features attributable to actinides only and not superheavies are identified, such non-detections could provide necessary constraints on nuclear properties far from stability.

There is also the possibility of observing actinides (or superheavy elements) in spectra. An absorption feature of  ${}_{38}$ Sr was likely detected [401] in the light following the historic 2017 detection of a merger of two neutron stars [404–406]. Although Sr is a much lighter element than the actinides or superheavies, there nonetheless exists the possibility that absorption features due to the heaviest elements (or their fission fragments) could be directly detectable in similar ways. In lieu of a detailed spectra and light curves at late times, other signature of fission can be found, and therefore signatures of translead and transactinide production. The fission of heavy elements can release high-energy (a few MeV) gamma rays, distinguishable from competing gamma rays released by the  $\beta$ -decay of radioactive nuclei in the same material

[407]. These prompt gamma rays could be observed from Galactic *r* process events by next-generation MeV detectors (e.g., AMEGO, e-ASTROGAM, or LOX [391]).

### 5 Summary and future outlook

In this review we have outlined the synthesis of the heaviest elements in the rapid neutron capture (r) process from the perspective of nuclear physics and astrophysical observations. We have covered the properties of heavy and superheavy nuclei, the reactions and decays that are involved in creating and destroying those elements, the astrophysical conditions which favor their production, and observations of the heaviest elements. Although seemingly disparate on the surface, a unified understanding of theory, experimental physics, and observational astronomy is necessary to answer longstanding questions regarding the production of the heaviest elements in the r process.

Under the most favorable conditions that allow synthesis of the heaviest elements, the r process can undoubtedly create nuclei that possess copious numbers of neutrons and/or protons. None of these nuclei have measured properties, resulting in a reliance on nuclear theory when simulating nucleosynthesis. Current theoretical models exhibit a wide variation in predictions, ranging from no superheavy element creation to modest abundance on the order of actinide production. For superheavy elements to be synthesized in the rprocess, a combination of suitably neutron-rich astrophysical conditions must be paired with suppressed fission likelihoods for a large swath of the heaviest nuclei.

To further make progress regarding the synthesis of the heaviest elements in the *r* process, it will be necessary to compile and incorporate the latest nuclear data into simulations [408]. The propagation of uncertainty in nuclear properties [409,410] as well as sensitivity studies [411–413] are valuable tools for the community as they motivate experimental measurements and provide additional insight into the *r* process [414]. Future measurement campaigns (e.g., those enabled by current generation fragmentation facilities [415–417]) will be valuable in determining the properties of lighter nuclei (which may be fission products of heavier species).

The study of nuclear properties in the actinide region requires alternative techniques from fragmentation. Multinucleon transfer reactions may provide an efficient method to produce and study neutron-rich nuclei in this region [418,419]. Some models of multi-nucleon transfer predict large cross sections to produce the actinides with diminishing cross sections for the transactinides [420]. Production of isotopes not far from what has been measured may provide valuable information for nucleosynthesis studies of long-lived, potentially observable actinides, e.g., the propensity of neutron-rich actinides to undergo  $\beta$ -delayed fission [421]. More generally, the use of heavy collisions (e.g.  $^{136}$ Xe on  $^{198}$ Pt or  $^{238}$ U on  $^{238}$ Cm) can help to elucidate the unknown physics of the heaviest elements, such as their masses, halflives, or fission barriers. Facilities like the recently commissioned 'N = 126 factory' at Argonne National Laboratory offer unique capabilities for the production of these exotic neutron-rich nuclei [422,423].

The study of the production of the heaviest elements in the r process intimately ties in with astrophysical observations, and the next generation of observing campaigns will continue to strengthen this bond. Future multi-messenger observations (e.g.,  $\gamma$ -ray [391] and other space-based missions like LISA [424]) will provide critical new abilities to observe and interpret aspects of the fundamentally multi-physics problem of heavy-element creation. As gravitational wave detection capabilities grow, an increasing demand will be placed on electromagnetic transient identification and followup. Capabilities of next-generation telescopes will be fundamental for kilonova followup and may even be able to catch superheavyelement production in action, provided that the excess in heating rate at 0.1-1 day leaves a sufficiently distinguishable signature on transient light curves. At the same time, recent advances in the theoretical prediction of actinide and superheavy opacities may offer a path forward for resolving superheavy vs. actinide production in electromagnetic observations of kilonova environments [425]. If the Island of Stability is populated in *r*-process sites, their comparatively long half-lives (up to years) may broaden this observational window and allow detections on even longer timescales. A robust study on the detectability of superheavy elements in kilonova light curves would be a worthwhile exploration.

As we move forward with both multi-messenger and kilonova-followup observations, it will be especially important to understand the MeV background from our vantage point in the universe [426], as these high-energy signals may provide an important *in situ* signature of nascent synthesis of the heaviest nuclei [47,389]. However, we need not look only to future astrophysical events that produce these nuclei; recent and continuing observations of the oldest stars can provide pristine snapshots of heavy element production associated with *r*-process events [36,427].

Whether superheavy elements can be made naturally in the cosmos and how we can observe them—if at all—is one of the critical questions driving research in this exciting field of study. Continued work across these domains of physics will ultimately sustain a tightly woven network of research efforts [428]. Taken as a whole, these efforts will help us uncover the mysteries of the heaviest elements in nature.

Acknowledgements M.R.M. gratefully acknowledges the stimulating discussions that ensued at the 4th International Symposium on Superheavy Elements (SHE2019) for inspiring this work. Conversations with Filip Kondev, Hiroyuki Koura, Gabriel Martinez-Pinedo, Witek Nazarewicz, Yuri Oganessian, and Jorgen Randrup were particularly inspiring. Support for this work was provided by NASA through the NASA Hubble Fellowship grant HST-HF2-51481.001 (E.M.H.) awarded by the Space Telescope Science Institute, which is operated by the Association of Universities for Research in Astronomy, Inc., for NASA, under contract NAS5-26555. T.M.S and M.R.M were supported by the US Department of Energy through the Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). LANL is operated by Triad National Security, LLC, for the National Nuclear Security Administration of U.S. Department of Energy (Contract No. 89233218CNA000001). Research presented in this review was supported by the Laboratory Directed Research and Development program of Los Alamos National Laboratory under project number(s) 20200384ER.

**Data Availability Statement** This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: This manuscript has no directly associated data. Reasonable requests for data used to construct the figures may be directed to the corresponding author.]

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

# References

- P.J. Karol, R.C. Barber, B.M. Sherrill, E. Vardaci, T. Yamazaki, Pure and Applied Chemistry 88(1–2), 139 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1515/pac-2015-0502
- P.J. Karol, R.C. Barber, B.M. Sherrill, E. Vardaci, T. Yamazaki, Pure and Applied Chemistry 88(1–2), 155 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1515/pac-2015-0501
- W.D. Myers, W.J. Swiatecki, Nuclear Physics 81(1), 1 (1966). https://doi.org/10.1016/0029-5582(66)90639-0. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0029558266906390
- S.G. Nilsson, C.F. Tsang, A. Sobiczewski, Z. Szymański, S. Wycech, C. Gustafson, I.L. Lamm, P. Möller, B. Nilsson, Nuclear Physics A 131(1), 1 (1969). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9474(69)90809-4. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0375947469908094
- P. Möller, G.A. Leander, J.R. Nix, Zeitschrift fur Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei 323(1), 41 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01294553
- T. Kajino, W. Aoki, A. Balantekin, R. Diehl, M. Famiano, G. Mathews, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 107, 109 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2019.02. 008. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0146641019300201
- P.E.R. F.R.S., The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 21(125), 669 (1911). https:// doi.org/10.1080/14786440508637080
- D.H. Geiger, E. Marsden, The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of. Science 25(148), 604 (1913). https://doi.org/10.1080/14786440408634197

- P.E.R. F.R.S., J.N. M.Sc., The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 26(154), 702 (1913). https://doi.org/10.1080/14786441308635014
- R.A. Alpher, H. Bethe, G. Gamow, Physical Review 73(7), 803 (1948). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.73.803
- K. Lodders, H. Palme, H.P. Gail, Landolt Börnstein 4B, 712 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-88055-4\_34
- K. Lodders, ApJ 591(2), 1220 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1086/ 375492
- E.M. Burbidge, G.R. Burbidge, W.A. Fowler, F. Hoyle, Reviews of Modern Physics 29(4), 547 (1957). https://doi.org/10.1103/ RevModPhys.29.547
- A.G.W. Cameron, PASP 69(408), 201 (1957). https://doi.org/10. 1086/127051
- R.K. Wallace, S.E. Woosley, ApJS 45, 389 (1981). https://doi.org/ 10.1086/190717
- H. Schatz, A. Aprahamian, V. Barnard, L. Bildsten, A. Cumming, M. Ouellette, T. Rauscher, F.K. Thielemann, M. Wiescher, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 3471 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 86.3471. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.86.3471
- C. Fröhlich, G. Martínez-Pinedo, M. Liebendörfer, F.K. Thielemann, E. Bravo, W.R. Hix, K. Langanke, N.T. Zinner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 142502 (2006). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.96.142502. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.96.142502
- B.S. Meyer, Phys. Rev. C 32, 153 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.aa.32.090194.001101
- 19. M. Klaproth, Ann pp. 387-403 (1789)
- D.C. Hoffman, F.O. Lawrence, J.L. Mewherter, F.M. Rourke, Nature 234(5325), 132 (1971). https://doi.org/10.1038/234132a0
- A. Wallner, T. Faestermann, J. Feige, C. Feldstein, K. Knie, G. Korschinek, W. Kutschera, A. Ofan, M. Paul, F. Quinto, G. Rugel, P. Steier, Nature Communications 6, 5956 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6956
- A. Wallner, M.B. Froehlich, M.A.C. Hotchkis, N. Kinoshita, M. Paul, M. Martschini, S. Pavetich, S.G. Tims, N. Kivel, D. Schumann, M. Honda, H. Matsuzaki, T. Yamagata, Science **372**(6543), 742 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3972
- C. Fry, M. Thoennessen, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 99(3), 345 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adt.2012.03.002
- H. Kragh, European Physical Journal H 38(3), 411 (2013). https:// doi.org/10.1140/epjh/e2012-30043-7
- K. Chackett, J. Golden, E. Mercer, F. Paneth, P. Reasbeck, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1(1), 3 (1950). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0016-7037(50)90003-2
- J.C. Dalton, J. Golden, G.R. Martin, E.R. Mercer, S.J. Thomson, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 3(6), 272 (1953). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0016-7037(53)90036-2
- P.K. Kuroda, Nature 187(4731), 36 (1960). https://doi.org/10. 1038/187036a0
- 28. A.E. Haas, Archiv für systematische Philosophie 18, 167 (1912)
- Y. Oganessian, Pure and Applied Chemistry 78(5), 889 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200678050889
- C.T. Haig, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series I 17, 74 (1868)
- 31. G. Rayet, C.R. Acad, Sci 67, 757 (1868)
- C.E. Moore, A.S. King, PASP 55(322), 36 (1943). https://doi.org/ 10.1086/125487
- 33. J.R. McNally, G.R. Harrison, H.B. Park, JOSA 32(6), 334 (1942)
- M. Arnould, S. Goriely, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 112, 103766 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2020.103766
- 35. I.U. Roederer, The Astrophysical Journal **835**(1), 23 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/835/1/23
- T.T. Hansen, E.M. Holmbeck, T.C. Beers, V.M. Placco, I.U. Roederer, A. Frebel, C.M. Sakari, J.D. Simon, I.B. Thompson, The

Astrophysical Journal **858**(2), 92 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 1538-4357/aabacc

- J.J. Cowan, C. Sneden, J.E. Lawler, A. Aprahamian, M. Wiescher, K. Langanke, G. Martínez-Pinedo, F.K. Thielemann, Reviews of Modern Physics 93(1), 015002 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ RevModPhys.93.015002
- C. Wenyuan, J. Xiaohua, S. Jianrong, Z. Gang, Z. Bo, The Astrophysical Journal 854(2), 131 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 1538-4357/aaa75f
- 39. I.U. Roederer, J.E. Lawler, E.A. Den Hartog, V.M. Placco, R. Surman, T.C. Beers, R. Ezzeddine, A. Frebel, T.T. Hansen, K. Hattori, E.M. Holmbeck, C.M. Sakari, ApJS 260(2), 27 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4365/ac5cbc
- 40. W. Huggins, MNRAS 26, 275 (1866)
- D. Hoffleit, The Journal of the American Association of Variable Star Observers 15(2), 77 (1986)
- J. Carlson, R. Schiavilla, Rev. Mod. Phys. 70, 743 (1998). https:// doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.70.743. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/RevModPhys.70.743
- A. Koszorus, X. Yang, W. Jiang, S. Novario, S. Bai, J. Billowes, C. Binnersley, M. Bissell, T. Cocolios, B. Cooper, R. de Groote, A. Ekstrom, K. Flanagan, C. Forssen, S. Franchoo, R.G. Ruiz, F. Gustafsson, G. Hagen, G. Jansen, A. Kanellakopoulos, M. Kortelainen, W. Nazarewicz, G. Neyens, T. Papenbrock, P. Reinhard, C. Ricketts, B. Sahoo, A. Vernon, S. Wilkins, Nature Physics 17(4), 439–443 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41567-020-01136-5
- M. Mougeot, D. Atanasov, J. Karthein, R. Wolf, P. Ascher, K. Blaum, K. Chrysalidis, G. Hagen, J. Holt, W. Huang, G. Jansen, I. Kulikov, Y. Litvinov, D. Lunney, V. Manea, T. Miyagi, T. Papenbrock, L. Schweikhard, A. Schwenk, T. Steinsberger, S. Stroberg, Z. Sun, A. Welker, F. Wienholtz, S. Wilkins, K. Zuber, Nature Physics **17**(10), 1099 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41567-021-01326-9
- 45. G. Audi, A. Wapstra, C. Thibault, Nuclear Physics A 729(1), 337 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2003. 11.003. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947403018098. The 2003 NUBASE and Atomic Mass Evaluations
- M. Wang, G. Audi, F.G. Kondev, W.J. Huang, S. Naimi, X. Xu, Chinese Physics C 41(3), 030003 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1674-1137/41/3/030003
- M. Wang, W.J. Huang, F.G. Kondev, G. Audi, S. Naimi, Chinese Physics C 45(3), 030003 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1674-1137/abddaf
- 48. M. Block, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms **376**, 265 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nimb. 2016.02.027. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0168583X16001579. Proceedings of the XVIIth International Conference on Electromagnetic Isotope Separators and Related Topics (EMIS2015), Grand Rapids, MI, U.S.A., 11-15 May 2015
- G. Gamow, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series A 126(803), 632 (1930). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1930.0032
- 50. C.F.V. Weizsäcker, Zeitschrift fur Physik **96**(7–8), 431 (1935). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01337700
- 51. J.H. Bartlett, Nature **130**(3274), 165 (1932). https://doi.org/10. 1038/130165a0
- J.H. Bartlett, Phys. Rev. 41, 370 (1932). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRev.41.370.2. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.41. 370.2
- E. Gapon, D. Iwanenko, Naturwissenschaften 20(43), 792 (1932). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01494007
- M.G. Mayer, Phys. Rev. 74, 235 (1948). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRev.74.235. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.74. 235

- M.G. Mayer, Physical Review 75(12), 1969 (1949). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRev.75.1969
- O. Haxel, J.H. Jensen, H.E. Suess, Physical Review 75(11), 1766 (1949). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.75.1766.2
- 57. G. Scharff-Goldhaber, Nucleonics (U.S.) Ceased publication https://www.osti.gov/biblio/4353967
- C. Bemis Jr., J. Nix, Comments on Nuclear and Particle Physics 7(3), 65 (1977)
- A. Sobiczewski, F. Gareev, B. Kalinkin, Physics Letters 22(4), 500 (1966). https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9163(66)91243-1. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0031916366912431
- U. Mosel, W. Greiner, Z. Phys., 222: 261-82(1969). (1969). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01392125. https://www.osti.gov/ biblio/4799732
- G. Lalazissis, M. Sharma, P. Ring, Y. Gambhir, Nucl. Phys. A 608(2), 202 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9474(96)00273-4
- S. Ćwiok, J. Dobaczewski, P. Heenen, P. Magierski, W. Nazarewicz, Nucl. Phys. A 611(2), 211 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(96)00337-5
- Y. Gambhir, A. Bhagwat, M. Gupta, Annals of Physics 320(2), 429 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2005.05.009. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S000349160500117X
- K. Santhosh, I. Sukumaran, Canadian Journal of Physics 95(1), 31 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1139/cjp-2016-0465
- M.E. Adri, M. Oulne, The European Physical Journal Plus 136(3) (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjp/s13360-021-01328-9. https://doi.org/10.1140%2Fepjp%2Fs13360-021-01328-9
- J. Negele, Rev. Mod. Phys. 54, 913 (1982). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/RevModPhys.54.913. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ RevModPhys.54.913
- P. Moeller, J.R. Nix, W.D. Myers, W.J. Swiatecki, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 59(2) (1995). https://doi.org/10.1006/ adnd.1995.1002. https://www.osti.gov/biblio/86405
- P. Möller, W.D. Myers, H. Sagawa, S. Yoshida, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108(5), 052501 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 108.052501
- P. Möller, A.J. Sierk, T. Ichikawa, H. Sagawa, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 109, 1 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adt. 2015.10.002
- J. Duflo, A.P. Zuker, Phys. Rev. C 52(1), R23 (1995). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevC.52.R23
- H. Koura, T. Tachibana, M. Uno, M. Yamada, Progress of Theoretical Physics 113(2), 305 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1143/PTP. 113.305
- 72. N. Wang, Z. Liang, M. Liu, X. Wu, Phys. Rev. C 82, 044304 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.82.044304. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.82.044304
- M. Liu, N. Wang, Y. Deng, X. Wu, Phys. Rev. C 84, 014333 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.014333. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.014333
- 74. N. Wang, M. Liu, X. Wu, J. Meng, Physics Letters B 734, 215 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2014. 05.049. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S037026931400358X
- J. Rayford Nix, Nuclear Physics A 130(2), 241 (1969). https://doi. org/10.1016/0375-9474(69)90730-1. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/0375947469907301
- A. Sobiczewski, Z. Szymański, S. Wycech, S.G. Nilsson, J.R. Nix, C.F. Tsang, C. Gustafson, P. Möller, B. Nilsson, Nuclear Physics A 131(1), 67 (1969). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9474(69)90810-0. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0375947469908100
- 77. P. Möller, S. Nilsson, J. Nix, Nuclear Physics A 229(2), 292 (1974)
- 78. H. Krappe, J. Nix, A. Sierk, Physical Review C 20(3), 992 (1979)
- 79. P. Möller, J.R. Nix, Nuclear Physics A 361(1), 117 (1981)

- J. Nix, Nuclear Physics A 502, 609 (1989). https://doi. org/10.1016/0375-9474(89)90693-3. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/0375947489906933
- T. Ichikawa, P. Möller, Physics Letters B 789, 679 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.12.034. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269318309614
- M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, G.C. McLaughlin, A. Aprahamian, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 86, 86 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2015.09.001
- P. Navrátil, J.P. Vary, B.R. Barrett, Phys. Rev. C 62(5), 054311 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.62.054311
- P. Navrátil, S. Quaglioni, G. Hupin, C. Romero-Redondo, A. Calci, Phys. Scr 91(5), 053002 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/91/5/053002
- B.S. Pudliner, V.R. Pandharipande, J. Carlson, R.B. Wiringa, Phys. Rev. Lett. **74**(22), 4396 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.74.4396
- J. Carlson, S. Gandolfi, F. Pederiva, S.C. Pieper, R. Schiavilla, K. Schmidt, R. Wiringa, Reviews of Modern Physics 87, 1067 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.87.1067. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.87.1067
- C.D. Sherrill, I. Schaefer, Henry F., Advances in Quantum Chemistry 34, 143 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0065-3276(08)60532-8
- J. Dobaczewski, H. Flocard, J. Treiner, Nucl. Phys. A 422(1), 103 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(84)90433-0
- M. Beiner, H. Flocard, N. Van Giai, P. Quentin, Nucl. Phys. A 238(1), 29 (1975). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9474(75)90338-3
- M. Bender, P.H. Heenen, P.G. Reinhard, Reviews of Modern Physics 75(1), 121 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys. 75.121
- J.R. Stone, P.G. Reinhard, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 58(2), 587 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2006. 07.001
- S. Goriely, N. Chamel, J.M. Pearson, European Physical Journal A 42(3), 547 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2009-10784-7
- N. Schunck, Energy Density Functional Methods for Atomic Nuclei (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-2563/aae0ed
- 94. N. Schunck, J. Dobaczewski, J. McDonnell, J. Moré, W. Nazarewicz, J. Sarich, M.V. Stoitsov, Phys. Rev. C 81(2), 024316 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.81.024316
- 95. S. Goriely, N. Chamel, J.M. Pearson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102(15), 152503 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 102.152503
- M. Kortelainen, T. Lesinski, J. Moré, W. Nazarewicz, J. Sarich, N. Schunck, M.V. Stoitsov, S. Wild, Phys. Rev. C 82(2), 024313 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.82.024313
- M. Kortelainen, J. McDonnell, W. Nazarewicz, P.G. Reinhard, J. Sarich, N. Schunck, M.V. Stoitsov, S.M. Wild, Phys. Rev. C 85(2), 024304 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.85.024304
- 98. J. Erler, K. Langanke, H. Loens, G. Martínez-Pinedo, P. Reinhard, Phys. Rev. C 85, 025802 (2012). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.85.025802. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.85.025802
- S. Goriely, N. Chamel, J.M. Pearson, Phys. Rev. C 88(6), 061302 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.88.061302
- 100. S.E. Agbemava, A.V. Afanasjev, D. Ray, P. Ring, Phys. Rev. C 89(5), 054320 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.89. 054320
- M. Kortelainen, J. McDonnell, W. Nazarewicz, E. Olsen, P.G. Reinhard, J. Sarich, N. Schunck, S.M. Wild, D. Davesne, J. Erler, A. Pastore, Phys. Rev. C 89(5), 054314 (2014). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.89.054314
- 102. S. Goriely, Nucl. Phys. A 933, 68 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.nuclphysa.2014.09.045

- S. Goriely, N. Chamel, J.M. Pearson, Phys. Rev. C 93(3), 034337 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.93.034337
- 104. J. Pearson, S. Goriely, Nuclear Physics A 777, 623 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2004.06.005. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947404007626. Special Isseu on Nuclear Astrophysics
- 105. A. Sobiczewski, Y.A. Litvinov, Phys. Rev. C 89, 024311 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.024311. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.024311
- 106. A. Sobiczewski, Y.A. Litvinov, Phys. Rev. C 90, 017302 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.90.017302. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.90.017302
- 107. S. Goriely, R. Capote, Phys. Rev. C 89, 054318 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.054318. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.89.054318
- 108. R. Casten, D. Brenner, P. Haustein, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 658 (1987). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.58.658. https://link. aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.58.658
- 109. R. Casten, N. Zamfir, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 22, 1521 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/22/ 11/002
- C. Barbero, J.G. Hirsch, A.E. Mariano, Nuclear Physics A 874, 81 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2011. 11.005. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0375947411006610
- 111. V. Strutinsky, Nuclear Physics A 95(2), 420 (1967). https://doi. org/10.1016/0375-9474(67)90510-6. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/0375947467905106
- 112. F. Tondeur, Nuclear Physics A 303(1), 185 (1978). https://doi. org/10.1016/0375-9474(78)90050-7. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/0375947478900507
- J. Retamosa, E. Caurier, F. Nowacki, A. Poves, Phys. Rev. C 55, 1266 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.55.1266. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.55.1266
- 114. J.G. Hirsch, J. Mendoza-Temis, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics **37**(6), 064029 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0954-3899/37/6/064029
- 115. J. Dilling, K. Blaum, M. Brodeur, S. Eliseev, Annual Review of Nuclear and Particle Science 68(1), 45 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev-nucl-102711-094939
- 116. R. Knöbel, M. Diwisch, F. Bosch, D. Boutin, L. Chen, C. Dimopoulou, A. Dolinskii, B. Franczak, B. Franzke, H. Geissel, M. Hausmann, C. Kozhuharov, J. Kurcewicz, S. Litvinov, G. Martinez-Pinedo, M. Matoš, M. Mazzocco, G. Münzenberg, S. Nakajima, C. Nociforo, F. Nolden, T. Ohtsubo, A. Ozawa, Z. Patyk, W. Plaß, C. Scheidenberger, J. Stadlmann, M. Steck, B. Sun, T. Suzuki, P. Walker, H. Weick, M. Wu, M. Winkler, T. Yamaguchi, Physics Letters B **754**, 288 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physletb.2016.01.039. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0370269316000563
- 117. C. Izzo, G. Bollen, M. Brodeur, M. Eibach, K. Gulyuz, J. Holt, J. Kelly, M. Redshaw, R. Ringle, R. Sandler, S. Schwarz, S. Stroberg, C. Sumithrarachchi, A. Valverde, A. Villari, Phys. Rev. C 97, 014309 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97. 014309. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.014309
- 118. P. Ascher, N. Althubiti, D. Atanasov, K. Blaum, R. Cakirli, S. Grévy, F. Herfurth, S. Kreim, D. Lunney, V. Manea, D. Neidherr, M. Rosenbusch, L. Schweikhard, A. Welker, F. Wienholtz, R. Wolf, K. Zuber, Phys. Rev. C 100, 014304 (2019). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.014304. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.100.014304
- 119. M. Reiter, S. Ayet San Andrés, S. Nikas, J. Lippuner, C. Andreoiu, C. Babcock, B. Barquest, J. Bollig, T. Brunner, T. Dickel, J. Dilling, I. Dillmann, E. Dunling, G. Gwinner, L. Graham, C. Hornung, R. Klawitter, B. Kootte, A. Kwiatkowski, Y. Lan, D. Lascar, K. Leach, E. Leistenschneider, G. Martínez-Pinedo,

J. McKay, S. Paul, W. Plaß, L. Roberts, H. Schatz, C. Scheidenberger, A. Sieverding, R. Steinbrügge, R. Thompson, M. Wieser, C. Will, D. Welch, Phys. Rev. C **101**, 025803 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.025803. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.025803

- 120. M.B. Smith, T. Murböck, E. Dunling, A. Jacobs, B. Kootte, Y. Lan, E. Leistenschneider, D. Lunney, E.M. Lykiardopoulou, I. Mukul, S.F. Paul, M.P. Reiter, C. Will, J. Dilling, A.A. Kwiatkowski, Hyperfine Interactions 241(1), 59 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10751-020-01722-2
- 121. H. Li, S. Naimi, T. Sprouse, M. Mumpower, Y. Abe, Y. Yamaguchi, D. Nagae, F. Suzaki, M. Wakasugi, H. Arakawa, W. Dou, D. Hamakawa, S. Hosoi, Y. Inada, D. Kajiki, T. Kobayashi, M. Sakaue, Y. Yokoda, T. Yamaguchi, R. Kagesawa, D. Kamioka, T. Moriguchi, M. Mukai, A. Ozawa, S. Ota, N. Kitamura, S. Masuoka, S. Michimasa, H. Baba, N. Fukuda, Y. Shimizu, H. Suzuki, H. Takeda, D. Ahn, M. Wang, C. Fu, Q. Wang, S. Suzuki, Z. Ge, Y. Litvinov, G. Lorusso, P. Walker, Z. Podolyak, T. Uesaka, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 152701 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.152701. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.152701
- 122. R. Orford, N. Vassh, J.A. Clark, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, D. Ray, G. Savard, R. Surman, F. Buchinger, D.P. Burdette, M.T. Burkey, D.A. Gorelov, J.W. Klimes, W.S. Porter, K.S. Sharma, A.A. Valverde, L. Varriano, X.L. Yan, Phys. Rev. C 105(5), L052802 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.105. L052802
- 123. R. Orford, N. Vassh, J.A. Clark, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, G. Savard, R. Surman, A. Aprahamian, F. Buchinger, M.T. Burkey, D.A. Gorelov, T.Y. Hirsh, J.W. Klimes, G.E. Morgan, A. Nystrom, K.S. Sharma, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(26), 262702 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.262702
- 124. M. Vilen, J. Kelly, A. Kankainen, M. Brodeur, A. Aprahamian, L. Canete, R. de Groote, A. de Roubin, T. Eronen, A. Jokinen, I. Moore, M. Mumpower, D. Nesterenko, J. O'Brien, A.P. Perdomo, H. Penttilä, M. Reponen, S. Rinta-Antila, R. Surman, Phys. Rev. C 101(3), 034312 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101. 034312
- 125. M. Vilen, J.M. Kelly, A. Kankainen, M. Brodeur, A. Aprahamian, L. Canete, T. Eronen, A. Jokinen, T. Kuta, I.D. Moore, M.R. Mumpower, D.A. Nesterenko, H. Penttilä, I. Pohjalainen, W.S. Porter, S. Rinta-Antila, R. Surman, A. Voss, J. ńystö, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**(12), 129901 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.124.129901
- 126. S. Baruah, A. Herlert, L. Schweikhard, G. Audi, C. Guenaut, D. Lunney, K. Blaum, S. George, .M. Institut fuer Physik, Johannes Gutenberg-Universitaet, M. Dworschak, F. Herfurth, C. Yazidjian, U. Hager, .H. Helsinki Institute of Physics, University of Helsinki, A. Kellerbauer, H.J. Kluge, .H. Fakultaet fuer Physik und Astronomie, Ruprecht-Karls-Universitaet, H. Schatz, Physical Review Letters 101(26) (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PHYSREVLETT. 101.262501. https://www.osti.gov/biblio/21180077
- 127. Z. Meisel, S. George, S. Ahn, J. Browne, D. Bazin, B. Brown, J. Carpino, H. Chung, R. Cyburt, A. Estradé, M. Famiano, A. Gade, C. Langer, M. Matoš, W. Mittig, F. Montes, D. Morrissey, J. Pereira, H. Schatz, J. Schatz, M. Scott, D. Shapira, K. Smith, J. Stevens, W. Tan, O. Tarasov, S. Towers, K. Wimmer, J. Winkelbauer, J. Yurkon, R. Zegers, Phys. Rev. Lett. **114**, 022501 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 114.022501. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114. 022501
- 128. D. Lascar, R. Klawitter, C. Babcock, E. Leistenschneider, S. Stroberg, B. Barquest, A. Finlay, M. Foster, A. Gallant, P. Hunt, J. Kelly, B. Kootte, Y. Lan, S. Paul, M. Phan, M. Reiter, B. Schultz, D. Short, J. Simonis, C. Andreoiu, M. Brodeur, I. Dillmann,

G. Gwinner, J. Holt, A. Kwiatkowski, K. Leach, J. Dilling, Phys. Rev. C **96**, 044323 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96. 044323. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.044323

- 129. T.L. Tang, B.P. Kay, C.R. Hoffman, J.P. Schiffer, D.K. Sharp, L.P. Gaffney, S.J. Freeman, M.R. Mumpower, A. Arokiaraj, E.F. Baader, P.A. Butler, W.N. Catford, G. de Angelis, F. Flavigny, M.D. Gott, E.T. Gregor, J. Konki, M. Labiche, I.H. Lazarus, P.T. MacGregor, I. Martel, R.D. Page, Z. Podolyák, O. Poleshchuk, R. Raabe, F. Recchia, J.F. Smith, S.V. Szwec, J. Yang, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**(6), 062502 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.124.062502
- 130. D. Yordanov, D. Balabanski, M. Bissell, K. Blaum, I. Budinčević, B. Cheal, K. Flanagan, N. Frömmgen, G. Georgiev, C. Geppert, M. Hammen, M. Kowalska, K. Kreim, A. Krieger, J. Meng, R. Neugart, G. Neyens, W. Nörtershäuser, M. Rajabali, J. Papuga, S. Schmidt, P. Zhao, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 032501 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.032501. https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.032501
- 131. S. Ayet San Andrés, C. Hornung, J. Ebert, W.R. Plaß, T. Dickel, H. Geissel, C. Scheidenberger, J. Bergmann, F. Greiner, E. Haettner, C. Jesch, W. Lippert, I. Mardor, I. Miskun, Z. Patyk, S. Pietri, A. Pihktelev, S. Purushothaman, M.P. Reiter, A.K. Rink, H. Weick, M.I. Yavor, S. Bagchi, V. Charviakova, P. Constantin, M. Diwisch, A. Finlay, S. Kaur, R. Knöbel, J. Lang, B. Mei, I.D. Moore, J.H. Otto, I. Pohjalainen, A. Prochazka, C. Rappold, M. Takechi, Y.K. Tanaka, J.S. Winfield, X. Xu, Phys. Rev. C 99, 064313 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99. 064313. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.064313
- 132. C. Hornung, D. Amanbayev, I. Dedes, G. Kripko-Koncz, I. Miskun, N. Shimizu, S. Ayet San Andrés, J. Bergmann, T. Dickel, J. Dudek, J. Ebert, H. Geissel, M. Górska, H. Grawe, F. Greiner, E. Haettner, T. Otsuka, W.R. Plaß, S. Purushothaman, A.K. Rink, C. Scheidenberger, H. Weick, S. Bagchi, A. Blazhev, O. Charviakova, D. Curien, A. Finlay, S. Kaur, W. Lippert, J.H. Otto, Z. Patyk, S. Pietri, Y.K. Tanaka, Y. Tsunoda, J.S. Winfield, Physics Letters B **802**, 135200 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.physletb.2020.135200. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0370269320300046
- 133. P. Schury, T. Niwase, M. Wada, P. Brionnet, S. Chen, T. Hashimoto, H. Haba, Y. Hirayama, D.S. Hou, S. Iimura, H. Ishiyama, S. Ishizawa, Y. Ito, D. Kaji, S. Kimura, H. Koura, J.J. Liu, H. Miyatake, J.Y. Moon, K. Morimoto, K. Morita, D. Nagae, M. Rosenbusch, A. Takamine, Y.X. Watanabe, H. Wollnik, W. Xian, S.X. Yan, Phys. Rev. C 104, L021304 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.L021304. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.L021304
- 134. A. Koning, S. Hilaire, M. Duijvestijn, AIP Conference Proceedings **769**(1), 1154 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1945212. https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.1945212
- M. Herman, R. Capote, B. Carlson, P. Obložinský, M. Sin, A. Trkov, H. Wienke, V. Zerkin, Nuclear Data Sheets 108(12), 2655 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nds.2007. 11.003. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0090375207000981. Special Issue on Evaluations of Neutron Cross Sections
- 136. T. Kawano, R. Capote, S. Hilaire, P. Chau Huu-Tai, Phys. Rev. C 94, 014612 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94. 014612. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.94.014612
- 137. T. KAWANO, S. CHIBA, H. KOURA, Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology 43(1), 1 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1080/ 18811248.2006.9711062. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/ 10.1080/18811248.2006.9711062
- A. Koning, S. Hilaire, S. Goriely, Nuclear Physics A 810(1), 13 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2008. 06.005. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0375947408005903

- G. Mathews, A. Mengoni, F. Thielemann, W. Fowler, ApJ 270, 740 (1983). https://doi.org/10.1086/161164
- 140. T. Rauscher, R. Bieber, H. Oberhummer, K. Kratz, J. Dobaczewski, P. Möller, M. Sharma, Phys. Rev. C 57(4), 2031 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.57.2031
- 141. S. Goriely, A&A 325, 414 (1997)
- 142. K. Otsuki, A. Burrows, G. Martinez-Pinedo, S. Typel, K. Langanke, M. Matos, in Tours Symposium on Nuclear Physics and AstroPhysics - VII, American Institute of Physics Conference Series, vol. 1238, ed. by H. Susa, M. Arnould, S. Gales, T. Motobayashi, C. Scheidenberger, H. Utsunomiya (2010), American Institute of Physics Conference Series, vol. 1238, pp. 240–242. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3455940
- 143. Y. Xu, S. Goriely, A. Koning, S. Hilaire, Phys. Rev. C 90, 024604 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.90.024604. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.90.024604
- 144. A. Koning, J. Delaroche, Nuclear Physics A 713(3), 231 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(02)01321-0. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947402013210
- 145. S. KUNIEDA, S. CHIBA, K. SHIBATA, A. ICHIHARA, E.S. SUKHOVITSKI, Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology 44(6), 838 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1080/18811248. 2007.9711321. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/ 18811248.2007.9711321
- 146. P. Demetriou, S. Goriely, Nuclear Physics A 695(1), 95 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(01)01095-8. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947401010958
- 147. S. Goriely, S. Hilaire, A. Koning, Phys. Rev. C 78, 064307 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.78.064307. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.78.064307
- 148. F. MINATO, Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology 48(7), 984 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1080/18811248.2011.9711785. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/18811248.2011. 9711785
- 149. G. Bartholomew, E. Earle, A. Ferguson, J. Knowles, M. Lone, Gamma-Ray Strength Functions (Springer US, Boston, MA, 1973). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-9044-6\_4
- 150. J. Kopecky, M. Uhl, Phys. Rev. C 41, 1941 (1990). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.41.1941. https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevC.41.1941
- 151. M. Uhl, J. Kopecky. Gamma-ray strength function models and their parameterization (1994)
- 152. S.N. Liddick, A. Spyrou, B.P. Crider, F. Naqvi, A.C. Larsen, M. Guttormsen, M. Mumpower, R. Surman, G. Perdikakis, D.L. Bleuel, A. Couture, L. Crespo Campo, A.C. Dombos, R. Lewis, S. Mosby, S. Nikas, C.J. Prokop, T. Renstrom, B. Rubio, S. Siem, S.J. Quinn, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**(24), 242502 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.242502
- 153. M.R. Mumpower, T. Kawano, J.L. Ullmann, M. Krtička, T.M. Sprouse, Phys. Rev. C 96(2), 024612 (2017). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.96.024612
- 154. J. Bliss, A. Arcones, F. Montes, J. Pereira, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 44(5), 054003 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/aa63bd. https://doi. org/10.1088/1361-6471/aa63bd
- 155. A. Psaltis, A. Arcones, F. Montes, P. Mohr, C.J. Hansen, M. Jacobi, H. Schatz, The Astrophysical Journal 935(1), 27 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac7da7. https://doi. org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac7da7
- 156. P. Hansen, B. Sherrill, Nuclear Physics A 693(1), 133 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(01)01104-6. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947401011046. Radioactive Nuclear Beams
- 157. S. Goriely, A. Bauswein, H.T. Janka, The Astrophysical Journal 738(2), L32 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1088/2041-8205/738/2/132. https://doi.org/10.1088/2041-8205/738/2/132

- 158. F. Kondev, M. Wang, W. Huang, S. Naimi, G. Audi, Chinese Physics C 45(3), 030001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1674-1137/abddae. https://doi.org/10.1088/1674-1137/abddae
- 159. L.M. Brown, Physics Today 31(9), 23 (1978)
- 160. R. Sime, U. of California Press, Lise Meitner: A Life in Physics. CALIFORNIA STUDIES IN THE HIST (University of California Press, 1996). https://books.google.com/books? id=uPzZQzx-mkcC
- E. Fermi, Zeitschrift fur Physik 88(3–4), 161 (1934). https://doi. org/10.1007/BF01351864
- 162. F.L. Wilson, American Journal of Physics 36(12), 1150 (1968). https://doi.org/10.1119/1.1974382
- 163. J. Menéndez, N. Hinohara, J. Engel, G. Martínez-Pinedo, T.R. Rodríguez, Phys. Rev. C 93, 014305 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.93.014305. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.93.014305
- 164. J. Engel, in XXVI International Conference on Neutrino Physics and AstroPhysics: Neutrino 2014, American Institute of Physics Conference Series, vol. 1666 (2015), American Institute of Physics Conference Series, vol. 1666, p. 170006. https://doi.org/ 10.1063/1.4915596
- 165. J. Engel, J. Menéndez, Reports on Progress in Physics 80(4), 046301 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6633/aa5bc5
- 166. L. Nanni, arXiv e-prints arXiv:1803.07147 (2018)
- 167. P. Hansen, The Beta Strength Function (Springer US, Boston, MA, 1973). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-9044-6\_3
  160. D. Multi J. D. Multi J. D. Multi J. 2000 (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000) (2000)
- 168. P. Möller, J. Randrup, Nuclear Physics A 514, 1 (1990). https:// doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(90)90330-O
- 169. A.C. Pappas, T. Sverdrup, Nuclear Physics A 188, 48 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(72)90179-0
- O.K. Gjøtterud, P. Hoff, A.C. Pappas, Nuclear Physics A 303, 281 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(78)90359-7
- 171. I. Borzov. Microscopic approach to beta-delayed neutron emission (2014)
- 172. P. Dimitriou, I. Dillmann, B. Singh, V. Piksaikin, K.P. Rykaczewski, J.L. Tain, A. Algora, K. Banerjee, I.N. Borzov, D. Cano-Ott, S. Chiba, M. Fallot, D. Foligno, R. Grzywacz, X. Huang, T. Marketin, F. Minato, G. Mukherjee, B.C. Rasco, A. Sonzogni, M. Verpelli, A. Egorov, M. Estienne, L. Giot, D. Gremyachkin, M. Madurga, E.A. McCutchan, E. Mendoza, K.V. Mitrofanov, M. Narbonne, P. Romojaro, A. Sanchez-Caballero, N.D. Scielzo, Nuclear Data Sheets **173**, 144 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.nds.2021.04.006
- 173. A. Spyrou, S.N. Liddick, F. Naqvi, B.P. Crider, A.C. Dombos, D.L. Bleuel, B.A. Brown, A. Couture, L. Crespo Campo, M. Guttormsen, A.C. Larsen, R. Lewis, P. Möller, S. Mosby, M.R. Mumpower, G. Perdikakis, C.J. Prokop, T. Renstrøm, S. Siem, S.J. Quinn, S. Valenta, Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**(14), 142701 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.142701
- 174. N. Bohr, Physical Review 48(8), 696 (1935). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRev.48.696
- T. Kawano, P. Möller, W.B. Wilson, Phys. Rev. C 78(5), 054601 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.78.054601
- 176. M.R. Mumpower, T. Kawano, P. Möller, Phys. Rev. C 94(6), 064317 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94.064317
- 177. F. Minato, T. Marketin, N. Paar, Phys. Rev. C 104, 044321 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.044321. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.044321
- K. Langanke, G. Martínez-Pinedo, Nucl. Phys. A 673(1–4), 481 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(00)00131-7
- 179. G. Martínez-Pinedo, K. Langanke, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83(22), 4502 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.4502
- G. Martinez-Pinedo, K. Langanke, D. Dean, The Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series 126(2), 493 (2000). https://doi.org/10. 1086/313297. https://doi.org/10.1086/313297

- 181. Q. Zhi, E. Caurier, J.J. Cuenca-García, K. Langanke, G. Martínez-Pinedo, K. Sieja, Phys. Rev. C 87, 025803 (2013). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.87.025803. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.87.025803
- 182. F. Minato, C.L. Bai, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**(12), 122501 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.122501
- 183. F. Minato, Z.M. Niu, H. Liang, arXiv e-prints arXiv:2204.06871 (2022)
- 184. P. Moeller, F. Univ. of Aizu, J.R. Nix, K.L. Kratz, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 66(2) (1997). https://doi.org/10.1006/ adnd.1997.0746. https://www.osti.gov/biblio/589076
- 185. P. Möller, B. Pfeiffer, K.L. Kratz, Phys. Rev. C 67, 055802 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.67.055802. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.67.055802
- 186. P. Möller, M.R. Mumpower, T. Kawano, W.D. Myers, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables **125**, 1 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.adt.2018.03.003
- T. Marketin, L. Huther, G. Martínez-Pinedo, Phys. Rev. C 93(2), 025805 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.93.025805
- M.T. Mustonen, J. Engel, Phys. Rev. C 93(1), 014304 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.93.014304
- 189. E. Ney, J. Engel, T. Li, N. Schunck, Phys. Rev. C 102, 034326 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.034326. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.034326
- 190. P. Möller, A.J. Sierk, T. Ichikawa, A. Iwamoto, M. Mumpower, Phys. Rev. C 91(2), 024310 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.91.024310
- 191. V. Viola, G. Seaborg, Journal of Inorganic and Nuclear Chemistry 28(3), 741 (1966). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0022-1902(66)80412-8. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0022190266804128
- D. Poenaru, M. Ivascu, Journal de Physique 44(7), 791 (1983). https://doi.org/10.1051/jphys:01983004407079100. https://hal. archives-ouvertes.fr/jpa-00209660
- 193. C. Samanta, P.R. Chowdhury, D.N. Basu, Nucl. Phys. A 789(1–4), 142 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2007.04.001
- 194. O.V. Kiren, S.B. Gudennavar, S.G. Bubbly, arXiv e-prints arXiv:1301.1767 (2013)
- 195. B. Sahu, S. Bhoi, Phys. Rev. C 93, 044301 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.93.044301. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.93.044301
- 196. K.P. Santhosh, C. Nithya, Phys. Rev. C 95(5), 054621 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.95.054621
- 197. K.P. Santhosh, C. Nithya, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 119, 33 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adt.2017.03.003
- 198. M. Braun, Y.M. Georgiev, T. Schönherr, H. Wilsenach, K. Zuber, Physics Letters B **768**, 317 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physletb.2017.02.052
- L. Meitner, F. Strassmann, O. Hahn, Zeitschrift fur Physik 109(7– 8), 538 (1938). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01340332
- N. Schunck, D. Regnier, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 125, 103963 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2022.103963
- 201. P. Jachimowicz, M. Kowal, J. Skalski, Phys. Rev. C 95(1), 014303 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.95.014303
- 202. F.P. Heßberger, European Physical Journal A **53**(4), 75 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2017-12260-3
- 203. D. Regnier, N. Dubray, N. Schunck, M. Verrière, in European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 146 (2017), European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 146, p. 04043. https://doi.org/10.1051/ epjconf/201714604043
- 204. R. Rodriguez-Guzmán, L.M. Robledo, European Physical Journal A 53(12), 245 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/ i2017-12444-9
- 205. K. Sekizawa, Phys. Rev. C 96(1), 014615 (2017). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.96.014615

- H. Tao, J. Zhao, Z.P. Li, T. Nikšić, D. Vretenar, Phys. Rev. C 96(2), 024319 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.024319
- 207. M. Verrière, N. Dubray, N. Schunck, D. Regnier, P. Dossantos-Uzarralde, in European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 146 (2017), European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 146, p. 04034. https://doi.org/10.1051/epjconf/201714604034
- 208. S.A. Giuliani, L.M. Robledo, Physics Letters B 787, 134 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.10.045
- 209. R. Navarro Pérez, N. Schunck, A. Dyhdalo, R.J. Furnstahl, S.K. Bogner, Phys. Rev. C 97(5), 054304 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.97.054304
- 210. J. Lemaître, S. Goriely, S. Hilaire, J.L. Sida, Phys. Rev. C 99, 034612 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.034612. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.034612
- 211. J. Zhao, J. Xiang, Z.P. Li, T. Nikšić, D. Vretenar, S.G. Zhou, Phys. Rev. C 99(5), 054613 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC. 99.054613
- 212. A. Bulgac, S. Jin, I. Stetcu, Frontiers in Physics 8 (2020). https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphy.2020.00063. https://www.frontiersin.org/ article/10.3389/fphy.2020.00063
- 213. R. Rodríguez-Guzmán, Y.M. Humadi, L.M. Robledo, European Physical Journal A 56(2), 43 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/ s10050-020-00051-w
- 214. A. Bulgac, I. Abdurrahman, S. Jin, K. Godbey, N. Schunck, I. Stetcu, Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**(14), 142502 (2021). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.142502
- 215. S. Jin, K.J. Roche, I. Stetcu, I. Abdurrahman, A. Bulgac, Computer Physics Communications 269, 108130 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cpc.2021.108130
- 216. P. Marević, N. Schunck, J. Randrup, R. Vogt, Phys. Rev. C 104(2), L021601 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104. L021601
- 217. M. Verriere, N. Schunck, D. Regnier, Phys. Rev. C 103(5), 054602 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.054602
- 218. A. Bulgac, I. Abdurrahman, K. Godbey, I. Stetcu, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128(2), 022501 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 128.022501
- 219. Y. Abe, S. Ayik, P.G. Reinhard, E. Suraud, Physics Reports 275(2), 49 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0370-1573(96)00003-8. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0370157396000038
- 220. P. Möller, A.J. Sierk, A. Iwamoto, Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 072501 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.072501. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.072501
- P. Möller, T. Ichikawa, The European Physical Journal A 51(12), 173 (2015)
- 222. J. Randrup, P. Möller, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 132503 (2011). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.132503. https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.132503
- 223. J. Randrup, P. Möller, A. Sierk, Phys. Rev. C 84, 034613 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.034613. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.034613
- 224. A.J. Sierk, Phys. Rev. C 96, 034603 (2017). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.96.034603. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.96.034603
- 225. M.R. Mumpower, P. Jaffke, M. Verriere, J. Randrup, Phys. Rev. C 101(5), 054607 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101. 054607
- 226. M. Verriere, M.R. Mumpower, Phys. Rev. C 103(3), 034617 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.034617
- D.L. Hill, J.A. Wheeler, Phys. Rev. 89, 1102 (1953). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRev.89.1102. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRev.89.1102
- S. Bjørnholm, J.E. Lynn, Reviews of Modern Physics 52(4), 725 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.52.725

- 230. A.V. KARPOV, V.I. ZAGREBAEV, Y. MARTINEZ PALEN-ZUELA, L. FELIPE RUIZ, W. GREINER, International Journal of Modern Physics E 21(02), 1250013 (2012). https:// doi.org/10.1142/S0218301312500139. https://doi.org/10.1142/ S0218301312500139
- I.V. Panov, I.Y. Korneev, G. Martinez-Pinedo, F.K. Thielemann, Astronomy Letters **39**(3), 150 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1134/ S1063773713030043
- 232. T. Kodama, K. Takahashi, Nuclear Physics A 239(3), 489 (1975). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(75)90381-4. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0375947475903814
- A.C. Wahl, Los Alamos Technical Report (2002). https://doi.org/ 10.2172/809574. https://www.osti.gov/biblio/809574
- K. Schmidt, B. Jurado, C. Amouroux, C. Schmitt, Nuclear Data Sheets 131, 107 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nds.2015.12. 009
- 235. P. Jaffke, P. Möller, P. Talou, A.J. Sierk, Phys. Rev. C 97(3), 034608 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.034608
- 236. S. Okumura, T. Kawano, P. Jaffke, P. Talou, S. Chiba, Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology 55(9), 1009 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1080/00223131.2018.1467288. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00223131.2018.1467288
- 237. A. Lovell, T. Kawano, S. Okumura, I. Stetcu, M. Mumpower, P. Talou, Phys. Rev. C 103, 014615 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.014615. https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevC.103.014615
- P. Talou, I. Stetcu, P. Jaffke, M.E. Rising, A.E. Lovell, T. Kawano, Computer Physics Communications 269, 108087 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2021.108087
- 239. R. Vogt, J. Randrup, Phys. Rev. C 103(1), 014610 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.014610
- 240. S.A. Giuliani, L.M. Robledo, Phys. Rev. C 88, 054325 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.88.054325. https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.88.054325
- 241. Y. Aboussir, J. Pearson, A. Dutta, F. Tondeur, Nuclear Physics A 549(2), 155 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9474(92)90038-L. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/037594749290038L
- 242. Y. Aboussir, J.M. Pearson, A.K. Dutta, F. Tondeur, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 61, 127 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0092-640X(95)90014-4
- 243. M. Arnould, S. Goriely, Nuclear Physics A 777, 157 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.02.116. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947405002605. Special Isseu on Nuclear Astrophysics
- 244. W.D. Myers, W.J. Świątecki, Phys. Rev. C 60, 014606 (1999). doi:https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.60.014606.https://link. aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.60.014606
- 245. J.R. Nix, Annual Review of Nuclear Science 22(1), 65 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ns.22.120172.000433. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ns.22.120172.000433
- 246. P. Möller, International Journal of Modern Physics E **19**(4), 575 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218301310014996
- 247. F. Thielemann, J. Metzinger, H. Klapdor, Zeitschrift fur Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei 309(4), 301 (1983). https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01413833
- 248. M.R. Mumpower, T. Kawano, T.M. Sprouse, N. Vassh, E.M. Holmbeck, R. Surman, P. Möller, ApJ 869(1), 14 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aaeaca
- 249. N. Vassh, R. Vogt, R. Surman, J. Randrup, T.M. Sprouse, M.R. Mumpower, P. Jaffke, D. Shaw, E.M. Holmbeck, Y. Zhu, G.C. McLaughlin, Journal of Physics G Nuclear Physics 46(6), 065202 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/ab0bea

- S.G. Nilsson, J. Nix, A. Sobiczewski, Z. Szymański, S. Wycech, C. Gustafson, P. Möller, Nuclear Physics A 115(3), 545 (1968)
- J. Randrup, C. Tsang, P. Möller, S.G. Nilsson, S. Larsson, Nuclear Physics A 217(2), 221 (1973)
- 252. J. Randrup, S.E. Larsson, P. Möller, A. Sobiczewski, A. Lukasaik, Physica Scripta **10**(A), 60 (1974). https://doi.org/10. 1088/0031-8949/10/a/009. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/ 10/a/009
- 253. J. Randrup, S. Larsson, P. Möller, S.G. Nilsson, K. Pomorski, A. Sobiczewski, Physical Review C 13(1), 229 (1976)
- J. Sadhukhan, Frontiers in Physics 8 (2020). https://doi.org/10. 3389/fphy.2020.567171. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10. 3389/fphy.2020.567171
- 255. V.I. Zagrebaev, A.V. Karpov, I.N. Mishustin, W. Greiner, Phys. Rev. C 84, 044617 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84. 044617. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.044617
- 256. T. Kawano, J. Escher, Y. Alhassid, L.A. Bernstein, D. Brown, C. Fröhlich, P. Talou, W. ed. by C.-Nuclear. Reactions (Younes (Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2021), pp.27–34
- I. Petermann, K. Langanke, G. Martínez-Pinedo, I. Panov, P. Reinhard, F. Thielemann, The European Physical Journal A 48(9) (2012). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2012-12122-6. https://doi.org/10.1140%2Fepja%2Fi2012-12122-6
- S. Goriely, European Physical Journal A 51, 22 (2015). https:// doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2015-15022-3
- 259. L. Ghys, A.N. Andreyev, S. Antalic, M. Huyse, P. Van Duppen, Phys. Rev. C 91(4), 044314 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.91.044314
- E.M. Holmbeck, T.M. Sprouse, M.R. Mumpower, N. Vassh, R. Surman, T.C. Beers, T. Kawano, ApJ 870(1), 23 (2019). https:// doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aaefef
- 261. C.J. Horowitz, A. Arcones, B. Côté, I. Dillmann, W. Nazarewicz, I.U. Roederer, H. Schatz, A. Aprahamian, D. Atanasov, A. Bauswein, T.C. Beers, J. Bliss, M. Brodeur, J.A. Clark, A. Frebel, F. Foucart, C.J. Hansen, O. Just, A. Kankainen, G.C. McLaughlin, J.M. Kelly, S.N. Liddick, D.M. Lee, J. Lippuner, D. Martin, J. Mendoza-Temis, B.D. Metzger, M.R. Mumpower, G. Perdikakis, J. Pereira, B.W. O'Shea, R. Reifarth, A.M. Rogers, D.M. Siegel, A. Spyrou, R. Surman, X. Tang, T. Uesaka, M. Wang, Journal of Physics G Nuclear Physics 46(8), 083001 (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1361-6471/ab0849
- 262. T. Shafer, J. Engel, C. Fröhlich, G.C. McLaughlin, M. Mumpower, R. Surman, Phys. Rev. C 94(5), 055802 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.94.055802
- 263. J.J. Cowan, F.K. Thielemann, J.W. Truran, Phys. Rep. 208(4–5), 267 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(91)90070-3
- 264. S. Rosswog, O. Korobkin, A. Arcones, F.K. Thielemann, T. Piran, MNRAS 439(1), 744 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1093/ mnras/stt2502
- 265. T.M. Sprouse, G.W. Misch, M.R. Mumpower, ApJ **929**(1), 22 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac470f
- 266. Y. Zhu, R.T. Wollaeger, N. Vassh, R. Surman, T.M. Sprouse, M.R. Mumpower, P. Möller, G.C. McLaughlin, O. Korobkin, T. Kawano, P.J. Jaffke, E.M. Holmbeck, C.L. Fryer, W.P. Even, A.J. Couture, J. Barnes, ApJ 863(2), L23 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 3847/2041-8213/aad5de
- 267. M.R. Wu, J. Barnes, G. Martínez-Pinedo, B.D. Metzger, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**(6), 062701 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.122.062701
- 268. M. Mumpower, R. Surman, D.L. Fang, M. Beard, A. Aprahamian, Journal of Physics G Nuclear Physics 42(3), 034027 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/42/3/034027
- 269. M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, D.L. Fang, M. Beard, P. Möller, T. Kawano, A. Aprahamian, Phys. Rev. C 92(3), 035807 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.92.035807

- K. Chapman, Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences 378(2180), 20190535 (2020)
- 271. Y.W. Hao, Y.F. Niu, Z.M. Niu, The Astrophysical Journal **933**(1), 3 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac6fdc. https://doi. org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac6fdc
- 272. I. Panov, F. Thielemann, Nucl. Phys. A **718**, 647 (2003). https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(03)00875-3
- 273. G. Martínez-Pinedo, D. Mocelj, N.T. Zinner, A. Kelić, K. Langanke, I. Panov, B. Pfeiffer, T. Rauscher, K. Schmidt, F. Thielemann, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 59(1), 199 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2007.01.018
- 274. M. Eichler, A. Arcones, A. Kelic, O. Korobkin, K. Langanke, T. Marketin, G. Martinez-Pinedo, I. Panov, T. Rauscher, S. Rosswog, C. Winteler, N. Zinner, F. Thielemann, The Astrophysical Journal 808(1), 30 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637x/ 808/1/30. https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637x/808/1/30
- S. Goriely, J.L. Sida, J.F. Lemaître, S. Panebianco, N. Dubray, S. Hilaire, A. Bauswein, H.T. Janka, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 242502 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.242502. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.242502
- 276. S. Shibagaki, T. Kajino, G.J. Mathews, S. Chiba, S. Nishimura, G. Lorusso, ApJ **816**(2), 79 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 0004-637X/816/2/79
- 277. H. Schatz, R. Toenjes, B. Pfeiffer, T.C. Beers, J.J. Cowan, V. Hill, K.L. Kratz, ApJ **579**(2), 626 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1086/ 342939
- 278. S.A. Giuliani, G. Martínez-Pinedo, M.R. Wu, L.M. Robledo, Phys. Rev. C 102, 045804 (2020). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.102.045804. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.102.045804
- 279. S. Patra, R. Panda, P. Arumugam, R.K. Gupta, Phys. Rev. C 80, 064602 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.80. 064602. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.80.064602
- O. Hall, T. Davinson, A. Estrade, J. Liu, G. Lorusso, F. Montes, S. Nishimura, V.H. Phong, P.J. Woods, J. Agramunt, D.S. Ahn, A. Algora, J.M. Allmond, H. Baba, S. Bae, N.T. Brewer, C.G. Bruno, R. Caballero-Folch, F. Calviño, P.J. Coleman-Smith, G. Cortes, I. Dillmann, C. Domingo-Pardo, A. Fijalkowska, N. Fukuda, S. Go, C.J. Griffin, R. Grzywacz, J. Ha, L.J. Harkness-Brennan, T. Isobe, D. Kahl, L.H. Khiem, G.G. Kiss, A. Korgul, S. Kubono, M. Labiche, I. Lazarus, J. Liang, Z. Liu, K. Matsui, K. Miernik, B. Moon, A.I. Morales, P. Morrall, M.R. Mumpower, N. Nepal, R.D. Page, M. Piersa, V.F.E. Pucknell, B.C. Rasco, B. Rubio, K.P. Rykaczewski, H. Sakurai, Y. Shimizu, D.W. Stracener, T. Sumikama, H. Suzuki, J.L. Tain, H. Takeda, A. Tarifeño-Saldivia, A. Tolosa-Delgado, M. Wolińska-Cichocka, R. Yokoyama, Physics Letters B **816**, 136266 (2021). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136266
- 281. E.M. Ramirez, D. Ackermann, K. Blaum, M. Block, C. Droese, C.E. Düllmann, M. Dworschak, M. Eibach, S. Eliseev, E. Haettner, F. Herfurth, F.P. Heßberger, S. Hofmann, J. Ketelaer, G. Marx, M. Mazzocco, D. Nesterenko, Y.N. Novikov, W.R. Plaß, D. Rodríguez, C. Scheidenberger, L. Schweikhard, P.G. Thirolf, C. Weber, Science **337**(6099), 1207 (2012). https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1225636. https://www.science.org/doi/abs/ 10.1126/science.1225636
- 282. Y. Ito, P. Schury, M. Wada, F. Arai, H. Haba, Y. Hirayama, S. Ishizawa, D. Kaji, S. Kimura, H. Koura, M. MacCormick, H. Miyatake, J.Y. Moon, K. Morimoto, K. Morita, M. Mukai, I. Murray, T. Niwase, K. Okada, A. Ozawa, M. Rosenbusch, A. Takamine, T. Tanaka, Y.X. Watanabe, H. Wollnik, S. Yamaki, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 152501 (2018). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.152501. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.152501

- 283. T. Huang, D. Seweryniak, B.B. Back, P.C. Bender, M.P. Carpenter, P. Chowdhury, R.M. Clark, P.A. Copp, X.T. He, R.D. Herzberg, D.E.M. Hoff, H. Jayatissa, T.L. Khoo, F.G. Kondev, G. Morgan, C. Morse, A. Korichi, T. Lauritsen, C. Müller-Gatermann, D.H. Potterveld, W. Reviol, A.M. Rogers, S. Saha, G. Savard, K. Sharma, S. Stolze, S. Waniganeththi, G.L. Wilson, J. Wu, Y.F. Xu, S. Zhu, Phys. Rev. C 106, L061301 (2022). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.106.L061301. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevC.106.L061301
- 284. O. Kaleja, B. Andelić, O. Bezrodnova, K. Blaum, M. Block, S. Chenmarev, P. Chhetri, C. Droese, C.E. Düllmann, M. Eibach, S. Eliseev, J. Even, P. Filianin, F. Giacoppo, S. Götz, Y. Gusev, M.J. Gutiérrez, F.P. Heßberger, N. Kalantar-Nayestanaki, J.J.W. van de Laar, M. Laatiaoui, S. Lohse, N. Martynova, E. Minaya Ramirez, A.K. Mistry, T. Murböck, Y. Novikov, S. Raeder, D. Rodríguez, F. Schneider, L. Schweikhard, P.G. Thirolf, A. Yakushev, Phys. Rev. C 106, 054325 (2022). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.106.054325. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.106.054325
- A. Parkhomenko, A. Sobiczewski, Acta Physica Polonica B 35(10), 2447 (2004)
- G.G. Adamian, N.V. Antonenko, S.N. Kuklin, W. Scheid, Phys. Rev. C 82(5), 054304 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC. 82.054304
- P. Jachimowicz, M. Kowal, J. Skalski, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 138, 101393 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adt. 2020.101393. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0092640X20300504
- K. Yoshida, Phys. Rev. C 104, 024318 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.024318. https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevC.104.024318
- P. Moller, J.R. Nix, Journal of Physics G Nuclear Physics 20(11), 1681 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/20/11/003
- 290. S. Ćwiok, W. Nazarewicz, P.H. Heenen, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83(6), 1108 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.1108
- 291. P.R. Chowdhury, C. Samanta, D.N. Basu, Phys. Rev. C 77(4), 044603 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.77.044603
- 292. H. Koura, Progress of Theoretical and Experimental Physics 2014(11) (2014). https://doi.org/10.1093/ptep/ptu148. https:// doi.org/10.1093/ptep/ptu148. 113D02
- 293. C. Ishizuka, K. Tsubakihara, S. Chiba, Y. Sekiguchi, S. Wanajo, in European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 260 (2022), European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 260, p. 11013. https://doi. org/10.1051/epjconf/202226011013
- 294. R. Surman, J. Engel, J.R. Bennett, B.S. Meyer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79(10), 1809 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 79.1809
- 295. A. Arcones, G. Martínez-Pinedo, Phys. Rev. C 83(4), 045809 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.83.045809
- 296. M.R. Mumpower, G.C. McLaughlin, R. Surman, A.W. Steiner, ApJ 833(2), 282 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/833/ 2/282
- 297. K.L. Kratz, J.P. Bitouzet, F.K. Thielemann, P. Moeller, B. Pfeiffer, ApJ 403, 216 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1086/172196
- 298. Y. Qian, G. Wasserburg, Phys. Rep. 442(1–6), 237 (2007). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2007.02.006
- 299. M. Eichler, A. Arcones, R. Käppeli, O. Korobkin, M. Liebendörfer, G. Martinez-Pinedo, I. Panov, T. Rauscher, S. Rosswog, F. Thielemann, C. Winteler, Journal of Physics: Conference Series 665, 012054 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/665/1/ 012054
- 300. M. Eichler, W. Sayar, A. Arcones, T. Rauscher, The Astrophysical Journal 879(1), 47 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ ab24cf. https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ab24cf

- 301. J. Lippuner, L.F. Roberts, ApJ 815(2), 82 (2015). https://doi.org/ 10.1088/0004-637X/815/2/82
- 302. T. Ohnishi, Progress of Theoretical Physics **47**(3), 845 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1143/PTP.47.845
- 303. D.N. Schramm, E.O. Fiset, ApJ 180, 551 (1973). https://doi.org/ 10.1086/151984
- E.E. Berlovich, Akademiia Nauk SSSR Izvestiia Seriia Fizicheskaia 38, 1786 (1974)
- 305. G.J. Mathews, J. Viola, V.?., Nature **261**, 382 (1976). https://doi. org/10.1038/261382a0
- 306. O. Korobkin, S. Rosswog, A. Arcones, C. Winteler, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society **426**(3), 1940 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.21859.x.https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.21859.x
- 307. R. Surman, G.C. McLaughlin, W.R. Hix, The Astrophysical Journal 643(2), 1057 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1086/501116. https://doi.org/10.1086/501116
- 308. R. Surman, G.C. McLaughlin, M. Ruffert, H.T. Janka, W.R. Hix, The Astrophysical Journal 679(2), L117 (2008). https://doi.org/ 10.1086/589507. https://doi.org/10.1086/589507
- O. Just, A. Bauswein, R.A. Pulpillo, S. Goriely, H.T. Janka, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 448(1), 541 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stv009. https://doi.org/10. 1093/mnras/stv009
- 310. J.M. Miller, B.R. Ryan, J.C. Dolence, A. Burrows, C.J. Fontes, C.L. Fryer, O. Korobkin, J. Lippuner, M.R. Mumpower, R.T. Wollaeger, Phys. Rev. D 100(2), 023008 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.100.023008
- 311. F. Foucart, M.D. Duez, F. Hebert, L.E. Kidder, H.P. Pfeiffer, M.A. Scheel, ApJL 902(1), L27 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 2041-8213/abbb87
- 312. G.C. McLaughlin, G.M. Fuller, ApJ 464, L143 (1996). https:// doi.org/10.1086/310109
- 313. R. Surman, G.C. McLaughlin, ApJ 618(1), 397 (2005). https:// doi.org/10.1086/425901
- 314. K. Patton, J. Engel, G.C. McLaughlin, N. Schunck, Phys. Rev. C 86, 024612 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.86. 024612. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.86.024612
- 315. Y.L. Zhu, A. Perego, G.C. McLaughlin, Phys. Rev. D 94, 105006 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.105006. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.105006
- D. Radice, F. Galeazzi, J. Lippuner, L.F. Roberts, C.D. Ott, L. Rezzolla, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 460(3), 3255 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stw1227. https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stw1227
- 317. L. Bovard, D. Martin, F. Guercilena, A. Arcones, L. Rezzolla, O. Korobkin, Phys. Rev. D 96(12), 124005 (2017). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.124005
- D. Radice, A. Perego, K. Hotokezaka, S. Bernuzzi, S.A. Fromm, L.F. Roberts, The Astrophysical Journal 869(2), L35 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/aaf053. https://doi. org/10.3847/2041-8213/aaf053
- 319. D. Radice, A. Perego, K. Hotokezaka, S.A. Fromm, S. Bernuzzi, L.F. Roberts, The Astrophysical Journal 869(2), 130 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aaf054. https://doi.org/10. 3847/1538-4357/aaf054
- K. Hotokezaka, T. Piran, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 450(2), 1430 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/ stv620. https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stv620
- 321. N. Nishimura, S. Wanajo, Y. Sekiguchi, K. Kiuchi, K. Kyutoku, M. Shibata, Journal of Physics: Conference Series 665, 012059 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/665/1/ 012059. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/665/1/012059
- 322. L.F. Roberts, J. Lippuner, M.D. Duez, J.A. Faber, F. Foucart, J. Lombardi, James C., S. Ning, C.D. Ott, M. Ponce, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 464(4), 3907 (2016).

https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stw2622. https://doi.org/10.1093/ mnras/stw2622

- 323. F. Foucart, Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences 7 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3389/fspas.2020.00046. https://www. frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fspas.2020.00046
- 324. G. Fragione, The Astrophysical Journal Letters 923(1), L2 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ac3bcd. https://doi. org/10.3847/2041-8213/ac3bcd
- 325. A.I. MacFadyen, S.E. Woosley, ApJ 524(1), 262 (1999). https:// doi.org/10.1086/307790
- 326. A.I. MacFadyen, S.E. Woosley, A. Heger, ApJ 550(1), 410 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1086/319698
- 327. R. Surman, G.C. McLaughlin, N. Sabbatino, The Astrophysical Journal 743(2), 155 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637x/ 743/2/155.https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637x/743/2/155
- 328. K. Nakamura, T. Kajino, G.J. Mathews, S. Sato, S. Harikae, A&A 582, A34 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/201526110
- 329. D.M. Siegel, J. Barnes, B.D. Metzger, Nature **569**(7755), 241 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1136-0
- 330. J.M. Miller, T.M. Sprouse, C.L. Fryer, B.R. Ryan, J.C. Dolence, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, ApJ 902(1), 66 (2020). https://doi. org/10.3847/1538-4357/abb4e3
- 331. M. Lugaro, U. Ott, A. Kereszturi, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 102, 1 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp. 2018.05.002. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0146641018300358
- 332. X. Wang, A.M. Clark, J. Ellis, A.F. Ertel, B.D. Fields, B.J. Fry, Z. Liu, J.A. Miller, R. Surman, ApJ 923(2), 219 (2021). https://doi. org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac2d90
- 333. S. Wanajo, Y. Ishimaru, Nuclear Physics A 777, 676 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.10.012. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947405011814. Special Isseu on Nuclear Astrophysics
- B. Wehmeyer, M. Pignatari, F.K. Thielemann, MNRAS 452(2), 1970 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stv1352
- 335. B. Côté, C.L. Fryer, K. Belczynski, O. Korobkin, M. Chruślińska, N. Vassh, M.R. Mumpower, J. Lippuner, T.M. Sprouse, R. Surman, R. Wollaeger, The Astrophysical Journal 855(2), 99 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aaad67. https://doi. org/10.3847/1538-4357/aaad67
- 336. T. Ojima, Y. Ishimaru, S. Wanajo, N. Prantzos, P. François, The Astrophysical Journal 865(2), 87 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 1538-4357/aada11. https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aada11
- 337. P.B. Price, R.M. Walker, Nature **196**(4856), 732 (1962). https:// doi.org/10.1038/196732a0
- 338. E.C.H. Silk, R.S. Barnes, Philosophical Magazine 4(44), 970 (1959)
- 339. M. Maurette, P. Pellas, R.M. Walker, Nature 204(4961), 821 (1964). https://doi.org/10.1038/204821a0
- 340. R.L. Fleischer, P.B. Price, R.M. Walker, J. Geophys. Res. 70(11), 2703 (1965). https://doi.org/10.1029/JZ070i011p02703
- 341. R.L. Fleischer, P.B. Price, R.M. Walker, M. Maurette, G. Morgan, J. Geophys. Res. 72, 355 (1967). https://doi.org/10.1029/ JZ072i001p00355
- 342. R.L. Fleischer, P.B. Price, R.M. Walker, M. Maurette, J. Geophys. Res. 72, 331 (1967). https://doi.org/10.1029/JZ072i001p00331
- 343. V.L. Ginzburg, E.L. Feinberg, N.G. Polukhina, N.I. Starkov, V.A. Tsarev, Physics - Doklady **50**(6), 283 (2005). https://doi.org/10. 1134/1.1958116
- 344. A.B. Aleksandrov, A.V. Bagulya, L.A. Goncharova, A.I. Ivliev, G.V. Kalinina, L.L. Kashkarov, N.S. Konovalova, N.G. Polukhina, A.S. Rusetskii, N.I. Starkov, V.A. Tsarev, M.S. Wladimirov, in 39th Annual Lunar and Planetary Science Conference (2008), Lunar and Planetary Science Conference, p. 1064
- 345. A.V. Bagulya, L.L. Kashkarov, N.S. Konovalova, N.M. Okat'eva, N.G. Polukhina, N.I. Starkov, Soviet. Journal of Experimental

and Theoretical Physics Letters **97**(12), 708 (2013). https://doi. org/10.1134/S0021364013120047

- 346. V. Alexeev, A. Bagulya, M. Chernyavsky, A. Gippius, L. Goncharova, S. Gorbunov, M. Gorshenkov, G. Kalinina, N. Konovalova, J. Liu, P. Zhai, N. Okatyeva, T. Pavlova, N. Polukhina, N. Starkov, T. Naing Soe, C. Trautmann, E. Savchenko, T. Shchedrina, A. Vasiliev, A. Volkov, ApJ 829(2), 120 (2016). https://doi. org/10.3847/0004-637X/829/2/120
- 347. A. Alexandrov, V. Alexeev, A. Bagulya, A. Dashkina, M. Chernyavsky, A. Gippius, L. Goncharova, S. Gorbunov, V. Grachev, G. Kalinina, N. Konovalova, N. Okateva, T. Pavlova, N. Polukhina, R. Rymzhanov, N. Starkov, T.N. Soe, T. Shchedrina, A. Volkov. Natural superheavy nuclei in astrophysical data (2019)
- 348. A. Alexandrov, P. Babaev, A. Bagulya, M. Chernyavsky, A. Gippius, S. Gorbunov, V. Grachev, G. Kalinina, N. Konovalova, N. Okateva, N. Polukhina, R. Rymzhanov, E. Starkova, N. Starkov, T. Naing Soe, T. Shchedrina, A. Volkov, R. Voronkov, Advances in Space Research (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr. 2022.06.055. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0273117722005403
- 349. C. Stirling, A. Halliday, D. Porcelli, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 69(4), 1059 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gca.2004.06.034. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0016703704005228
- 350. R.H. Dicke, ApJ 155, 123 (1969). https://doi.org/10.1086/149854
- 351. J.W. Truran, Proceedings of the National Academy of Science 95(1), 18 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.1.18
- 352. J.J. Cowan, B. Pfeiffer, K.L. Kratz, F.K. Thielemann, C. Sneden, S. Burles, D. Tytler, T.C. Beers, ApJ **521**(1), 194 (1999). https:// doi.org/10.1086/307512
- 353. S. Goriely, B. Clerbaux, A&A 346, 798 (1999)
- 354. S. Wanajo, N. Itoh, Y. Ishimaru, S. Nozawa, T.C. Beers, The Astrophysical Journal 577(2), 853 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1086/ 342230. https://doi.org/10.1086/342230
- 355. K. Otsuki, G.J. Mathews, T. Kajino, Nuclear Physics A 718, 677 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(03)00886-8. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0375947403008868
- 356. G. Brennecka, S. Weyer, M. Wadhwa, P. Janney, J. Zipfel, A. Anbar, Science **327**(5964), 449 (2010). https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1180871. https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10. 1126/science.1180871
- 357. M. Tatsumoto, T. Shimamura, Nature 286(5769), 118 (1980)
- 358. F.L. Tissot, N. Dauphas, L. Grossman, Science Advances 2(3), e1501400 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1501400. https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/sciadv.1501400
- 359. B. Côté, M. Eichler, A. Yagüe López, N. Vassh, M.R. Mumpower, B. Világos, B. Soós, A. Arcones, T.M. Sprouse, R. Surman, M. Pignatari, M.K. Pető, B. Wehmeyer, T. Rauscher, M. Lugaro, Science **371**(6532), 945 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aba1111
- 360. C.R. Cowley, M. Frey, ApJ 346, 1030 (1989). https://doi.org/10. 1086/168085
- 361. L. Mashonkina, T. Gehren, I. Bikmaev, A&A 343, 519 (1999)
- 362. I.U. Roederer, J.E. Lawler, C. Sneden, J.J. Cowan, J.S. Sobeck, C.A. Pilachowski, ApJ 675(1), 723 (2008). https://doi.org/10. 1086/526452
- 363. J.J. Cowan, C. Sneden, S. Burles, I.I. Ivans, T.C. Beers, J.W. Truran, J.E. Lawler, F. Primas, G.M. Fuller, B. Pfeiffer, K.L. Kratz, ApJ 572(2), 861 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1086/340347
- 364. S. Honda, W. Aoki, T. Kajino, H. Ando, T.C. Beers, H. Izumiura, K. Sadakane, M. Takada-Hidai, ApJ 607(1), 474 (2004). https:// doi.org/10.1086/383406
- 365. A. Frebel, N. Christlieb, J.E. Norris, C. Thom, T.C. Beers, J. Rhee, ApJ 660(2), L117 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1086/518122

- 366. V.M. Placco, E.M. Holmbeck, A. Frebel, T.C. Beers, R.A. Surman, A.P. Ji, R. Ezzeddine, S.D. Points, C.C. Kaleida, T.T. Hansen, C.M. Sakari, A.R. Casey, ApJ 844(1), 18 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aa78ef
- 367. E.M. Holmbeck, T.C. Beers, I.U. Roederer, V.M. Placco, T.T. Hansen, C.M. Sakari, C. Sneden, C. Liu, Y.S. Lee, J.J. Cowan, A. Frebel, ApJ 859(2), L24 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 2041-8213/aac722
- 368. R. Botelho, A.d.C. Milone, J. Meléndez, M. Bedell, L. Spina, M. Asplund, L. dos Santos, J. Bean, I. Ramírez, D. Yong, S. Dreizler, A. Alves-Brito, J. Yana Galarza, MNRAS 482(2), 1690 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/sty2791
- 369. F. Nimmo, J. Primack, S.M. Faber, E. Ramirez-Ruiz, M. Safarzadeh, ApJ 903(2), L37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/abc251
- A. Abohalima, A. Frebel, ApJS 238(2), 36 (2018). https://doi.org/ 10.3847/1538-4365/aadfe9
- 371. W. Aoki, S. Honda, K. Sadakane, N. Arimoto, PASJ 59, L15 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1093/pasj/59.3.L15
- 372. A.P. Ji, A. Frebel, ApJ 856(2), 138 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 3847/1538-4357/aab14a
- 373. D.K. Lai, G.H. Smith, M. Bolte, J.A. Johnson, S. Lucatello, R.P. Kraft, C. Sneden, AJ **141**(2), 62 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0004-6256/141/2/62
- 374. E.F. del Peloso, L. da Silva, G.F. Porto de Mello, A&A 434(1), 275 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361:20047060
- 375. C.T. Unterborn, J.A. Johnson, W.R. Panero, ApJ 806(1), 139 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/806/1/139
- 376. C. Siqueira Mello, M. Spite, B. Barbuy, F. Spite, E. Caffau, V. Hill, S. Wanajo, F. Primas, B. Plez, R. Cayrel, J. Andersen, B. Nordström, C. Sneden, T.C. Beers, P. Bonifacio, P. François, P. Molaro, A&A 550, A122 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1051/ 0004-6361/201219949
- 377. J.H. Wise, M.J. Turk, M.L. Norman, T. Abel, ApJ 745(1), 50 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/745/1/50
- 378. I.U. Roederer, AJ 145(1), 26 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0004-6256/145/1/26
- 379. C. Sneden, J.J. Cowan, J.E. Lawler, I.I. Ivans, S. Burles, T.C. Beers, F. Primas, V. Hill, J.W. Truran, G.M. Fuller, B. Pfeiffer, K.L. Kratz, ApJ **591**(2), 936 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1086/375491
- 380. J.J. Cowan, C. Sneden, T.C. Beers, J.E. Lawler, J. Simmerer, J.W. Truran, F. Primas, J. Collier, S. Burles, ApJ 627(1), 238 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1086/429952
- 381. I.U. Roederer, J.E. Lawler, J.S. Sobeck, T.C. Beers, J.J. Cowan, A. Frebel, I.I. Ivans, H. Schatz, C. Sneden, I.B. Thompson, ApJS 203(2), 27 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1088/0067-0049/203/2/27
- I.U. Roederer, J.E. Lawler, ApJ 750(1), 76 (2012). https://doi.org/ 10.1088/0004-637X/750/1/76
- 383. R.C. Peterson, B. Barbuy, M. Spite, A&A 638, A64 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/202037689
- 384. D.K. Lai, M. Bolte, J.A. Johnson, S. Lucatello, A. Heger, S.E. Woosley, ApJ 681(2), 1524 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1086/ 588811
- 385. L. Mashonkina, N. Christlieb, K. Eriksson, A&A 569, A43 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/201424017
- V. Hill, N. Christlieb, T.C. Beers, P.S. Barklem, K.L. Kratz, B. Nordström, B. Pfeiffer, K. Farouqi, A&A 607, A91 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/201629092
- 387. E.M. Holmbeck, A. Frebel, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, T.M. Sprouse, R. Surman, ApJ 881(1), 5 (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.3847/1538-4357/ab2a01
- D. Kasen, N.R. Badnell, J. Barnes, ApJ 774(1), 25 (2013). https:// doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/774/1/25
- O. Korobkin, A.M. Hungerford, C.L. Fryer, M.R. Mumpower, G.W. Misch, T.M. Sprouse, J. Lippuner, R. Surman, A.J. Couture,

- 390. G.W. Misch, T.M. Sprouse, M.R. Mumpower, ApJ **913**(1), L2 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/abfb74
- 391. F. Timmes, C. Fryer, F. Timmes, A.L. Hungerford, A. Couture, F. Adams, W. Aoki, A. Arcones, D. Arnett, K. Auchettl, M. Avila, C. Badenes, E. Baron, A. Bauswein, J. Beacom, J. Blackmon, S. Blondin, P. Bloser, S. Boggs, A. Boss, T. Brandt, E. Bravo, E. Brown, P. Brown, S. Bruenn, C. Budtz-Jørgensen, E. Burns, A. Calder, R. Caputo, A. Champagne, R. Chevalier, A. Chieffi, K. Chipps, D. Cinabro, O. Clarkson, D. Clayton, A. Coc, D. Connolly, C. Conroy, B. Côté, S. Couch, N. Dauphas, R.J. deBoer, C. Deibel, P. Denisenkov, S. Desch, L. Dessart, R. Diehl, C. Doherty, I. Domínguez, S. Dong, V. Dwarkadas, D. Fan, B. Fields, C. Fields, A. Filippenko, R. Fisher, F. Foucart, C. Fransson, C. Fröhlich, G. Fuller, B. Gibson, V. Giryanskaya, J. Görres, S. Goriely, S. Grebenev, B. Grefenstette, E. Grohs, J. Guillochon, A. Harpole, C. Harris, J.A. Harris, F. Harrison, D. Hartmann, M.a. Hashimoto, A. Heger, M. Hernanz, F. Herwig, R. Hirschi, R.W. Hix, P. Höflich, R. Hoffman, C. Holcomb, E. Hsiao, C. Iliadis, A. Janiuk, T. Janka, A. Jerkstrand, L. Johns, S. Jones, J. José, T. Kajino, A. Karakas, P. Karpov, D. Kasen, C. Kierans, M. Kippen, O. Korobkin, C. Kobayashi, C. Kozma, S. Krot, P. Kumar, I. Kuvvetli, A. Laird, J.M. Laming, J. Larsson, J. Lattanzio, J. Lattimer, M. Leising, A. Lennarz, E. Lentz, M. Limongi, J. Lippuner, E. Livne, N. Lloyd-Ronning, R. Longland, L.A. Lopez, M. Lugaro, A. Lutovinov, K. Madsen, C. Malone, F. Matteucci, J. McEnery, Z. Meisel, B. Messer, B. Metzger, B. Meyer, G. Meynet, A. Mezzacappa, J. Miller, R. Miller, P. Milne, W. Misch, L. Mitchell, P. Mösta, Y. Motizuki, B. Müller, M. Mumpower, J. Murphy, S. Nagataki, E. Nakar, K. Nomoto, P. Nugent, F. Nunes, B. O'Shea, U. Oberlack, S. Pain, L. Parker, A. Perego, M. Pignatari, G.M. Pinedo, T. Plewa, D. Poznanski, W. Priedhorsky, B. Pritychenko, D. Radice, E. Ramirez-Ruiz, T. Rauscher, S. Reddy, E. Rehm, R. Reifarth, D. Richman, P. Ricker, N. Rijal, L. Roberts, F. Röpke, S. Rosswog, A.J. Ruiter, C. Ruiz, D.W. Savin, H. Schatz, D. Schneider, J. Schwab, I. Seitenzahl, K. Shen, T. Siegert, S. Sim, D. Smith, K. Smith, M. Smith, J. Sollerman, T. Sprouse, A. Spyrou, S. Starrfield, A. Steiner, A.W. Strong, T. Sukhbold, N. Suntzeff, R. Surman, T. Tanimori, L.S. The, F.K. Thielemann, A. Tolstov, N. Tominaga, J. Tomsick, D. Townsley, P. Tsintari, S. Tsygankov, D. Vartanyan, T. Venters, T. Vestrand, J. Vink, R. Waldman, L. Wang, X. Wang, M. Warren, C. West, J.C. Wheeler, M. Wiescher, C. Winkler, L. Winter, B. Wolf, R. Woolf, S. Woosley, J. Wu, C. Wrede, S. Yamada, P. Young, R. Zegers, M. Zingale, S. Portegies Zwart, BAAS 51(3), 2(2019)
- 392. S. Wanajo, Y. Sekiguchi, N. Nishimura, K. Kiuchi, K. Kyutoku, M. Shibata, ApJ **789**(2), L39 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 2041-8205/789/2/L39
- 393. Y.L. Zhu, K.A. Lund, J. Barnes, T.M. Sprouse, N. Vassh, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, ApJ **906**(2), 94 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/abc69e
- 394. J. Barnes, Y.L. Zhu, K.A. Lund, T.M. Sprouse, N. Vassh, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, ApJ **918**(2), 44 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac0aec
- 395. Y. Terada, Y. Miwa, H. Ohsumi, S. ichiro Fujimoto, S. Katsuda, A. Bamba, R. Yamazaki, The Astrophysical Journal 933(1), 111 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac721f. https:// doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ac721f
- 396. I.V. Panov, Physics of Atomic Nuclei 81(1), 68 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.1134/S1063778818010167
- 397. S. Shibagaki, T. Kajino, G.J. Mathews, S. Chiba, in Exotic Nuclei and Nuclear, Particle Astrophysics (V) From Nuclei to Stars: Carpathian Summer School of Physics, American Institute of Physics Conference Series, vol. 1645 (2015). American Institute

of Physics Conference Series **1645**, 402–405 (2014). https://doi. org/10.1063/1.4909610

- 398. N. Vassh, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, ApJ 907(2), 98 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/abd035
- 399. T.M. Sprouse, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, Phys. Rev. C 104(1), 015803 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.015803
- 400. B.D. Metzger, Living Reviews in Relativity **23**(1), 1 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s41114-019-0024-0
- 401. D. Watson, C.J. Hansen, J. Selsing, A. Koch, D.B. Malesani, A.C. Andersen, J.P.U. Fynbo, A. Arcones, A. Bauswein, S. Covino, A. Grado, K.E. Heintz, L. Hunt, C. Kouveliotou, G. Leloudas, A.J. Levan, P. Mazzali, E. Pian, Nature 574(7779), 497 (2019). https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1676-3
- 402. G.R. Burbidge, F. Hoyle, E.M. Burbidge, R.F. Christy, W.A. Fowler, Physical Review 103(5), 1145 (1956). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRev.103.1145
- 403. P. Ferruit, P. Jakobsen, G. Giardino, T. Rawle, C. Alves de Oliveira, S. Arribas, T.L. Beck, S. Birkmann, T. Böker, A.J. Bunker, S. Chariot, G. de Marchi, M. Franx, A. Henry, D. Karakla, S.A. Kassin, N. Kumari, M. López-Caniego, N. Lützgendorf, R. Maiolino, E. Manjavacas, A. Marston, S.H. Moseley, J. Muzerolle, N. Pirzkal, B. Rauscher, H.W. Rix, E. Sabbi, M. Sirianni, M. te Plate, J. Valenti, C.J. Willott, P. Zeidler, A&A 661, A81 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/202142673
- 404. B.P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T.D. Abbott, F. Acernese, K. Ackley, C. Adams, T. Adams, P. Addesso, R.X. Adhikari, V.B. Adya, C. Affeldt, M. Afrough, B. Agarwal, M. Agathos, K. Agatsuma, N. Aggarwal, O.D. Aguiar, L. Aiello, A. Ain, P. Ajith, B. Allen, G. Allen, A. Allocca, P.A. Altin, A. Amato, A. Ananyeva, S.B. Anderson, W.G. Anderson, S.V. Angelova, S. Antier, S. Appert, K. Arai, M.C. Araya, J.S. Areeda, N. Arnaud, K.G. Arun, S. Ascenzi, G. Ashton, M. Ast, S.M. Aston, P. Astone, D.V. Atallah, P. Aufmuth, C. Aulbert, K. AultONeal, C. Austin, A. Avila-Alvarez, S. Babak, P. Bacon, M.K.M. Bader, S. Bae, M. Bailes, P.T. Baker, F. Baldaccini, G. Ballardin, S.W. Ballmer, S. Banagiri, J.C. Barayoga, S.E. Barclay, B.C. Barish, D. Barker, K. Barkett, F. Barone, B. Barr, L. Barsotti, M. Barsuglia, D. Barta, S.D. Barthelmy, J. Bartlett, I. Bartos, R. Bassiri, A. Basti, J.C. Batch, M. Bawaj, J.C. Bayley, M. Bazzan, B. Bécsy, C. Beer, M. Bejger, I. Belahcene, A.S. Bell, B.K. Berger, G. Bergmann, S. Bernuzzi, J.J. Bero, C.P.L. Berry, D. Bersanetti, A. Bertolini, J. Betzwieser, S. Bhagwat, R. Bhandare, I.A. Bilenko, G. Billingsley, C.R. Billman, J. Birch, R. Birney, O. Birnholtz, S. Biscans, S. Biscoveanu, A. Bisht, M. Bitossi, C. Biwer, M.A. Bizouard, J.K. Blackburn, J. Blackman, C.D. Blair, D.G. Blair, R.M. Blair, S. Bloemen, O. Bock, N. Bode, M. Boer, G. Bogaert, A. Bohe, F. Bondu, E. Bonilla, R. Bonnand, B.A. Boom, R. Bork, V. Boschi, S. Bose, K. Bossie, Y. Bouffanais, A. Bozzi, C. Bradaschia, P.R. Brady, M. Branchesi, J.E. Brau, T. Briant, A. Brillet, M. Brinkmann, V. Brisson, P. Brockill, J.E. Broida, A.F. Brooks, D.A. Brown, D.D. Brown, S. Brunett, C.C. Buchanan, A. Buikema, T. Bulik, H.J. Bulten, A. Buonanno, D. Buskulic, C. Buy, R.L. Byer, M. Cabero, L. Cadonati, G. Cagnoli, C. Cahillane, J. Calderón Bustillo, T.A. Callister, E. Calloni, J.B. Camp, M. Canepa, P. Canizares, K.C. Cannon, H. Cao, J. Cao, C.D. Capano, E. Capocasa, F. Carbognani, S. Caride, M.F. Carney, G. Carullo, J. Casanueva Diaz, C. Casentini, S. Caudill, M. Cavaglià, F. Cavalier, R. Cavalieri, G. Cella, C.B. Cepeda, P. Cerdá-Durán, G. Cerretani, E. Cesarini, S.J. Chamberlin, M. Chan, S. Chao, P. Charlton, E. Chase, E. Chassande-Mottin, D. Chatterjee, K. Chatziioannou, B.D. Cheeseboro, H.Y. Chen, X. Chen, Y. Chen, H.P. Cheng, H. Chia, A. Chincarini, A. Chiummo, T. Chmiel, H.S. Cho, M. Cho, J.H. Chow, N. Christensen, Q. Chu, A.J.K. Chua, S. Chua, A.K.W. Chung, S. Chung, G. Ciani, R. Ciolfi, C.E. Cirelli, A. Cirone, F. Clara, J.A. Clark, P. Clearwater, F. Cleva, C. Coc-

chieri, E. Coccia, P.F. Cohadon, D. Cohen, A. Colla, C.G. Collette, L.R. Cominsky, M. Constancio, L. Conti, S.J. Cooper, P. Corban, T.R. Corbitt, I. Cordero-Carrión, K.R. Corley, N. Cornish, A. Corsi, S. Cortese, C.A. Costa, M.W. Coughlin, S.B. Coughlin, J.P. Coulon, S.T. Countryman, P. Couvares, P.B. Covas, E.E. Cowan, D.M. Coward, M.J. Cowart, D.C. Coyne, R. Coyne, J.D.E. Creighton, T.D. Creighton, J. Cripe, S.G. Crowder, T.J. Cullen, A. Cumming, L. Cunningham, E. Cuoco, T. Dal Canton, G. Dálya, S.L. Danilishin, S. D'Antonio, K. Danzmann, A. Dasgupta, C.F. Da Silva Costa, V. Dattilo, I. Dave, M. Davier, D. Davis, E.J. Daw, B. Day, S. De, D. DeBra, J. Degallaix, M. De Laurentis, S. Deléglise, W. Del Pozzo, N. Demos, T. Denker, T. Dent, R. De Pietri, V. Dergachev, R. De Rosa, R.T. DeRosa, C. De Rossi, R. DeSalvo, O. de Varona, J. Devenson, S. Dhurandhar, M.C. Díaz, T. Dietrich, L. Di Fiore, M. Di Giovanni, T. Di Girolamo, A. Di Lieto, S. Di Pace, I. Di Palma, F. Di Renzo, Z. Doctor, V. Dolique, F. Donovan, K.L. Dooley, S. Doravari, I. Dorrington, R. Douglas, M. Dovale Álvarez, T.P. Downes, M. Drago, C. Dreissigacker, J.C. Driggers, Z. Du, M. Ducrot, R. Dudi, P. Dupej, S.E. Dwyer, T.B. Edo, M.C. Edwards, A. Effler, H.B. Eggenstein, P. Ehrens, J. Eichholz, S.S. Eikenberry, R.A. Eisenstein, R.C. Essick, D. Estevez, Z.B. Etienne, T. Etzel, M. Evans, T.M. Evans, M. Factourovich, V. Fafone, H. Fair, S. Fairhurst, X. Fan, S. Farinon, B. Farr, W.M. Farr, E.J. Fauchon-Jones, M. Favata, M. Fays, C. Fee, H. Fehrmann, J. Feicht, M.M. Fejer, A. Fernandez-Galiana, I. Ferrante, E.C. Ferreira, F. Ferrini, F. Fidecaro, D. Finstad, I. Fiori, D. Fiorucci, M. Fishbach, R.P. Fisher, M. Fitz-Axen, R. Flaminio, M. Fletcher, H. Fong, J.A. Font, P.W.F. Forsyth, S.S. Forsyth, J.D. Fournier, S. Frasca, F. Frasconi, Z. Frei, A. Freise, R. Frey, V. Frey, E.M. Fries, P. Fritschel, V.V. Frolov, P. Fulda, M. Fyffe, H. Gabbard, B.U. Gadre, S.M. Gaebel, J.R. Gair, L. Gammaitoni, M.R. Ganija, S.G. Gaonkar, C. Garcia-Quiros, F. Garufi, B. Gateley, S. Gaudio, G. Gaur, V. Gayathri, N. Gehrels, G. Gemme, E. Genin, A. Gennai, D. George, J. George, L. Gergely, V. Germain, S. Ghonge, A. Ghosh, A. Ghosh, S. Ghosh, J.A. Giaime, K.D. Giardina, A. Giazotto, K. Gill, L. Glover, E. Goetz, R. Goetz, S. Gomes, B. Goncharov, G. González, J.M. Gonzalez Castro, A. Gopakumar, M.L. Gorodetsky, S.E. Gossan, M. Gosselin, R. Gouaty, A. Grado, C. Graef, M. Granata, A. Grant, S. Gras, C. Gray, G. Greco, A.C. Green, E.M. Gretarsson, P. Groot, H. Grote, S. Grunewald, P. Gruning, G.M. Guidi, X. Guo, A. Gupta, M.K. Gupta, K.E. Gushwa, E.K. Gustafson, R. Gustafson, O. Halim, B.R. Hall, E.D. Hall, E.Z. Hamilton, G. Hammond, M. Haney, M.M. Hanke, J. Hanks, C. Hanna, M.D. Hannam, O.A. Hannuksela, J. Hanson, T. Hardwick, J. Harms, G.M. Harry, I.W. Harry, M.J. Hart, C.J. Haster, K. Haughian, J. Healy, A. Heidmann, M.C. Heintze, H. Heitmann, P. Hello, G. Hemming, M. Hendry, I.S. Heng, J. Hennig, A.W. Heptonstall, M. Heurs, S. Hild, T. Hinderer, W.C.G. Ho, D. Hoak, D. Hofman, K. Holt, D.E. Holz, P. Hopkins, C. Horst, J. Hough, E.A. Houston, E.J. Howell, A. Hreibi, Y.M. Hu, E.A. Huerta, D. Huet, B. Hughey, S. Husa, S.H. Huttner, T. Huynh-Dinh, N. Indik, R. Inta, G. Intini, H.N. Isa, J.M. Isac, M. Isi, B.R. Iyer, K. Izumi, T. Jacqmin, K. Jani, P. Jaranowski, S. Jawahar, F. Jiménez-Forteza, W.W. Johnson, N.K. Johnson-McDaniel, D.I. Jones, R. Jones, R.J.G. Jonker, L. Ju, J. Junker, C.V. Kalaghatgi, V. Kalogera, B. Kamai, S. Kandhasamy, G. Kang, J.B. Kanner, S.J. Kapadia, S. Karki, K.S. Karvinen, M. Kasprzack, W. Kastaun, M. Katolik, E. Katsavounidis, W. Katzman, S. Kaufer, K. Kawabe, F. Kéfélian, D. Keitel, A.J. Kemball, R. Kennedy, C. Kent, J.S. Key, F.Y. Khalili, I. Khan, S. Khan, Z. Khan, E.A. Khazanov, N. Kijbunchoo, C. Kim, J.C. Kim, K. Kim, W. Kim, W.S. Kim, Y.M. Kim, S.J. Kimbrell, E.J. King, P.J. King, M. Kinley-Hanlon, R. Kirchhoff, J.S. Kissel, L. Kleybolte, S. Klimenko, T.D. Knowles, P. Koch, S.M. Koehlenbeck, S. Koley, V. Kondrashov, A. Kontos, M. Korobko,

W.Z. Korth, I. Kowalska, D.B. Kozak, C. Krämer, V. Kringel, B. Krishnan, A. Królak, G. Kuehn, P. Kumar, R. Kumar, S. Kumar, L. Kuo, A. Kutynia, S. Kwang, B.D. Lackey, K.H. Lai, M. Landry, R.N. Lang, J. Lange, B. Lantz, R.K. Lanza, S.L. Larson, A. Lartaux-Vollard, P.D. Lasky, M. Laxen, A. Lazzarini, C. Lazzaro, P. Leaci, S. Leavey, C.H. Lee, H.K. Lee, H.M. Lee, H.W. Lee, K. Lee, J. Lehmann, A. Lenon, E. Leon, M. Leonardi, N. Leroy, N. Letendre, Y. Levin, T.G.F. Li, S.D. Linker, T.B. Littenberg, J. Liu, X. Liu, R.K.L. Lo, N.A. Lockerbie, L.T. London, J.E. Lord, M. Lorenzini, V. Loriette, M. Lormand, G. Losurdo, J.D. Lough, C.O. Lousto, G. Lovelace, H. Lück, D. Lumaca, A.P. Lundgren, R. Lynch, Y. Ma, R. Macas, S. Macfoy, B. Machenschalk, M. MacInnis, D.M. Macleod, I. Magaña Hernandez, F. Magaña Sandoval, L. Magaña Zertuche, R.M. Magee, E. Majorana, I. Maksimovic, N. Man, V. Mandic, V. Mangano, G.L. Mansell, M. Manske, M. Mantovani, F. Marchesoni, F. Marion, S. Márka, Z. Márka, C. Markakis, A.S. Markosyan, A. Markowitz, E. Maros, A. Marquina, P. Marsh, F. Martelli, L. Martellini, I.W. Martin, R.M. Martin, D.V. Martynov, J.N. Marx, K. Mason, E. Massera, A. Masserot, T.J. Massinger, M. Masso-Reid, S. Mastrogiovanni, A. Matas, F. Matichard, L. Matone, N. Mavalvala, N. Mazumder, R. McCarthy, D.E. McClelland, S. McCormick, L. McCuller, S.C. McGuire, G. McIntyre, J. McIver, D.J. McManus, L. McNeill, T. McRae, S.T. McWilliams, D. Meacher, G.D. Meadors, M. Mehmet, J. Meidam, E. Mejuto-Villa, A. Melatos, G. Mendell, R.A. Mercer, E.L. Merilh, M. Merzougui, S. Meshkov, C. Messenger, C. Messick, R. Metzdorff, P.M. Meyers, H. Miao, C. Michel, H. Middleton, E.E. Mikhailov, L. Milano, A.L. Miller, B.B. Miller, J. Miller, M. Millhouse, M.C. Milovich-Goff, O. Minazzoli, Y. Minenkov, J. Ming, C. Mishra, S. Mitra, V.P. Mitrofanov, G. Mitselmakher, R. Mittleman, D. Moffa, A. Moggi, K. Mogushi, M. Mohan, S.R.P. Mohapatra, I. Molina, M. Montani, C.J. Moore, D. Moraru, G. Moreno, S. Morisaki, S.R. Morriss, B. Mours, C.M. Mow-Lowry, G. Mueller, A.W. Muir, A. Mukherjee, D. Mukherjee, S. Mukherjee, N. Mukund, A. Mullavey, J. Munch, E.A. Muñiz, M. Muratore, P.G. Murray, A. Nagar, K. Napier, I. Nardecchia, L. Naticchioni, R.K. Nayak, J. Neilson, G. Nelemans, T.J.N. Nelson, M. Nery, A. Neunzert, L. Nevin, J.M. Newport, G. Newton, K.K.Y. Ng, P. Nguyen, T.T. Nguyen, D. Nichols, A.B. Nielsen, S. Nissanke, A. Nitz, A. Noack, F. Nocera, D. Nolting, C. North, L.K. Nuttall, J. Oberling, G.D. O'Dea, G.H. Ogin, J.J. Oh, S.H. Oh, F. Ohme, M.A. Okada, M. Oliver, P. Oppermann, R.J. Oram, B. O'Reilly, R. Ormiston, L.F. Ortega, R. O'Shaughnessy, S. Ossokine, D.J. Ottaway, H. Overmier, B.J. Owen, A.E. Pace, J. Page, M.A. Page, A. Pai, S.A. Pai, J.R. Palamos, O. Palashov, C. Palomba, A. Pal-Singh, H. Pan, H.W. Pan, B. Pang, P.T.H. Pang, C. Pankow, F. Pannarale, B.C. Pant, F. Paoletti, A. Paoli, M.A. Papa, A. Parida, W. Parker, D. Pascucci, A. Pasqualetti, R. Passaquieti, D. Passuello, M. Patil, B. Patricelli, B.L. Pearlstone, M. Pedraza, R. Pedurand, L. Pekowsky, A. Pele, S. Penn, C.J. Perez, A. Perreca, L.M. Perri, H.P. Pfeiffer, M. Phelps, O.J. Piccinni, M. Pichot, F. Piergiovanni, V. Pierro, G. Pillant, L. Pinard, I.M. Pinto, M. Pirello, M. Pitkin, M. Poe, R. Poggiani, P. Popolizio, E.K. Porter, A. Post, J. Powell, J. Prasad, J.W.W. Pratt, G. Pratten, V. Predoi, T. Prestegard, M. Prijatelj, M. Principe, S. Privitera, R. Prix, G.A. Prodi, L.G. Prokhorov, O. Puncken, M. Punturo, P. Puppo, M. Pürrer, H. Qi, V. Quetschke, E.A. Quintero, R. Quitzow-James, F.J. Raab, D.S. Rabeling, H. Radkins, P. Raffai, S. Raja, C. Rajan, B. Rajbhandari, M. Rakhmanov, K.E. Ramirez, A. Ramos-Buades, P. Rapagnani, V. Raymond, M. Razzano, J. Read, T. Regimbau, L. Rei, S. Reid, D.H. Reitze, W. Ren, S.D. Reyes, F. Ricci, P.M. Ricker, S. Rieger, K. Riles, M. Rizzo, N.A. Robertson, R. Robie, F. Robinet, A. Rocchi, L. Rolland, J.G. Rollins, V.J. Roma, J.D. Romano, R. Romano, C.L. Romel, J.H. Romie, D. Rosińska, M.P. Ross, S. Rowan, A. Rüdiger, P. Ruggi, G. Rutins, K. Ryan, S. Sachdev, T. Sadecki, L. Sadeghian,

M. Sakellariadou, L. Salconi, M. Saleem, F. Salemi, A. Samajdar, L. Sammut, L.M. Sampson, E.J. Sanchez, L.E. Sanchez, N. Sanchis-Gual, V. Sandberg, J.R. Sanders, B. Sassolas, B.S. Sathyaprakash, P.R. Saulson, O. Sauter, R.L. Savage, A. Sawadsky, P. Schale, M. Scheel, J. Scheuer, J. Schmidt, P. Schmidt, R. Schnabel, R.M.S. Schofield, A. Schönbeck, E. Schreiber, D. Schuette, B.W. Schulte, B.F. Schutz, S.G. Schwalbe, J. Scott, S.M. Scott, E. Seidel, D. Sellers, A.S. Sengupta, D. Sentenac, V. Sequino, A. Sergeev, D.A. Shaddock, T.J. Shaffer, A.A. Shah, M.S. Shahriar, M.B. Shaner, L. Shao, B. Shapiro, P. Shawhan, A. Sheperd, D.H. Shoemaker, D.M. Shoemaker, K. Siellez, X. Siemens, M. Sieniawska, D. Sigg, A.D. Silva, L.P. Singer, A. Singh, A. Singhal, A.M. Sintes, B.J.J. Slagmolen, B. Smith, J.R. Smith, R.J.E. Smith, S. Somala, E.J. Son, J.A. Sonnenberg, B. Sorazu, F. Sorrentino, T. Souradeep, A.P. Spencer, A.K. Srivastava, K. Staats, A. Staley, M. Steinke, J. Steinlechner, S. Steinlechner, D. Steinmeyer, S.P. Stevenson, R. Stone, D.J. Stops, K.A. Strain, G. Stratta, S.E. Strigin, A. Strunk, R. Sturani, A.L. Stuver, T.Z. Summerscales, L. Sun, S. Sunil, J. Suresh, P.J. Sutton, B.L. Swinkels, M.J. Szczepańczyk, M. Tacca, S.C. Tait, C. Talbot, D. Talukder, D.B. Tanner, M. Tápai, A. Taracchini, J.D. Tasson, J.A. Taylor, R. Taylor, S.V. Tewari, T. Theeg, F. Thies, E.G. Thomas, M. Thomas, P. Thomas, K.A. Thorne, K.S. Thorne, E. Thrane, S. Tiwari, V. Tiwari, K.V. Tokmakov, K. Toland, M. Tonelli, Z. Tornasi, A. Torres-Forné, C.I. Torrie, D. Töyrä, F. Travasso, G. Traylor, J. Trinastic, M.C. Tringali, L. Trozzo, K.W. Tsang, M. Tse, R. Tso, L. Tsukada, D. Tsuna, D. Tuyenbayev, K. Ueno, D. Ugolini, C.S. Unnikrishnan, A.L. Urban, S.A. Usman, H. Vahlbruch, G. Vajente, G. Valdes, M. Vallisneri, N. van Bakel, M. van Beuzekom, J.F.J. van den Brand, C. Van Den Broeck, D.C. Vander-Hyde, L. van der Schaaf, J.V. van Heijningen, A.A. van Veggel, M. Vardaro, V. Varma, S. Vass, M. Vasúth, A. Vecchio, G. Vedovato, J. Veitch, P.J. Veitch, K. Venkateswara, G. Venugopalan, D. Verkindt, F. Vetrano, A. Viceré, A.D. Viets, S. Vinciguerra, D.J. Vine, J.Y. Vinet, S. Vitale, T. Vo, H. Vocca, C. Vorvick, S.P. Vyatchanin, A.R. Wade, L.E. Wade, M. Wade, R. Walet, M. Walker, L. Wallace, S. Walsh, G. Wang, H. Wang, J.Z. Wang, W.H. Wang, Y.F. Wang, R.L. Ward, J. Warner, M. Was, J. Watchi, B. Weaver, L.W. Wei, M. Weinert, A.J. Weinstein, R. Weiss, L. Wen, E.K. Wessel, P. Weßels, J. Westerweck, T. Westphal, K. Wette, J.T. Whelan, S.E. Whitcomb, B.F. Whiting, C. Whittle, D. Wilken, D. Williams, R.D. Williams, A.R. Williamson, J.L. Willis, B. Willke, M.H. Wimmer, W. Winkler, C.C. Wipf, H. Wittel, G. Woan, J. Woehler, J. Wofford, K.W.K. Wong, J. Worden, J.L. Wright, D.S. Wu, D.M. Wysocki, S. Xiao, H. Yamamoto, C.C. Yancey, L. Yang, M.J. Yap, M. Yazback, H. Yu, H. Yu, M. Yvert, A. Zadrożny, M. Zanolin, T. Zelenova, J.P. Zendri, M. Zevin, L. Zhang, M. Zhang, T. Zhang, Y.H. Zhang, C. Zhao, M. Zhou, Z. Zhou, S.J. Zhu, X.J. Zhu, A.B. Zimmerman, M.E. Zucker, J. Zweizig, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 161101 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 119.161101. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.119. 161101

405. B.P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T.D. Abbott, F. Acernese, K. Ackley, C. Adams, T. Adams, P. Addesso, R.X. Adhikari, V.B. Adya, C. Affeldt, M. Afrough, B. Agarwal, M. Agathos, K. Agatsuma, N. Aggarwal, O.D. Aguiar, L. Aiello, A. Ain, P. Ajith, B. Allen, G. Allen, A. Allocca, P.A. Altin, A. Amato, A. Ananyeva, S.B. Anderson, W.G. Anderson, S.V. Angelova, S. Antier, S. Appert, K. Arai, M.C. Araya, J.S. Areeda, N. Arnaud, K.G. Arun, S. Ascenzi, G. Ashton, M. Ast, S.M. Aston, P. Astone, D.V. Atallah, P. Aufmuth, C. Aulbert, K. AultONeal, C. Austin, A. Avila-Alvarez, S. Babak, P. Bacon, M.K.M. Bader, S. Bae, P.T. Baker, F. Baldaccini, G. Ballardin, S.W. Ballmer, S. Banagiri, J.C. Barayoga, S.E. Barclay, B.C. Barish, D. Barker, K. Barkett, F. Barone, B. Barr, L. Barsotti, M. Barsuglia, D. Barta, S.D. Barthelmy, J. Bartlett, I. Bartos, R. Bassiri, A. Basti, J.C. Batch, M. Bawaj, J.C. Bayley, M. Bazzan, B. Bécsy, C. Beer, M. Bejger, I. Belahcene, A.S. Bell, B.K. Berger, G. Bergmann, J.J. Bero, C.P.L. Berry, D. Bersanetti, A. Bertolini, J. Betzwieser, S. Bhagwat, R. Bhandare, I.A. Bilenko, G. Billingsley, C.R. Billman, J. Birch, R. Birney, O. Birnholtz, S. Biscans, S. Biscoveanu, A. Bisht, M. Bitossi, C. Biwer, M.A. Bizouard, J.K. Blackburn, J. Blackman, C.D. Blair, D.G. Blair, R.M. Blair, S. Bloemen, O. Bock, N. Bode, M. Boer, G. Bogaert, A. Bohe, F. Bondu, E. Bonilla, R. Bonnand, B.A. Boom, R. Bork, V. Boschi, S. Bose, K. Bossie, Y. Bouffanais, A. Bozzi, C. Bradaschia, P.R. Brady, M. Branchesi, J.E. Brau, T. Briant, A. Brillet, M. Brinkmann, V. Brisson, P. Brockill, J.E. Broida, A.F. Brooks, D.A. Brown, D.D. Brown, S. Brunett, C.C. Buchanan, A. Buikema, T. Bulik, H.J. Bulten, A. Buonanno, D. Buskulic, C. Buy, R.L. Byer, M. Cabero, L. Cadonati, G. Cagnoli, C. Cahillane, J. Calderón Bustillo, T.A. Callister, E. Calloni, J.B. Camp, M. Canepa, P. Canizares, K.C. Cannon, H. Cao, J. Cao, C.D. Capano, E. Capocasa, F. Carbognani, S. Caride, M.F. Carney, J. Casanueva Diaz, C. Casentini, S. Caudill, M. Cavaglià, F. Cavalier, R. Cavalieri, G. Cella, C.B. Cepeda, P. Cerdá-Durán, G. Cerretani, E. Cesarini, S.J. Chamberlin, M. Chan, S. Chao, P. Charlton, E. Chase, E. Chassande-Mottin, D. Chatterjee, K. Chatziioannou, B.D. Cheeseboro, H.Y. Chen, X. Chen, Y. Chen, H.P. Cheng, H. Chia, A. Chincarini, A. Chiummo, T. Chmiel, H.S. Cho, M. Cho, J.H. Chow, N. Christensen, Q. Chu, A.J.K. Chua, S. Chua, A.K.W. Chung, S. Chung, G. Ciani, R. Ciolfi, C.E. Cirelli, A. Cirone, F. Clara, J.A. Clark, P. Clearwater, F. Cleva, C. Cocchieri, E. Coccia, P.F. Cohadon, D. Cohen, A. Colla, C.G. Collette, L.R. Cominsky, J. Constancio, M., L. Conti, S.J. Cooper, P. Corban, T.R. Corbitt, I. Cordero-Carrión, K.R. Corley, N. Cornish, A. Corsi, S. Cortese, C.A. Costa, M.W. Coughlin, S.B. Coughlin, J.P. Coulon, S.T. Countryman, P. Couvares, P.B. Covas, E.E. Cowan, D.M. Coward, M.J. Cowart, D.C. Coyne, R. Coyne, J.D.E. Creighton, T.D. Creighton, J. Cripe, S.G. Crowder, T.J. Cullen, A. Cumming, L. Cunningham, E. Cuoco, T. Dal Canton, G. Dálya, S.L. Danilishin, S. D'Antonio, K. Danzmann, A. Dasgupta, C.F. Da Silva Costa, V. Dattilo, I. Dave, M. Davier, D. Davis, E.J. Daw, B. Day, S. De, D. DeBra, J. Degallaix, M. De Laurentis, S. Deléglise, W. Del Pozzo, N. Demos, T. Denker, T. Dent, R. De Pietri, V. Dergachev, R. De Rosa, R.T. DeRosa, C. De Rossi, R. DeSalvo, O. de Varona, J. Devenson, S. Dhurandhar, M.C. Díaz, L. Di Fiore, M. Di Giovanni, T. Di Girolamo, A. Di Lieto, S. Di Pace, I. Di Palma, F. Di Renzo, Z. Doctor, V. Dolique, F. Donovan, K.L. Dooley, S. Doravari, I. Dorrington, R. Douglas, M. Dovale Álvarez, T.P. Downes, M. Drago, C. Dreissigacker, J.C. Driggers, Z. Du, M. Ducrot, P. Dupej, S.E. Dwyer, T.B. Edo, M.C. Edwards, A. Effler, P. Ehrens, J. Eichholz, S.S. Eikenberry, R.A. Eisenstein, R.C. Essick, D. Estevez, Z.B. Etienne, T. Etzel, M. Evans, T.M. Evans, M. Factourovich, V. Fafone, H. Fair, S. Fairhurst, X. Fan, S. Farinon, B. Farr, W.M. Farr, E.J. Fauchon-Jones, M. Favata, M. Fays, C. Fee, H. Fehrmann, J. Feicht, M.M. Fejer, A. Fernandez-Galiana, I. Ferrante, E.C. Ferreira, F. Ferrini, F. Fidecaro, D. Finstad, I. Fiori, D. Fiorucci, M. Fishbach, R.P. Fisher, M. Fitz-Axen, R. Flaminio, M. Fletcher, H. Fong, J.A. Font, P.W.F. Forsyth, S.S. Forsyth, J.D. Fournier, S. Frasca, F. Frasconi, Z. Frei, A. Freise, R. Frey, V. Frey, E.M. Fries, P. Fritschel, V.V. Frolov, P. Fulda, M. Fyffe, H. Gabbard, B.U. Gadre, S.M. Gaebel, J.R. Gair, L. Gammaitoni, M.R. Ganija, S.G. Gaonkar, C. Garcia-Quiros, F. Garufi, B. Gateley, S. Gaudio, G. Gaur, V. Gayathri, N. Gehrels, G. Gemme, E. Genin, A. Gennai, D. George, J. George, L. Gergely, V. Germain, S. Ghonge, A. Ghosh, A. Ghosh, S. Ghosh, J.A. Giaime, K.D. Giardina, A. Giazotto, K. Gill, L. Glover, E. Goetz, R. Goetz, S. Gomes, B. Goncharov, G. González, J.M. Gonzalez Castro, A. Gopakumar, M.L. Gorodetsky, S.E. Gossan, M. Gosselin, R. Gouaty, A. Grado, C. Graef, M. Granata, A. Grant, S. Gras, C. Gray, G. Greco, A.C. Green, E.M. Gretarsson, B. Griswold, P. Groot, H. Grote, S. Grunewald, P. Gruning, G.M. Guidi, X. Guo, A. Gupta, M.K. Gupta, K.E. Gushwa, E.K. Gustafson, R. Gustafson, O. Halim, B.R. Hall, E.D. Hall, E.Z. Hamilton, G. Hammond, M. Haney, M.M. Hanke, J. Hanks, C. Hanna, M.D. Hannam, O.A. Hannuksela, J. Hanson, T. Hardwick, J. Harms, G.M. Harry, I.W. Harry, M.J. Hart, C.J. Haster, K. Haughian, J. Healy, A. Heidmann, M.C. Heintze, H. Heitmann, P. Hello, G. Hemming, M. Hendry, I.S. Heng, J. Hennig, A.W. Heptonstall, M. Heurs, S. Hild, T. Hinderer, D. Hoak, D. Hofman, K. Holt, D.E. Holz, P. Hopkins, C. Horst, J. Hough, E.A. Houston, E.J. Howell, A. Hreibi, Y.M. Hu, E.A. Huerta, D. Huet, B. Hughey, S. Husa, S.H. Huttner, T. Huynh-Dinh, N. Indik, R. Inta, G. Intini, H.N. Isa, J.M. Isac, M. Isi, B.R. Iyer, K. Izumi, T. Jacqmin, K. Jani, P. Jaranowski, S. Jawahar, F. Jiménez-Forteza, W.W. Johnson, D.I. Jones, R. Jones, R.J.G. Jonker, L. Ju, J. Junker, C.V. Kalaghatgi, V. Kalogera, B. Kamai, S. Kandhasamy, G. Kang, J.B. Kanner, S.J. Kapadia, S. Karki, K.S. Karvinen, M. Kasprzack, M. Katolik, E. Katsavounidis, W. Katzman, S. Kaufer, K. Kawabe, F. Kéfélian, D. Keitel, A.J. Kemball, R. Kennedy, C. Kent, J.S. Key, F.Y. Khalili, I. Khan, S. Khan, Z. Khan, E.A. Khazanov, N. Kijbunchoo, C. Kim, J.C. Kim, K. Kim, W. Kim, W.S. Kim, Y.M. Kim, S.J. Kimbrell, E.J. King, P.J. King, M. Kinley-Hanlon, R. Kirchhoff, J.S. Kissel, L. Kleybolte, S. Klimenko, T.D. Knowles, P. Koch, S.M. Koehlenbeck, S. Koley, V. Kondrashov, A. Kontos, M. Korobko, W.Z. Korth, I. Kowalska, D.B. Kozak, C. Krämer, V. Kringel, B. Krishnan, A. Królak, G. Kuehn, P. Kumar, R. Kumar, S. Kumar, L. Kuo, A. Kutynia, S. Kwang, B.D. Lackey, K.H. Lai, M. Landry, R.N. Lang, J. Lange, B. Lantz, R.K. Lanza, S.L. Larson, A. Lartaux-Vollard, P.D. Lasky, M. Laxen, A. Lazzarini, C. Lazzaro, P. Leaci, S. Leavey, C.H. Lee, H.K. Lee, H.M. Lee, H.W. Lee, K. Lee, J. Lehmann, A. Lenon, M. Leonardi, N. Leroy, N. Letendre, Y. Levin, T.G.F. Li, S.D. Linker, T.B. Littenberg, J. Liu, R.K.L. Lo, N.A. Lockerbie, L.T. London, J.E. Lord, M. Lorenzini, V. Loriette, M. Lormand, G. Losurdo, J.D. Lough, C.O. Lousto, G. Lovelace, H. Lück, D. Lumaca, A.P. Lundgren, R. Lynch, Y. Ma, R. Macas, S. Macfoy, B. Machenschalk, M. MacInnis, D.M. Macleod, I. Magaña Hernandez, F. Magaña-Sandoval, L. Magaña Zertuche, R.M. Magee, E. Majorana, I. Maksimovic, N. Man, V. Mandic, V. Mangano, G.L. Mansell, M. Manske, M. Mantovani, F. Marchesoni, F. Marion, S. Márka, Z. Márka, C. Markakis, A.S. Markosyan, A. Markowitz, E. Maros, A. Marquina, P. Marsh, F. Martelli, L. Martellini, I.W. Martin, R.M. Martin, D.V. Martynov, K. Mason, E. Massera, A. Masserot, T.J. Massinger, M. Masso-Reid, S. Mastrogiovanni, A. Matas, F. Matichard, L. Matone, N. Mavalvala, N. Mazumder, R. McCarthy, D.E. McClelland, S. McCormick, L. McCuller, S.C. McGuire, G. McIntyre, J. McIver, D.J. McManus, L. McNeill, T. McRae, S.T. McWilliams, D. Meacher, G.D. Meadors, M. Mehmet, J. Meidam, E. Mejuto-Villa, A. Melatos, G. Mendell, R.A. Mercer, E.L. Merilh, M. Merzougui, S. Meshkov, C. Messenger, C. Messick, R. Metzdorff, P.M. Meyers, H. Miao, C. Michel, H. Middleton, E.E. Mikhailov, L. Milano, A.L. Miller, B.B. Miller, J. Miller, M. Millhouse, M.C. Milovich-Goff, O. Minazzoli, Y. Minenkov, J. Ming, C. Mishra, S. Mitra, V.P. Mitrofanov, G. Mitselmakher, R. Mittleman, D. Moffa, A. Moggi, K. Mogushi, M. Mohan, S.R.P. Mohapatra, M. Montani, C.J. Moore, D. Moraru, G. Moreno, S.R. Morriss, B. Mours, C.M. Mow-Lowry, G. Mueller, A.W. Muir, A. Mukherjee, D. Mukherjee, S. Mukherjee, N. Mukund, A. Mullavey, J. Munch, E.A. Muñiz, M. Muratore, P.G. Murray, K. Napier, I. Nardecchia, L. Naticchioni, R.K. Nayak, J. Neilson, G. Nelemans, T.J.N. Nelson, M. Nery, A. Neunzert, L. Nevin, J.M. Newport, G. Newton, K.K.Y. Ng, P. Nguyen, T.T. Nguyen, D. Nichols, A.B. Nielsen, S. Nissanke, A. Nitz, A. Noack, F. Nocera, D. Nolting, C. North,

L.K. Nuttall, J. Oberling, G.D. O'Dea, G.H. Ogin, J.J. Oh, S.H. Oh, F. Ohme, M.A. Okada, M. Oliver, P. Oppermann, R.J. Oram, B. O'Reilly, R. Ormiston, L.F. Ortega, R. O'Shaughnessy, S. Ossokine, D.J. Ottaway, H. Overmier, B.J. Owen, A.E. Pace, J. Page, M.A. Page, A. Pai, S.A. Pai, J.R. Palamos, O. Palashov, C. Palomba, A. Pal-Singh, H. Pan, H.W. Pan, B. Pang, P.T.H. Pang, C. Pankow, F. Pannarale, B.C. Pant, F. Paoletti, A. Paoli, M.A. Papa, A. Parida, W. Parker, D. Pascucci, A. Pasqualetti, R. Passaquieti, D. Passuello, M. Patil, B. Patricelli, B.L. Pearlstone, M. Pedraza, R. Pedurand, L. Pekowsky, A. Pele, S. Penn, C.J. Perez, A. Perreca, L.M. Perri, H.P. Pfeiffer, M. Phelps, O.J. Piccinni, M. Pichot, F. Piergiovanni, V. Pierro, G. Pillant, L. Pinard, I.M. Pinto, M. Pirello, M. Pitkin, M. Poe, R. Poggiani, P. Popolizio, E.K. Porter, A. Post, J. Powell, J. Prasad, J.W.W. Pratt, G. Pratten, V. Predoi, T. Prestegard, L.R. Price, M. Prijatelj, M. Principe, S. Privitera, G.A. Prodi, L.G. Prokhorov, O. Puncken, M. Punturo, P. Puppo, M. Pürrer, H. Qi, V. Quetschke, E.A. Quintero, R. Quitzow-James, F.J. Raab, D.S. Rabeling, H. Radkins, P. Raffai, S. Raja, C. Rajan, B. Rajbhandari, M. Rakhmanov, K.E. Ramirez, A. Ramos-Buades, P. Rapagnani, V. Raymond, M. Razzano, J. Read, T. Regimbau, L. Rei, S. Reid, D.H. Reitze, W. Ren, S.D. Reyes, F. Ricci, P.M. Ricker, S. Rieger, K. Riles, M. Rizzo, N.A. Robertson, R. Robie, F. Robinet, A. Rocchi, L. Rolland, J.G. Rollins, V.J. Roma, R. Romano, C.L. Romel, J.H. Romie, D. Rosińska, M.P. Ross, S. Rowan, A. Rüdiger, P. Ruggi, G. Rutins, K. Ryan, S. Sachdev, T. Sadecki, L. Sadeghian, M. Sakellariadou, L. Salconi, M. Saleem, F. Salemi, A. Samajdar, L. Sammut, L.M. Sampson, E.J. Sanchez, L.E. Sanchez, N. Sanchis-Gual, V. Sandberg, J.R. Sanders, B. Sassolas, B.S. Sathyaprakash, P.R. Saulson, O. Sauter, R.L. Savage, A. Sawadsky, P. Schale, M. Scheel, J. Scheuer, J. Schmidt, P. Schmidt, R. Schnabel, R.M.S. Schofield, A. Schönbeck, E. Schreiber, D. Schuette, B.W. Schulte, B.F. Schutz, S.G. Schwalbe, J. Scott, S.M. Scott, E. Seidel, D. Sellers, A.S. Sengupta, D. Sentenac, V. Sequino, A. Sergeev, D.A. Shaddock, T.J. Shaffer, A.A. Shah, M.S. Shahriar, M.B. Shaner, L. Shao, B. Shapiro, P. Shawhan, A. Sheperd, D.H. Shoemaker, D.M. Shoemaker, K. Siellez, X. Siemens, M. Sieniawska, D. Sigg, A.D. Silva, L.P. Singer, A. Singh, A. Singhal, A.M. Sintes, B.J.J. Slagmolen, B. Smith, J.R. Smith, R.J.E. Smith, S. Somala, E.J. Son, J.A. Sonnenberg, B. Sorazu, F. Sorrentino, T. Souradeep, A.P. Spencer, A.K. Srivastava, K. Staats, A. Staley, M. Steinke, J. Steinlechner, S. Steinlechner, D. Steinmeyer, S.P. Stevenson, R. Stone, D.J. Stops, K.A. Strain, G. Stratta, S.E. Strigin, A. Strunk, R. Sturani, A.L. Stuver, T.Z. Summerscales, L. Sun, S. Sunil, J. Suresh, P.J. Sutton, B.L. Swinkels, M.J. Szczepańczyk, M. Tacca, S.C. Tait, C. Talbot, D. Talukder, D.B. Tanner, M. Tápai, A. Taracchini, J.D. Tasson, J.A. Taylor, R. Taylor, S.V. Tewari, T. Theeg, F. Thies, E.G. Thomas, M. Thomas, P. Thomas, K.A. Thorne, K.S. Thorne, E. Thrane, S. Tiwari, V. Tiwari, K.V. Tokmakov, K. Toland, M. Tonelli, Z. Tornasi, A. Torres-Forné, C.I. Torrie, D. Töyrä, F. Travasso, G. Traylor, J. Trinastic, M.C. Tringali, L. Trozzo, K.W. Tsang, M. Tse, R. Tso, L. Tsukada, D. Tsuna, D. Tuyenbayev, K. Ueno, D. Ugolini, C.S. Unnikrishnan, A.L. Urban, S.A. Usman, H. Vahlbruch, G. Vajente, G. Valdes, N. van Bakel, M. van Beuzekom, J.F.J. van den Brand, C. Van Den Broeck, D.C. Vander-Hyde, L. van der Schaaf, J.V. van Heijningen, A.A. van Veggel, M. Vardaro, V. Varma, S. Vass, M. Vasúth, A. Vecchio, G. Vedovato, J. Veitch, P.J. Veitch, K. Venkateswara, G. Venugopalan, D. Verkindt, F. Vetrano, A. Viceré, A.D. Viets, S. Vinciguerra, D.J. Vine, J.Y. Vinet, S. Vitale, T. Vo, H. Vocca, C. Vorvick, S.P. Vyatchanin, A.R. Wade, L.E. Wade, M. Wade, R. Walet, M. Walker, L. Wallace, S. Walsh, G. Wang, H. Wang, J.Z. Wang, W.H. Wang, Y.F. Wang, R.L. Ward, J. Warner, M. Was, J. Watchi, B. Weaver, L.W. Wei, M. Weinert, A.J. Weinstein, R. Weiss, L. Wen, E.K. Wessel, P. Wessels, J. Westerweck,

T. Westphal, K. Wette, J.T. Whelan, S.E. Whitcomb, B.F. Whiting, C. Whittle, D. Wilken, D. Williams, R.D. Williams, A.R. Williamson, J.L. Willis, B. Willke, M.H. Wimmer, W. Winkler, C.C. Wipf, H. Wittel, G. Woan, J. Woehler, J. Wofford, K.W.K. Wong, J. Worden, J.L. Wright, D.S. Wu, D.M. Wysocki, S. Xiao, H. Yamamoto, C.C. Yancey, L. Yang, M.J. Yap, M. Yazback, H. Yu, H. Yu, M. Yvert, A. Zadrożny, M. Zanolin, T. Zelenova, J.P. Zendri, M. Zevin, L. Zhang, M. Zhang, T. Zhang, Y.H. Zhang, C. Zhao, M. Zhou, Z. Zhou, S.J. Zhu, X.J. Zhu, A.B. Zimmerman, M.E. Zucker, J. Zweizig, LIGO Scientific Collaboration, Virgo Collaboration, C.A. Wilson-Hodge, E. Bissaldi, L. Blackburn, M.S. Briggs, E. Burns, W.H. Cleveland, V. Connaughton, M.H. Gibby, M.M. Giles, A. Goldstein, R. Hamburg, P. Jenke, C.M. Hui, R.M. Kippen, D. Kocevski, S. McBreen, C.A. Meegan, W.S. Paciesas, S. Poolakkil, R.D. Preece, J. Racusin, O.J. Roberts, M. Stanbro, P. Veres, A. von Kienlin, F. GBM, V. Savchenko, C. Ferrigno, E. Kuulkers, A. Bazzano, E. Bozzo, S. Brandt, J. Chenevez, T.J.L. Courvoisier, R. Diehl, A. Domingo, L. Hanlon, E. Jourdain, P. Laurent, F. Lebrun, A. Lutovinov, A. Martin-Carrillo, S. Mereghetti, L. Natalucci, J. Rodi, J.P. Roques, R. Sunyaev, P. Ubertini, INTEGRAL, M.G. Aartsen, M. Ackermann, J. Adams, J.A. Aguilar, M. Ahlers, M. Ahrens, I.A. Samarai, D. Altmann, K. Andeen, T. Anderson, I. Ansseau, G. Anton, C. Argüelles, J. Auffenberg, S. Axani, H. Bagherpour, X. Bai, J.P. Barron, S.W. Barwick, V. Baum, R. Bay, J.J. Beatty, J. Becker Tjus, E. Bernardini, D.Z. Besson, G. Binder, D. Bindig, E. Blaufuss, S. Blot, C. Bohm, M. Börner, F. Bos, D. Bose, S. Böser, O. Botner, E. Bourbeau, J. Bourbeau, F. Bradascio, J. Braun, L. Brayeur, M. Brenzke, H.P. Bretz, S. Bron, J. Brostean-Kaiser, A. Burgman, T. Carver, J. Casey, M. Casier, E. Cheung, D. Chirkin, A. Christov, K. Clark, L. Classen, S. Coenders, G.H. Collin, J.M. Conrad, D.F. Cowen, R. Cross, M. Day, J.P.A.M. de André, C. De Clercq, J.J. DeLaunay, H. Dembinski, S. De Ridder, P. Desiati, K.D. de Vries, G. de Wasseige, M. de With, T. DeYoung, J.C. Díaz-Vélez, V. di Lorenzo, H. Dujmovic, J.P. Dumm, M. Dunkman, E. Dvorak, B. Eberhardt, T. Ehrhardt, B. Eichmann, P. Eller, P.A. Evenson, S. Fahey, A.R. Fazely, J. Felde, K. Filimonov, C. Finley, S. Flis, A. Franckowiak, E. Friedman, T. Fuchs, T.K. Gaisser, J. Gallagher, L. Gerhardt, K. Ghorbani, W. Giang, T. Glauch, T. Glüsenkamp, A. Goldschmidt, J.G. Gonzalez, D. Grant, Z. Griffith, C. Haack, A. Hallgren, F. Halzen, K. Hanson, D. Hebecker, D. Heereman, K. Helbing, R. Hellauer, S. Hickford, J. Hignight, G.C. Hill, K.D. Hoffman, R. Hoffmann, B. Hokanson-Fasig, K. Hoshina, F. Huang, M. Huber, K. Hultqvist, M. Hünnefeld, S. In, A. Ishihara, E. Jacobi, G.S. Japaridze, M. Jeong, K. Jero, B.J.P. Jones, P. Kalaczynski, W. Kang, A. Kappes, T. Karg, A. Karle, M. Kauer, A. Keivani, J.L. Kelley, A. Kheirandish, J. Kim, M. Kim, T. Kintscher, J. Kiryluk, T. Kittler, S.R. Klein, G. Kohnen, R. Koirala, H. Kolanoski, L. Köpke, C. Kopper, S. Kopper, J.P. Koschinsky, D.J. Koskinen, M. Kowalski, K. Krings, M. Kroll, G. Krückl, J. Kunnen, S. Kunwar, N. Kurahashi, T. Kuwabara, A. Kyriacou, M. Labare, J.L. Lanfranchi, M.J. Larson, F. Lauber, M. Lesiak-Bzdak, M. Leuermann, Q.R. Liu, L. Lu, J. Lünemann, W. Luszczak, J. Madsen, G. Maggi, K.B.M. Mahn, S. Mancina, R. Maruyama, K. Mase, R. Maunu, F. McNally, K. Meagher, M. Medici, M. Meier, T. Menne, G. Merino, T. Meures, S. Miarecki, J. Micallef, G. Momenté, T. Montaruli, R.W. Moore, M. Moulai, R. Nahnhauer, P. Nakarmi, U. Naumann, G. Neer, H. Niederhausen, S.C. Nowicki, D.R. Nygren, A. Obertacke Pollmann, A. Olivas, A. O'Murchadha, T. Palczewski, H. Pandya, D.V. Pankova, P. Peiffer, J.A. Pepper, C. Pérez de los Heros, D. Pieloth, E. Pinat, P.B. Price, G.T. Przybylski, C. Raab, L. Rädel, M. Rameez, K. Rawlins, I.C. Rea, R. Reimann, B. Relethford, M. Relich, E. Resconi, W. Rhode, M. Richman, S. Robertson, M. Rongen, C. Rott, T. Ruhe, D. Ryckbosch, D. Rysewyk, T. Sälzer, S.E. Sanchez Her-

rera, A. Sandrock, J. Sandroos, M. Santander, S. Sarkar, S. Sarkar, K. Satalecka, P. Schlunder, T. Schmidt, A. Schneider, S. Schoenen, S. Schöneberg, L. Schumacher, D. Seckel, S. Seunarine, J. Soedingrekso, D. Soldin, M. Song, G.M. Spiczak, C. Spiering, J. Stachurska, M. Stamatikos, T. Stanev, A. Stasik, J. Stettner, A. Steuer, T. Stezelberger, R.G. Stokstad, A. Stössl, N.L. Strotjohann, T. Stuttard, G.W. Sullivan, M. Sutherland, I. Taboada, J. Tatar, F. Tenholt, S. Ter-Antonyan, A. Terliuk, G. Tešić, S. Tilav, P.A. Toale, M.N. Tobin, S. Toscano, D. Tosi, M. Tselengidou, C.F. Tung, A. Turcati, C.F. Turley, B. Ty, E. Unger, M. Usner, J. Vandenbroucke, W. Van Driessche, N. van Eijndhoven, S. Vanheule, J. van Santen, M. Vehring, E. Vogel, M. Vraeghe, C. Walck, A. Wallace, M. Wallraff, F.D. Wandler, N. Wandkowsky, A. Waza, C. Weaver, M.J. Weiss, C. Wendt, J. Werthebach, B.J. Whelan, K. Wiebe, C.H. Wiebusch, L. Wille, D.R. Williams, L. Wills, M. Wolf, T.R. Wood, E. Woolsey, K. Woschnagg, D.L. Xu, X.W. Xu, Y. Xu, J.P. Yanez, G. Yodh, S. Yoshida, T. Yuan, M. Zoll, Ice-Cube Collaboration, A. Balasubramanian, S. Mate, V. Bhalerao, D. Bhattacharya, A. Vibhute, G.C. Dewangan, A.R. Rao, S.V. Vadawale, AstroSat Cadmium Zinc Telluride Imager Team, D.S. Svinkin, K. Hurley, R.L. Aptekar, D.D. Frederiks, S.V. Golenetskii, A.V. Kozlova, A.L. Lysenko, P.P. Oleynik, A.E. Tsvetkova, M.V. Ulanov, T. Cline, IPN Collaboration, T.P. Li, S.L. Xiong, S.N. Zhang, F.J. Lu, L.M. Song, X.L. Cao, Z. Chang, G. Chen, L. Chen, T.X. Chen, Y. Chen, Y.B. Chen, Y.P. Chen, W. Cui, W.W. Cui, J.K. Deng, Y.W. Dong, Y.Y. Du, M.X. Fu, G.H. Gao, H. Gao, M. Gao, M.Y. Ge, Y.D. Gu, J. Guan, C.C. Guo, D.W. Han, W. Hu, Y. Huang, J. Huo, S.M. Jia, L.H. Jiang, W.C. Jiang, J. Jin, Y.J. Jin, B. Li, C.K. Li, G. Li, M.S. Li, W. Li, X. Li, X.B. Li, X.F. Li, Y.G. Li, Z.J. Li, Z.W. Li, X.H. Liang, J.Y. Liao, C.Z. Liu, G.Q. Liu, H.W. Liu, S.Z. Liu, X.J. Liu, Y. Liu, Y.N. Liu, B. Lu, X.F. Lu, T. Luo, X. Ma, B. Meng, Y. Nang, J.Y. Nie, G. Ou, J.L. Qu, N. Sai, L. Sun, Y. Tan, L. Tao, W.H. Tao, Y.L. Tuo, G.F. Wang, H.Y. Wang, J. Wang, W.S. Wang, Y.S. Wang, X.Y. Wen, B.B. Wu, M. Wu, G.C. Xiao, H. Xu, Y.P. Xu, L.L. Yan, J.W. Yang, S. Yang, Y.J. Yang, A.M. Zhang, C.L. Zhang, C.M. Zhang, F. Zhang, H.M. Zhang, J. Zhang, Q. Zhang, S. Zhang, T. Zhang, W. Zhang, W.C. Zhang, W.Z. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y.F. Zhang, Y.J. Zhang, Z. Zhang, Z.L. Zhang, H.S. Zhao, J.L. Zhao, X.F. Zhao, S.J. Zheng, Y. Zhu, Y.X. Zhu, C.L. Zou, Insight-HXMT Collaboration, A. Albert, M. André, M. Anghinolfi, M. Ardid, J.J. Aubert, J. Aublin, T. Avgitas, B. Baret, J. Barrios-Martí, S. Basa, B. Belhorma, V. Bertin, S. Biagi, R. Bormuth, S. Bourret, M.C. Bouwhuis, H. Brânzaş, R. Bruijn, J. Brunner, J. Busto, A. Capone, L. Caramete, J. Carr, S. Celli, R. Cherkaoui El Moursli, T. Chiarusi, M. Circella, J.A.B. Coelho, A. Coleiro, R. Coniglione, H. Costantini, P. Coyle, A. Creusot, A.F. Díaz, A. Deschamps, G. De Bonis, C. Distefano, I. Di Palma, A. Domi, C. Donzaud, D. Dornic, D. Drouhin, T. Eberl, I. El Bojaddaini, N. El Khayati, D. Elsässer, A. Enzenhöfer, A. Ettahiri, F. Fassi, I. Felis, L.A. Fusco, P. Gay, V. Giordano, H. Glotin, T. Grégoire, R.G. Ruiz, K. Graf, S. Hallmann, H. van Haren, A.J. Heijboer, Y. Hello, J.J. Hernández-Rey, J. Hössl, J. Hofestädt, C. Hugon, G. Illuminati, C.W. James, M. de Jong, M. Jongen, M. Kadler, O. Kalekin, U. Katz, D. Kiessling, A. Kouchner, M. Kreter, I. Kreykenbohm, V. Kulikovskiy, C. Lachaud, R. Lahmann, D. Lefèvre, E. Leonora, M. Lotze, S. Loucatos, M. Marcelin, A. Margiotta, A. Marinelli, J.A. Martínez-Mora, R. Mele, K. Melis, T. Michael, P. Migliozzi, A. Moussa, S. Navas, E. Nezri, M. Organokov, G.E. Păvălaş, C. Pellegrino, C. Perrina, P. Piattelli, V. Popa, T. Pradier, L. Quinn, C. Racca, G. Riccobene, A. Sánchez-Losa, M. Saldaña, I. Salvadori, D.F.E. Samtleben, M. Sanguineti, P. Sapienza, C. Sieger, M. Spurio, T. Stolarczyk, M. Taiuti, Y. Tayalati, A. Trovato, D. Turpin, C. Tönnis, B. Vallage, V. Van Elewyck, F. Versari, D. Vivolo, A. Vizzoca, J. Wilms, J.D. Zornoza, J. Zúñiga, ANTARES Collaboration, A.P. Beardmore, A.A. Breeveld, D.N.

Burrows, S.B. Cenko, G. Cusumano, A. D'Aì, M. de Pasquale, S.W.K. Emery, P.A. Evans, P. Giommi, C. Gronwall, J.A. Kennea, H.A. Krimm, N.P.M. Kuin, A. Lien, F.E. Marshall, A. Melandri, J.A. Nousek, S.R. Oates, J.P. Osborne, C. Pagani, K.L. Page, D.M. Palmer, M. Perri, M.H. Siegel, B. Sbarufatti, G. Tagliaferri, A. Tohuvavohu, Swift Collaboration, M. Tavani, F. Verrecchia, A. Bulgarelli, Y. Evangelista, L. Pacciani, M. Feroci, C. Pittori, A. Giuliani, E. Del Monte, I. Donnarumma, A. Argan, A. Trois, A. Ursi, M. Cardillo, G. Piano, F. Longo, F. Lucarelli, P. Munar-Adrover, F. Fuschino, C. Labanti, M. Marisaldi, G. Minervini, V. Fioretti, N. Parmiggiani, F. Gianotti, M. Trifoglio, G. Di Persio, L.A. Antonelli, G. Barbiellini, P. Caraveo, P.W. Cattaneo, E. Costa, S. Colafrancesco, F. D'Amico, A. Ferrari, A. Morselli, F. Paoletti, P. Picozza, M. Pilia, A. Rappoldi, P. Soffitta, S. Vercellone, AGILE Team, R.J. Foley, D.A. Coulter, C.D. Kilpatrick, M.R. Drout, A.L. Piro, B.J. Shappee, M.R. Siebert, J.D. Simon, N. Ulloa, D. Kasen, B.F. Madore, A. Murguia-Berthier, Y.C. Pan, J.X. Prochaska, E. Ramirez-Ruiz, A. Rest, C. Rojas-Bravo, 1M2H Team, E. Berger, M. Soares-Santos, J. Annis, K.D. Alexander, S. Allam, E. Balbinot, P. Blanchard, D. Brout, R.E. Butler, R. Chornock, E.R. Cook, P. Cowperthwaite, H.T. Diehl, A. Drlica-Wagner, M.R. Drout, F. Durret, T. Eftekhari, D.A. Finley, W. Fong, J.A. Frieman, C.L. Fryer, J. García-Bellido, R.A. Gruendl, W. Hartley, K. Herner, R. Kessler, H. Lin, P.A.A. Lopes, A.C.C. Lourenço, R. Margutti, J.L. Marshall, T. Matheson, G.E. Medina, B.D. Metzger, R.R. Muñoz, J. Muir, M. Nicholl, P. Nugent, A. Palmese, F. Paz-Chinchón, E. Quataert, M. Sako, M. Sauseda, D.J. Schlegel, D. Scolnic, L.F. Secco, N. Smith, F. Sobreira, V.A. Villar, A.K. Vivas, W. Wester, P.K.G. Williams, B. Yanny, A. Zenteno, Y. Zhang, T.M.C. Abbott, M. Banerji, K. Bechtol, A. Benoit-Lévy, E. Bertin, D. Brooks, E. Buckley-Geer, D.L. Burke, D. Capozzi, A. Carnero Rosell, M. Carrasco Kind, F.J. Castander, M. Crocce, C.E. Cunha, C.B. D'Andrea, L.N. da Costa, C. Davis, D.L. DePoy, S. Desai, J.P. Dietrich, T.F. Eifler, E. Fernandez, B. Flaugher, P. Fosalba, E. Gaztanaga, D.W. Gerdes, T. Giannantonio, D.A. Goldstein, D. Gruen, J. Gschwend, G. Gutierrez, K. Honscheid, D.J. James, T. Jeltema, M.W.G. Johnson, M.D. Johnson, S. Kent, E. Krause, R. Kron, K. Kuehn, O. Lahav, M. Lima, M.A.G. Maia, M. March, P. Martini, R.G. McMahon, F. Menanteau, C.J. Miller, R. Miquel, J.J. Mohr, R.C. Nichol, R.L.C. Ogando, A.A. Plazas, A.K. Romer, A. Roodman, E.S. Rykoff, E. Sanchez, V. Scarpine, R. Schindler, M. Schubnell, I. Sevilla-Noarbe, E. Sheldon, M. Smith, R.C. Smith, A. Stebbins, E. Suchyta, M.E.C. Swanson, G. Tarle, R.C. Thomas, M.A. Troxel, D.L. Tucker, V. Vikram, A.R. Walker, R.H. Wechsler, J. Weller, J.L. Carlin, M.S.S. Gill, T.S. Li, J. Marriner, E. Neilsen, Dark Energy Camera GW-EM Collaboration, DES Collaboration, J.B. Haislip, V.V. Kouprianov, D.E. Reichart, D.J. Sand, L. Tartaglia, S. Valenti, S. Yang, DLT40 Collaboration, S. Benetti, E. Brocato, S. Campana, E. Cappellaro, S. Covino, P. D'Avanzo, V. D'Elia, F. Getman, G. Ghirlanda, G. Ghisellini, L. Limatola, L. Nicastro, E. Palazzi, E. Pian, S. Piranomonte, A. Possenti, A. Rossi, O.S. Salafia, L. Tomasella, L. Amati, L.A. Antonelli, M.G. Bernardini, F. Bufano, M. Capaccioli, P. Casella, M. Dadina, G. De Cesare, A. Di Paola, G. Giuffrida, A. Giunta, G.L. Israel, M. Lisi, E. Maiorano, M. Mapelli, N. Masetti, A. Pescalli, L. Pulone, R. Salvaterra, P. Schipani, M. Spera, A. Stamerra, L. Stella, V. Testa, M. Turatto, D. Vergani, G. Aresu, M. Bachetti, F. Buffa, M. Burgay, M. Buttu, T. Caria, E. Carretti, V. Casasola, P. Castangia, G. Carboni, S. Casu, R. Concu, A. Corongiu, G.L. Deiana, E. Egron, A. Fara, F. Gaudiomonte, V. Gusai, A. Ladu, S. Loru, S. Leurini, L. Marongiu, A. Melis, G. Melis, C. Migoni, S. Milia, A. Navarrini, A. Orlati, P. Ortu, S. Palmas, A. Pellizzoni, D. Perrodin, T. Pisanu, S. Poppi, S. Righini, A. Saba, G. Serra, M. Serrau, M. Stagni, G. Surcis, V. Vacca, G.P. Vargiu, L.K. Hunt, Z.P. Jin, S. Klose, C. Kouveliotou, P.A.

Mazzali, P. Møller, L. Nava, T. Piran, J. Selsing, S.D. Vergani, K. Wiersema, K. Toma, A.B. Higgins, C.G. Mundell, S. di Serego Alighieri, D. Gótz, W. Gao, A. Gomboc, L. Kaper, S. Kobayashi, D. Kopac, J. Mao, R.L.C. Starling, I. Steele, A.J. van der Horst, GRAWITA: GRAvitational Wave Inaf TeAm, F. Acero, W.B. Atwood, L. Baldini, G. Barbiellini, D. Bastieri, B. Berenji, R. Bellazzini, E. Bissaldi, R.D. Blandford, E.D. Bloom, R. Bonino, E. Bottacini, J. Bregeon, R. Buehler, S. Buson, R.A. Cameron, R. Caputo, P.A. Caraveo, E. Cavazzuti, A. Chekhtman, C.C. Cheung, J. Chiang, S. Ciprini, J. Cohen-Tanugi, L.R. Cominsky, D. Costantin, A. Cuoco, F. D'Ammando, F. de Palma, S.W. Digel, N. Di Lalla, M. Di Mauro, L. Di Venere, R. Dubois, S.J. Fegan, W.B. Focke, A. Franckowiak, Y. Fukazawa, S. Funk, P. Fusco, F. Gargano, D. Gasparrini, N. Giglietto, F. Giordano, M. Giroletti, T. Glanzman, D. Green, M.H. Grondin, L. Guillemot, S. Guiriec, A.K. Harding, D. Horan, G. Jóhannesson, T. Kamae, S. Kensei, M. Kuss, G. La Mura, L. Latronico, M. Lemoine-Goumard, F. Longo, F. Loparco, M.N. Lovellette, P. Lubrano, J.D. Magill, S. Maldera, A. Manfreda, M.N. Mazziotta, J.E. McEnery, M. Meyer, P.F. Michelson, N. Mirabal, M.E. Monzani, E. Moretti, A. Morselli, I.V. Moskalenko, M. Negro, E. Nuss, R. Ojha, N. Omodei, M. Orienti, E. Orlando, M. Palatiello, V.S. Paliya, D. Paneque, M. Pesce-Rollins, F. Piron, T.A. Porter, G. Principe, S. Rainò, R. Rando, M. Razzano, S. Razzaque, A. Reimer, O. Reimer, T. Reposeur, L.S. Rochester, P.M. Saz Parkinson, C. Sgrò, E.J. Siskind, F. Spada, G. Spandre, D.J. Suson, M. Takahashi, Y. Tanaka, J.G. Thayer, J.B. Thayer, D.J. Thompson, L. Tibaldo, D.F. Torres, E. Torresi, E. Troja, T.M. Venters, G. Vianello, G. Zaharijas, Fermi Large Area Telescope Collaboration, J.R. Allison, K.W. Bannister, D. Dobie, D.L. Kaplan, E. Lenc, C. Lynch, T. Murphy, E.M. Sadler, A. Australia Telescope Compact Array, A. Hotan, C.W. James, S. Oslowski, W. Raja, R.M. Shannon, M. Whiting, A. Australian SKA Pathfinder, I. Arcavi, D.A. Howell, C. McCully, G. Hosseinzadeh, D. Hiramatsu, D. Poznanski, J. Barnes, M. Zaltzman, S. Vasylyev, D. Maoz, Las Cumbres Observatory Group, J. Cooke, M. Bailes, C. Wolf, A.T. Deller, C. Lidman, L. Wang, B. Gendre, I. Andreoni, K. Ackley, T.A. Pritchard, M.S. Bessell, S.W. Chang, A. Möller, C.A. Onken, R.A. Scalzo, R. Ridden-Harper, R.G. Sharp, B.E. Tucker, T.J. Farrell, E. Elmer, S. Johnston, V. Venkatraman Krishnan, E.F. Keane, J.A. Green, A. Jameson, L. Hu, B. Ma, T. Sun, X. Wu, X. Wang, Z. Shang, Y. Hu, M.C.B. Ashley, X. Yuan, X. Li, C. Tao, Z. Zhu, H. Zhang, N.B. Suntzeff, J. Zhou, J. Yang, B. Orange, D. Morris, A. Cucchiara, T. Giblin, A. Klotz, J. Staff, P. Thierry, B.P. Schmidt, OzGrav, D. (Deeper, Wider, F. program, AST3, CAASTRO Collaborations, N.R. Tanvir, A.J. Levan, Z. Cano, A. de Ugarte-Postigo, C. González-Fernández, J. Greiner, J. Hjorth, M. Irwin, T. Krühler, I. Mandel, B. Milvang-Jensen, P. O'Brien, E. Rol, S. Rosetti, S. Rosswog, A. Rowlinson, D.T.H. Steeghs, C.C. Thöne, K. Ulaczyk, D. Watson, S.H. Bruun, R. Cutter, R. Figuera Jaimes, Y.I. Fujii, A.S. Fruchter, B. Gompertz, P. Jakobsson, G. Hodosan, U.G. Jèrgensen, T. Kangas, D.A. Kann, M. Rabus, S.L. Schrøder, E.R. Stanway, R.A.M.J. Wijers, VINROUGE Collaboration, V.M. Lipunov, E.S. Gorbovskoy, V.G. Kornilov, N.V. Tyurina, P.V. Balanutsa, A.S. Kuznetsov, D.M. Vlasenko, R.C. Podesta, C. Lopez, F. Podesta, H.O. Levato, C. Saffe, C.C. Mallamaci, N.M. Budnev, O.A. Gress, D.A. Kuvshinov, I.A. Gorbunov, V.V. Vladimirov, D.S. Zimnukhov, A.V. Gabovich, V.V. Yurkov, Y.P. Sergienko, R. Rebolo, M. Serra-Ricart, A.G. Tlatov, Y.V. Ishmuhametova, MASTER Collaboration, F. Abe, K. Aoki, W. Aoki, Y. Asakura, S. Baar, S. Barway, I.A. Bond, M. Doi, F. Finet, T. Fujiyoshi, H. Furusawa, S. Honda, R. Itoh, N. Kanda, K.S. Kawabata, M. Kawabata, J.H. Kim, S. Koshida, D. Kuroda, C.H. Lee, W. Liu, K. Matsubayashi, S. Miyazaki, K. Morihana, T. Morokuma, K. Motohara, K.L. Murata, H. Nagai, H. Nagashima, T. Nagayama, T. Nakaoka, F. Nakata, R. Ohsawa,

T. Ohshima, K. Ohta, H. Okita, T. Saito, Y. Saito, S. Sako, Y. Sekiguchi, T. Sumi, A. Tajitsu, J. Takahashi, M. Takayama, Y. Tamura, I. Tanaka, M. Tanaka, T. Terai, N. Tominaga, P.J. Tristram, M. Uemura, Y. Utsumi, M.S. Yamaguchi, N. Yasuda, M. Yoshida, T. Zenko, J-GEM, S.M. Adams, G.C. Anupama, J. Bally, S. Barway, E. Bellm, N. Blagorodnova, C. Cannella, P. Chandra, D. Chatterjee, T.E. Clarke, B.E. Cobb, D.O. Cook, C. Copperwheat, K. De, S.W.K. Emery, U. Feindt, K. Foster, O.D. Fox, D.A. Frail, C. Fremling, C. Frohmaier, J.A. Garcia, S. Ghosh, S. Giacintucci, A. Goobar, O. Gottlieb, B.W. Grefenstette, G. Hallinan, F. Harrison, M. Heida, G. Helou, A.Y.Q. Ho, A. Horesh, K. Hotokezaka, W.H. Ip, R. Itoh, B. Jacobs, J.E. Jencson, D. Kasen, M.M. Kasliwal, N.E. Kassim, H. Kim, B.S. Kiran, N.P.M. Kuin, S.R. Kulkarni, T. Kupfer, R.M. Lau, K. Madsen, P.A. Mazzali, A.A. Miller, H. Miyasaka, K. Mooley, S.T. Myers, E. Nakar, C.C. Ngeow, P. Nugent, E.O. Ofek, N. Palliyaguru, M. Pavana, D.A. Perley, W.M. Peters, S. Pike, T. Piran, H. Qi, R.M. Quimby, J. Rana, S. Rosswog, F. Rusu, E.M. Sadler, A. Van Sistine, J. Sollerman, Y. Xu, L. Yan, Y. Yatsu, P.C. Yu, C. Zhang, W. Zhao, GROWTH, JAGWAR, Caltech-NRAO, TTU-NRAO, NuSTAR Collaborations, K.C. Chambers, M.E. Huber, A.S.B. Schultz, J. Bulger, H. Flewelling, E.A. Magnier, T.B. Lowe, R.J. Wainscoat, C. Waters, M. Willman, Pan-STARRS, K. Ebisawa, C. Hanyu, S. Harita, T. Hashimoto, K. Hidaka, T. Hori, M. Ishikawa, N. Isobe, W. Iwakiri, H. Kawai, N. Kawai, T. Kawamuro, T. Kawase, Y. Kitaoka, K. Makishima, M. Matsuoka, T. Mihara, T. Morita, K. Morita, S. Nakahira, M. Nakajima, Y. Nakamura, H. Negoro, S. Oda, A. Sakamaki, R. Sasaki, M. Serino, M. Shidatsu, R. Shimomukai, Y. Sugawara, S. Sugita, M. Sugizaki, Y. Tachibana, Y. Takao, A. Tanimoto, H. Tomida, Y. Tsuboi, H. Tsunemi, Y. Ueda, S. Ueno, S. Yamada, K. Yamaoka, M. Yamauchi, F. Yatabe, T. Yoneyama, T. Yoshii, MAXI Team, D.M. Coward, H. Crisp, D. Macpherson, I. Andreoni, R. Laugier, K. Noysena, A. Klotz, B. Gendre, P. Thierry, D. Turpin, T. Consortium, M. Im, C. Choi, J. Kim, Y. Yoon, G. Lim, S.K. Lee, C.U. Lee, S.L. Kim, S.W. Ko, J. Joe, M.K. Kwon, P.J. Kim, S.K. Lim, J.S. Choi, KU Collaboration, J.P.U. Fynbo, D. Malesani, D. Xu, N. Optical Telescope, S.J. Smartt, A. Jerkstrand, E. Kankare, S.A. Sim, M. Fraser, C. Inserra, K. Maguire, G. Leloudas, M. Magee, L.J. Shingles, K.W. Smith, D.R. Young, R. Kotak, A. Gal-Yam, J.D. Lyman, D.S. Homan, C. Agliozzo, J.P. Anderson, C.R. Angus, C. Ashall, C. Barbarino, F.E. Bauer, M. Berton, M.T. Botticella, M. Bulla, G. Cannizzaro, R. Cartier, A. Cikota, P. Clark, A. De Cia, M. Della Valle, M. Dennefeld, L. Dessart, G. Dimitriadis, N. Elias-Rosa, R.E. Firth, A. Flörs, C. Frohmaier, L. Galbany, S. González-Gaitán, M. Gromadzki, C.P. Gutiérrez, A. Hamanowicz, J. Harmanen, K.E. Heintz, M.S. Hernandez, S.T. Hodgkin, I.M. Hook, L. Izzo, P.A. James, P.G. Jonker, W.E. Kerzendorf, Z. Kostrzewa-Rutkowska, M. Kromer, H. Kuncarayakti, A. Lawrence, I. Manulis, S. Mattila, O. McBrien, A. Müller, J. Nordin, D. O'Neill, F. Onori, J.T. Palmerio, A. Pastorello, F. Patat, G. Pignata, P. Podsiadlowski, A. Razza, T. Reynolds, R. Roy, A.J. Ruiter, K.A. Rybicki, L. Salmon, M.L. Pumo, S.J. Prentice, I.R. Seitenzahl, M. Smith, J. Sollerman, M. Sullivan, H. Szegedi, F. Taddia, S. Taubenberger, G. Terreran, B. Van Soelen, J. Vos, N.A. Walton, D.E. Wright, Ł. Wyrzykowski, O. Yaron, a. pre="(">ePESSTO, T.W. Chen, T. Krühler, P. Schady, P. Wiseman, J. Greiner, A. Rau, T. Schweyer, S. Klose, A. Nicuesa Guelbenzu, GROND, N.T. Palliyaguru, T. Tech University, M.M. Shara, T. Williams, P. Vaisanen, S.B. Potter, E. Romero Colmenero, S. Crawford, D.A.H. Buckley, J. Mao, SALT Group, M.C. Díaz, L.M. Macri, D. García Lambas, C. Mendes de Oliveira, J.L. Nilo Castellón, T. Ribeiro, B. Sánchez, W. Schoenell, L.R. Abramo, S. Akras, J.S. Alcaniz, R. Artola, M. Beroiz, S. Bonoli, J. Cabral, R. Camuccio, V. Chavushyan, P. Coelho, C. Colazo, M.V. Costa-

Duarte, H. Cuevas Larenas, M. Domínguez Romero, D. Dultzin, D. Fernández, J. García, C. Girardini, D.R. Gonçalves, T.S. Gonçalves, S. Gurovich, Y. Jiménez-Teja, A. Kanaan, M. Lares, R. Lopes de Oliveira, O. López-Cruz, R. Melia, A. Molino, N. Padilla, T. Peñuela, V.M. Placco, C. Quiñones, A. Ramírez Rivera, V. Renzi, L. Riguccini, E. Ríos-López, H. Rodriguez, L. Sampedro, M. Schneiter, L. Sodré, M. Starck, S. Torres-Flores, M. Tornatore, A. Zadrożny, M. Castillo, TOROS: Transient Robotic Observatory of South Collaboration, A.J. Castro-Tirado, J.C. Tello, Y.D. Hu, B.B. Zhang, R. Cunniffe, A. Castellón, D. Hiriart, M.D. Caballero-García, M. Jelínek, P. Kubánek, C. Pérez del Pulgar, I.H. Park, S. Jeong, J.M. Castro Cerón, S.B. Pandey, P.C. Yock, R. Querel, Y. Fan, C. Wang, BOOTES Collaboration, A. Beardsley, I.S. Brown, B. Crosse, D. Emrich. T. Franzen, B.M. Gaensler, L. Horsley, M. Johnston-Hollitt, D. Kenney, M.F. Morales, D. Pallot, M. Sokolowski, K. Steele, S.J. Tingay, C.M. Trott, M. Walker, R. Wayth, A. Williams, C. Wu, M. Murchison Widefield Array, A. Yoshida, T. Sakamoto, Y. Kawakubo, K. Yamaoka, I. Takahashi, Y. Asaoka, S. Ozawa, S. Torii, Y. Shimizu, T. Tamura, W. Ishizaki, M.L. Cherry, S. Ricciarini, A.V. Penacchioni, P.S. Marrocchesi, CALET Collaboration, A.S. Pozanenko, A.A. Volnova, E.D. Mazaeva, P.Y. Minaev, M.A. Krugov, A.V. Kusakin, I.V. Reva, A.S. Moskvitin, V.V. Rumyantsev, R. Inasaridze, E.V. Klunko, N. Tungalag, S.E. Schmalz, O. Burhonov, IKI-GW Follow-up Collaboration, H. Abdalla, A. Abramowski, F. Aharonian, F. Ait Benkhali, E.O. Angüner, M. Arakawa, M. Arrieta, P. Aubert, M. Backes, A. Balzer, M. Barnard, Y. Becherini, J. Becker Tjus, D. Berge, S. Bernhard, K. Bernlöhr, R. Blackwell, M. Böttcher, C. Boisson, J. Bolmont, S. Bonnefoy, P. Bordas, J. Bregeon, F. Brun, P. Brun, M. Bryan, M. Büchele, T. Bulik, M. Capasso, S. Caroff, A. Carosi, S. Casanova, M. Cerruti, N. Chakraborty, R.C.G. Chaves, A. Chen, J. Chevalier, S. Colafrancesco, B. Condon, J. Conrad, I.D. Davids, J. Decock, C. Deil, J. Devin, P. deWilt, L. Dirson, A. Djannati-Ataï, A. Donath, L. O'C. Drury, K. Dutson, J. Dyks, T. Edwards, K. Egberts, G. Emery, J.P. Ernenwein, S. Eschbach, C. Farnier, S. Fegan, M.V. Fernandes, A. Fiasson, G. Fontaine, S. Funk, M. Füssling, S. Gabici, Y.A. Gallant, T. Garrigoux, F. Gaté, G. Giavitto, B. Giebels, D. Glawion, J.F. Glicenstein, D. Gottschall, M.H. Grondin, J. Hahn, M. Haupt, J. Hawkes, G. Heinzelmann, G. Henri, G. Hermann, J.A. Hinton, W. Hofmann, C. Hoischen, T.L. Holch, M. Holler, D. Horns, A. Ivascenko, H. Iwasaki, A. Jacholkowska, M. Jamrozy, D. Jankowsky, F. Jankowsky, M. Jingo, L. Jouvin, I. Jung-Richardt, M.A. Kastendieck, K. Katarzyński, M. Katsuragawa, D. Kerszberg, D. Khangulyan, B. Khélifi, J. King, S. Klepser, D. Klochkov, W. Kluźniak, N. Komin, K. Kosack, S. Krakau, M. Kraus, P.P. Krüger, H. Laffon, G. Lamanna, J. Lau, J.P. Lees, J. Lefaucheur, A. Lemière, M. Lemoine-Goumard, J.P. Lenain, E. Leser, T. Lohse, M. Lorentz, R. Liu, I. Lypova, D. Malyshev, V. Marandon, A. Marcowith, C. Mariaud, R. Marx, G. Maurin, N. Maxted, M. Mayer, P.J. Meintjes, M. Meyer, A.M.W. Mitchell, R. Moderski, M. Mohamed, L. Mohrmann, K. Morå, E. Moulin, T. Murach, S. Nakashima, M. de Naurois, H. Ndiyavala, F. Niederwanger, J. Niemiec, L. Oakes, P. O'Brien, H. Odaka, S. Ohm, M. Ostrowski, I. Oya, M. Padovani, M. Panter, R.D. Parsons, N.W. Pekeur, G. Pelletier, C. Perennes, P.O. Petrucci, B. Peyaud, Q. Piel, S. Pita, V. Poireau, H. Poon, D. Prokhorov, H. Prokoph, G. Pühlhofer, M. Punch, A. Quirrenbach, S. Raab, R. Rauth, A. Reimer, O. Reimer, M. Renaud, R. de los Reyes, F. Rieger, L. Rinchiuso, C. Romoli, G. Rowell, B. Rudak, C.B. Rulten, V. Sahakian, S. Saito, D.A. Sanchez, A. Santangelo, M. Sasaki, R. Schlickeiser, F. Schüssler, A. Schulz, U. Schwanke, S. Schwemmer, M. Seglar-Arroyo, M. Settimo, A.S. Seyffert, N. Shafi, I. Shilon, K. Shiningayamwe, R. Simoni, H. Sol, F. Spanier, M. SpirJacob, Ł. Stawarz, R. Steenkamp, C. Stegmann, C. Steppa, I. Sushch, T. Takahashi, J.P. Tavernet, T. Tavernier, A.M. Taylor, R. Terrier, L. Tibaldo, D. Tiziani, M. Tluczykont, C. Trichard, M. Tsirou, N. Tsuji, R. Tuffs, Y. Uchiyama, D.J. van der Walt, C. van Eldik, C. van Rensburg, B. van Soelen, G. Vasileiadis, J. Veh, C. Venter, A. Viana, P. Vincent, J. Vink, F. Voisin, H.J. Völk, T. Vuillaume, Z. Wadiasingh, S.J. Wagner, P. Wagner, R.M. Wagner, R. White, A. Wierzcholska, P. Willmann, A. Wörnlein, D. Wouters, R. Yang, D. Zaborov, M. Zacharias, R. Zanin, A.A. Zdziarski, A. Zech, F. Zefi, A. Ziegler, J. Zorn, N. Żywucka, H. E. S. S. Collaboration, R.P. Fender, J.W. Broderick, A. Rowlinson, R.A.M.J. Wijers, A.J. Stewart, S. ter Veen, A. Shulevski, LOFAR Collaboration, M. Kavic, J.H. Simonetti, C. League, J. Tsai, K.S. Obenberger, K. Nathaniel, G.B. Taylor, J.D. Dowell, S.L. Liebling, J.A. Estes, M. Lippert, I. Sharma, P. Vincent, B. Farella, L.L. Wavelength Array, A.U. Abeysekara, A. Albert, R. Alfaro, C. Alvarez, R. Arceo, J.C. Arteaga-Velázquez, D. Avila Rojas, H.A. Ayala Solares, A.S. Barber, J. Becerra Gonzalez, A. Becerril, E. Belmont-Moreno, S.Y. BenZvi, D. Berley, A. Bernal, J. Braun, C. Brisbois, K.S. Caballero-Mora, T. Capistrán, A. Carramiñana, S. Casanova, M. Castillo, U. Cotti, J. Cotzomi, S. Coutiño de León, C. De León, E. De la Fuente, R. Diaz Hernandez, S. Dichiara, B.L. Dingus, M.A. DuVernois, J.C. Díaz-Vélez, R.W. Ellsworth, K. Engel, O. Enríquez-Rivera, D.W. Fiorino, H. Fleischhack, N. Fraija, J.A. García-González, F. Garfias, M. Gerhardt, A. Gonzõlez Muñoz, M.M. González, J.A. Goodman, Z. Hampel-Arias, J.P. Harding, S. Hernandez, A. Hernandez-Almada, B. Hona, P. Hüntemeyer, A. Iriarte, A. Jardin-Blicq, V. Joshi, S. Kaufmann, D. Kieda, A. Lara, R.J. Lauer, D. Lennarz, H. León Vargas, J.T. Linnemann, A.L. Longinotti, G.L. Raya, R. Luna-García, R. López-Coto, K. Malone, S.S. Marinelli, O. Martinez, I. Martinez-Castellanos, J. Martínez-Castro, H. Martínez-Huerta, J.A. Matthews, P. Miranda-Romagnoli, E. Moreno, M. Mostafá, L. Nellen, M. Newbold, M.U. Nisa, R. Noriega-Papaqui, R. Pelayo, J. Pretz, E.G. Pérez-Pérez, Z. Ren, C.D. Rho, C. Rivière, D. Rosa-González, M. Rosenberg, E. Ruiz-Velasco, H. Salazar, F. Salesa Greus, A. Sandoval, M. Schneider, H. Schoorlemmer, G. Sinnis, A.J. Smith, R.W. Springer, P. Surajbali, O. Tibolla, K. Tollefson, I. Torres, T.N. Ukwatta, T. Weisgarber, S. Westerhoff, I.G. Wisher, J. Wood, T. Yapici, G.B. Yodh, P.W. Younk, H. Zhou, J.D. Álvarez, HAWC Collaboration, A. Aab, P. Abreu, M. Aglietta, I.F.M. Albuquerque, J.M. Albury, I. Allekotte, A. Almela, J. Alvarez Castillo, J. Alvarez-Muñiz, G.A. Anastasi, L. Anchordoqui, B. Andrada, S. Andringa, C. Aramo, N. Arsene, H. Asorey, P. Assis, G. Avila, A.M. Badescu, A. Balaceanu, F. Barbato, R.J. Barreira Luz, K.H. Becker, J.A. Bellido, C. Berat, M.E. Bertaina, X. Bertou, P.L. Biermann, J. Biteau, S.G. Blaess, A. Blanco, J. Blazek, C. Bleve, M. Boháčová, C. Bonifazi, N. Borodai, A.M. Botti, J. Brack, I. Brancus, T. Bretz, A. Bridgeman, F.L. Briechle, P. Buchholz, A. Bueno, S. Buitink, M. Buscemi, K.S. Caballero-Mora, L. Caccianiga, A. Cancio, F. Canfora, R. Caruso, A. Castellina, F. Catalani, G. Cataldi, L. Cazon, A.G. Chavez, J.A. Chinellato, J. Chudoba, R.W. Clay, A.C. Cobos Cerutti, R. Colalillo, A. Coleman, L. Collica, M.R. Coluccia, R. Conceição, G. Consolati, F. Contreras, M.J. Cooper, S. Coutu, C.E. Covault, J. Cronin, S. D'Amico, B. Daniel, S. Dasso, K. Daumiller, B.R. Dawson, J.A. Day, R.M. de Almeida, S.J. de Jong, G. De Mauro, J.R.T. de Mello Neto, I. De Mitri, J. de Oliveira, V. de Souza, J. Debatin, O. Deligny, M.L. Díaz Castro, F. Diogo, C. Dobrigkeit, J.C. D'Olivo, Q. Dorosti, R.C. Dos Anjos, M.T. Dova, A. Dundovic, J. Ebr, R. Engel, M. Erdmann, M. Erfani, C.O. Escobar, J. Espadanal, A. Etchegoyen, H. Falcke, J. Farmer, G. Farrar, A.C. Fauth, N. Fazzini, F. Feldbusch, F. Fenu, B. Fick, J.M. Figueira, A. Filipčič, M.M. Freire, T. Fujii, A. Fuster, R. Gaïor, B. García,

F. Gaté, H. Gemmeke, A. Gherghel-Lascu, P.L. Ghia, U. Giaccari, M. Giammarchi, M. Giller, D. Głas, C. Glaser, G. Golup, M. Gómez Berisso, P.F. Gómez Vitale, N. González, A. Gorgi, M. Gottowik, A.F. Grillo, T.D. Grubb, F. Guarino, G.P. Guedes, R. Halliday, M.R. Hampel, P. Hansen, D. Harari, T.A. Harrison, V.M. Harvey, A. Haungs, T. Hebbeker, D. Heck, P. Heimann, A.E. Herve, G.C. Hill, C. Hojvat, E. Holt, P. Homola, J.R. Hörandel, P. Horvath, M. Hrabovský, T. Huege, J. Hulsman, A. Insolia, P.G. Isar, I. Jandt, J.A. Johnsen, M. Josebachuili, J. Jurysek, A. Kääpä, K.H. Kampert, B. Keilhauer, N. Kemmerich, J. Kemp, R.M. Kieckhafer, H.O. Klages, M. Kleifges, J. Kleinfeller, R. Krause, N. Krohm, D. Kuempel, G. Kukec Mezek, N. Kunka, A. Kuotb Awad, B.L. Lago, D. LaHurd, R.G. Lang, M. Lauscher, R. Legumina, M.A. Leigui de Oliveira, A. Letessier-Selvon, I. Lhenry-Yvon, K. Link, D. Lo Presti, L. Lopes, R. López, A. López Casado, R. Lorek, Q. Luce, A. Lucero, M. Malacari, M. Mallamaci, D. Mandat, P. Mantsch, A.G. Mariazzi, I.C. Maris, G. Marsella, D. Martello, H. Martinez, O. Martínez Bravo, J.J. Masías Meza, H.J. Mathes, S. Mathys, J. Matthews, G. Matthiae, E. Mayotte, P.O. Mazur, C. Medina, G. Medina-Tanco, D. Melo, A. Menshikov, K.D. Merenda, S. Michal, M.I. Micheletti, L. Middendorf, L. Miramonti, B. Mitrica, D. Mockler, S. Mollerach, F. Montanet, C. Morello, G. Morlino, A.L. Müller, G. Müller, M.A. Muller, S. Müller, R. Mussa, I. Naranjo, P.H. Nguyen, M. Niculescu-Oglinzanu, M. Niechciol, L. Niemietz, T. Niggemann, D. Nitz, D. Nosek, V. Novotny, L. Nožka, L.A. Núñez, F. Oikonomou, A. Olinto, M. Palatka, J. Pallotta, P. Papenbreer, G. Parente, A. Parra, T. Paul, M. Pech, F. Pedreira, J. Pekala, J. Peña-Rodriguez, L.A.S. Pereira, M. Perlin, L. Perrone, C. Peters, S. Petrera, J. Phuntsok, T. Pierog, M. Pimenta, V. Pirronello, M. Platino, M. Plum, J. Poh, C. Porowski, R.R. Prado, P. Privitera, M. Prouza, E.J. Quel, S. Querchfeld, S. Quinn, R. Ramos-Pollan, J. Rautenberg, D. Ravignani, J. Ridky, F. Riehn, M. Risse, P. Ristori, V. Rizi, W. Rodrigues de Carvalho, G. Rodriguez Fernandez, J. Rodriguez Rojo, M.J. Roncoroni, M. Roth, E. Roulet, A.C. Rovero, P. Ruehl, S.J. Saffi, A. Saftoiu, F. Salamida, H. Salazar, A. Saleh, G. Salina, F. Sánchez, P. Sanchez-Lucas, E.M. Santos, E. Santos, F. Sarazin, R. Sarmento, C. Sarmiento-Cano, R. Sato, M. Schauer, V. Scherini, H. Schieler, M. Schimp, D. Schmidt, O. Scholten, P. Schovánek, F.G. Schröder, S. Schröder, A. Schulz, J. Schumacher, S.J. Sciutto, A. Segreto, A. Shadkam, R.C. Shellard, G. Sigl, G. Silli, R. Šmída, G.R. Snow, P. Sommers, S. Sonntag, J.F. Soriano, R. Squartini, D. Stanca, S. Stanič, J. Stasielak, P. Stassi, M. Stolpovskiy, F. Strafella, A. Streich, F. Suarez, M. Suarez-Durán, T. Sudholz, T. Suomijärvi, A.D. Supanitsky, J. Šupík, J. Swain, Z. Szadkowski, A. Taboada, O.A. Taborda, C. Timmermans, C.J. Todero Peixoto, L. Tomankova, B. Tomé, G. Torralba Elipe, P. Travnicek, M. Trini, M. Tueros, R. Ulrich, M. Unger, M. Urban, J.F. Valdés Galicia, I. Valiño, L. Valore, G. van Aar, P. van Bodegom, A.M. van den Berg, A. van Vliet, E. Varela, B. Vargas Cárdenas, R.A. Vázquez, D. Veberič, C. Ventura, I.D. Vergara Quispe, V. Verzi, J. Vicha, L. Villaseñor, S. Vorobiov, H. Wahlberg, O. Wainberg, D. Walz, A.A. Watson, M. Weber, A. Weindl, M. Wiedeński, L. Wiencke, H. Wilczyński, M. Wirtz, D. Wittkowski, B. Wundheiler, L. Yang, A. Yushkov, E. Zas, D. Zavrtanik, M. Zavrtanik, A. Zepeda, B. Zimmermann, M. Ziolkowski, Z. Zong, F. Zuccarello, Pierre Auger Collaboration, S. Kim, S. Schulze, F.E. Bauer, J.M. Corral-Santana, I. de Gregorio-Monsalvo, J. González-López, D.H. Hartmann, C.H. Ishwara-Chandra, S. Martín, A. Mehner, K. Misra, M.J. Michałowski, L. Resmi, ALMA Collaboration, Z. Paragi, I. Agudo, T. An, R. Beswick, C. Casadio, S. Frey, P. Jonker, M. Kettenis, B. Marcote, J. Moldon, A. Szomoru, H.J. van Langevelde, J. Yang, Euro VLBI Team, A. Cwiek, M. Cwiok, H. Czyrkowski, R. Dabrowski, G. Kasprowicz, L. Mankiewicz, K. Nawrocki, R. Opiela, L.W. Piotrowski,

G. Wrochna, M. Zaremba, A.F. Żarnecki, Pi of Sky Collaboration, D. Haggard, M. Nynka, J.J. Ruan, Chandra Team at McGill University, P.A. Bland, T. Booler, H.A.R. Devillepoix, J.S. de Gois, P.J. Hancock, R.M. Howie, J. Paxman, E.K. Sansom, M.C. Towner, D. Desert Fireball Network, J. Tonry, M. Coughlin, C.W. Stubbs, L. Denneau, A. Heinze, B. Stalder, H. Weiland, ATLAS, R.P. Eatough, M. Kramer, A. Kraus, H. Time Resolution Universe Survey, E. Troja, L. Piro, J. Becerra González, N.R. Butler, O.D. Fox, H.G. Khandrika, A. Kutyrev, W.H. Lee, R. Ricci, J. Ryan, R. E., R. Sánchez-Ramírez, S. Veilleux, A.M. Watson, M.H. Wieringa, J.M. Burgess, H. van Eerten, C.J. Fontes, C.L. Fryer, O. Korobkin, R.T. Wollaeger, RIMAS, RATIR, F. Camilo, A.R. Foley, S. Goedhart, S. Makhathini, N. Oozeer, O.M. Smirnov, R.P. Fender, P.A. Woudt, S. South Africa/MeerKAT, ApJ **848**(2), L12 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/aa91c9

- 406. D.A. Coulter, R.J. Foley, C.D. Kilpatrick, M.R. Drout, A.L. Piro, B.J. Shappee, M.R. Siebert, J.D. Simon, N. Ulloa, D. Kasen, B.F. Madore, A. Murguia-Berthier, Y.C. Pan, J.X. Prochaska, E. Ramirez-Ruiz, A. Rest, C. Rojas-Bravo, Science **358**(6370), 1556 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap9811
- 407. X. Wang, N3AS Collaboration, N. Vassh, FIRE Collaboration, T. Sprouse, M. Mumpower, R. Vogt, J. Randrup, R. Surman, ApJ 903(1), L3 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/abbe18
- 408. K. Kolos, V. Sobes, R. Vogt, C.E. Romano, M.S. Smith, L.A. Bernstein, D.A. Brown, M.T. Burkey, Y. Danon, M.A. Elsawi, B.L. Goldblum, L.H. Heilbronn, S.L. Hogle, J. Hutchinson, B. Loer, E.A. McCutchan, M.R. Mumpower, E.M. O'Brien, C. Percher, P.N. Peplowski, J.J. Ressler, N. Schunck, N.W. Thompson, A.S. Voyles, W. Wieselquist, M. Zerkle, Physical Review Research 4(2), 021001 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevResearch. 4.021001
- 409. D. Martin, A. Arcones, W. Nazarewicz, E. Olsen, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 121101 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 116.121101. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116. 121101
- 410. T.M. Sprouse, R. Navarro Perez, R. Surman, M.R. Mumpower, G.C. McLaughlin, N. Schunck, Phys. Rev. C 101(5), 055803 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.055803
- 411. A. Aprahamian, I. Bentley, M. Mumpower, R. Surman, AIP Advances 4(4), 041101 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 4867193
- 412. M. Mumpower, J. Cass, G. Passucci, R. Surman, A. Aprahamian, AIP Advances 4(4), 041009 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 4867192
- 413. R. Surman, M. Mumpower, R. Sinclair, K.L. Jones, W.R. Hix, G.C. McLaughlin, AIP Advances 4(4), 041008 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1063/1.4867191
- N. Vassh, G.C. McLaughlin, M.R. Mumpower, R. Surman, arXiv e-prints arXiv:2202.09437 (2022)
- 415. M. Vilen, J.M. Kelly, A. Kankainen, M. Brodeur, A. Aprahamian, L. Canete, T. Eronen, A. Jokinen, T. Kuta, I.D. Moore, M.R. Mumpower, D.A. Nesterenko, H. Penttilä, I. Pohjalainen, W.S. Porter, S. Rinta-Antila, R. Surman, A. Voss, J. ńystö, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(26), 262701 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.120.262701
- 416. J. Tain, J. Agramunt, D. Ahn, A. Algora, J. Allmond, H. Baba, S. Bae, N. Brewer, R. Caballero Folch, F. Calvino, P. Coleman-Smith, G. Cortes, T. Davinson, I. Dillmann, C. Domingo-Pardo, A. Estrade, N. Fukuda, S. Go, C. Griffin, R. Grzywacz, J. Ha, O. Hall, L. Harkness-Brennan, T. Isobe, D. Kahl, M. Karny, G. Kiss, M. Kogimtzis, A. Korgul, S. Kubono, M. Labiche, I. Lazarus, J. Lee, J. Liu, G. Lorusso, K. Matsui, K. Miernik, F. Montes, B. Moon, A. Morales, N. Nepal, S. Nishimura, R. Page, Z. Podolyak, V. Pucknell, B. Rasco, P. Regan, A. Riego, B. Rubio, K. Rykaczewski, Y. Saito, H. Sakurai, Y. Shimizu, J. Simpson, P. Soderstrom, D. Stracener, T. Sumikama, R. Sur-

man, H. Suzuki, M. Takechi, H. Takeda, A. Tarifeno-Saldiva, S. Thomas, A. Tolosa-Delgado, V. Phong, P. Woods, Acta Physica Polonica B 49(3), 417 (2018)

- 417. J. Wu, S. Nishimura, P. Möller, M.R. Mumpower, R. Lozeva, C.B. Moon, A. Odahara, H. Baba, F. Browne, R. Daido, P. Doornenbal, Y.F. Fang, M. Haroon, T. Isobe, H.S. Jung, G. Lorusso, B. Moon, Z. Patel, S. Rice, H. Sakurai, Y. Shimizu, L. Sinclair, P.A. Söderström, T. Sumikama, H. Watanabe, Z.Y. Xu, A. Yagi, R. Yokoyama, D.S. Ahn, F.L. Bello Garrote, J.M. Daugas, F. Didierjean, N. Fukuda, N. Inabe, T. Ishigaki, D. Kameda, I. Kojouharov, T. Komatsubara, T. Kubo, N. Kurz, K.Y. Kwon, S. Morimoto, D. Murai, H. Nishibata, H. Schaffner, T.M. Sprouse, H. Suzuki, H. Takeda, M. Tanaka, K. Tshoo, Y. Wakabayashi, Phys. Rev. C **101**(4), 042801 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.101.042801
- 418. V. Zagrebaev, W. Greiner, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 35(12), 125103 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0954-3899/35/12/125103
- 419. W.D. Loveland, Frontiers in Physics 7, 23 (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphy.2019.00023
- 420. R. Yanez, W. Loveland, Physical Review C 91(4) (2015). https:// doi.org/10.1103/physrevc.91.044608
- M.R. Mumpower, T. Kawano, T.M. Sprouse, arXiv e-prints arXiv:2201.02889 (2022)
- 422. G. Savard, M. Brodeur, J. Clark, R. Knaack, A. Valverde, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 463, 258 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nimb.2019.05.024.https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168583X19303295
- 423. A. Valverde, M. Brodeur, J. Clark, D. Lascar, G. Savard, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research. Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 463, 330 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nimb.2019.04.070. (Funding Information: This work was conducted with the support of the University of Notre Dame; the National Science Foundation under Grants No. PHY-1725711 and PHY-1713857; and of the Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics under contract No. DE-AC02-06CH11357. Funding Information: This work was conducted with the support of the University of Notre Dame?; the National Science Foundation under Grants No. PHY-1725711 and PHY-1713857?; and of the Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics under contract No. DE-AC02-06CH11357 . Publisher Copyright: 2019 Elsevier B.V)
- 424. P. Amaro-Seoane, J. Andrews, M. Arca Sedda, A. Askar, R. Balasov, I. Bartos, S.S. Bavera, J. Bellovary, C.P.L. Berry, E. Berti, S. Bianchi, L. Blecha, S. Blondin, T. Bogdanović, S. Boissier, M. Bonetti, S. Bonoli, E. Bortolas, K. Breivik, P.R. Capelo, L. Caramete, F. Catorini, M. Charisi, S. Chaty, X. Chen, M. Chruślińska, A.J.K. Chua, R. Church, M. Colpi, D. D'Orazio, C. Danielski, M.B. Davies, P. Dayal, A. De Rosa, A. Derdzinski, K. Destounis, M. Dotti, I. Duțan, I. Dvorkin, G. Fabj, T. Foglizzo, S. Ford, J.B. Fouvry, T. Fragkos, C. Fryer, M. Gaspari, D. Gerosa, L. Graziani, P.J. Groot, M. Habouzit, D. Haggard, Z. Haiman, W.B. Han, A. Istrate, P.H. Johansson, F.M. Khan, T. Kimpson, K. Kokkotas, A. Kong, V. Korol, K. Kremer, T. Kupfer, A. Lamberts, S. Larson, M. Lau, D. Liu, N. Lloyd-Ronning, G. Lodato, A. Lupi, C.P. Ma, T. Maccarone, I. Mandel, A. Mangiagli, M. Mapelli, S. Mathis, L. Mayer, S. McGee, B. McKernan, M.C. Miller, D.F. Mota, M. Mumpower, S.S. Nasim, G. Nelemans, S. Noble, F. Pacucci, F. Panessa, V. Paschalidis, H. Pfister, D. Porquet, J. Quenby, F. Röpke, J. Regan, S. Rosswog, A. Ruiter, M. Ruiz, J. Runnoe, R. Schneider, J. Schnittman, A. Secunda, A. Sesana, N. Seto, L. Shao, S. Shapiro, C. Sopuerta, N. Stone, A. Suvorov, N. Tamanini, T. Tamfal, T. Tauris, K. Temmink, J. Tomsick, S. Toonen, A. Torres-Orjuela, M. Toscani,

A. Tsokaros, C. Unal, V. Vázquez-Aceves, R. Valiante, M. van Putten, J. van Roestel, C. Vignali, M. Volonteri, K. Wu, Z. Younsi, S. Yu, S. Zane, L. Zwick, F. Antonini, V. Baibhav, E. Barausse, A. Bonilla Rivera, M. Branchesi, G. Branduardi-Raymont, K. Burdge, S. Chakraborty, J. Cuadra, K. Dage, B. Davis, S.E. de Mink, R. Decarli, D. Doneva, S. Escoffier, P. Gandhi, F. Haardt, C.O. Lousto, S. Nissanke, J. Nordhaus, R. O'Shaughnessy, S. Portegies Zwart, A. Pound, F. Schussler, O. Sergijenko, A. Spallicci, D. Vernieri, A. Vigna-Gómez, arXiv e-prints arXiv:2203.06016 (2022)

- 425. C.J. Fontes, C.L. Fryer, R.T. Wollaeger, M.R. Mumpower, T.M. Sprouse, MNRAS (2022). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/ stac2792
- 426. P. Bloser, W.T. Vestrand, M. Hehlen, K. Katko, L. Parker, D. Beckman, J. Sedillo, J. McGlown, L. Holguin, J. Michel, R. Scobie, T. Nelson, D. Poulson, C. Fryer, A. Hungerford, M. Mumpower, in AAS/High Energy Astrophysics Division, AAS/High Energy Astrophysics Division, vol. 54 (2022), AAS/High Energy Astrophysics Division, vol. 54, p. 108.37
- 427. C.M. Sakari, V.M. Placco, E.M. Farrell, I.U. Roederer, G. Wallerstein, T.C. Beers, R. Ezzeddine, A. Frebel, T. Hansen, E.M. Holmbeck, C. Sneden, J.J. Cowan, K.A. Venn, C.E. Davis, G. Matijevič, R.F.G. Wyse, J. Bland-Hawthorn, C. Chiappini, K.C. Freeman, B.K. Gibson, E.K. Grebel, A. Helmi, G. Kordopatis, A. Kunder, J. Navarro, W. Reid, G. Seabroke, M. Steinmetz, F. Watson, ApJ 868(2), 110 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/aae9df
- 428. H. Schatz, A.D. Becerril Reyes, A. Best, E.F. Brown, K. Chatziioannou, K.A. Chipps, C.M. Deibel, R. Ezzeddine, D.K. Galloway, C.J. Hansen, F. Herwig, A.P. Ji, M. Lugaro, Z. Meisel, D. Norman, J.S. Read, L.F. Roberts, A. Spyrou, I. Tews, F.X. Timmes, C. Travaglio, N. Vassh, C. Abia, P. Adsley, S. Agarwal, M. Aliotta, W. Aoki, A. Arcones, A. Aryan, A. Bandyopadhyay, A. Banu, D.W. Bardayan, J. Barnes, A. Bauswein, T.C. Beers, J. Bishop, T. Boztepe, B. Côté, M.E. Caplan, A.E. Champagne, J.A. Clark, M. Couder, A. Couture, S.E. de Mink, S. Debnath, R.J. deBoer, J. den Hartogh, P. Denissenkov, V. Dexheimer, I. Dillmann, J.E. Escher, M.A. Famiano, R. Farmer, R. Fisher, C. Fröhlich, A. Frebel, C. Fryer, G. Fuller, A.K. Ganguly, S. Ghosh, B.K. Gibson, T. Gorda, K.N. Gourgouliatos, V. Graber, M. Gupta, W. Haxton, A. Heger, W.R. Hix, W.C.G. Ho, E.M. Holmbeck, A.A. Hood, S. Huth, G. Imbriani, R.G. Izzard, R. Jain, H. Jayatissa, Z. Johnston, T. Kajino, A. Kankainen, G.G. Kiss, A. Kwiatkowski, M. La Cognata, A.M. Laird, L. Lamia,

P. Landry, E. Laplace, K.D. Launey, D. Leahy, G. Leckenby, A. Lennarz, B. Longfellow, A.E. Lovell, W.G. Lynch, S.M. Lyons, K. Maeda, E. Masha, C. Matei, J. Merc, B. Messer, F. Montes, A. Mukherjee, M. Mumpower, D. Neto, B. Nevins, W.G. Newton, L.Q. Nguyen, K. Nishikawa, N. Nishimura, F.M. Nunes, E. O'Connor, B.W. O'Shea, W.J. Ong, S.D. Pain, M.A. Pajkos, M. Pignatari, R.G. Pizzone, V.M. Placco, T. Plewa, B. Pritychenko, A. Psaltis, D. Puentes, Y.Z. Qian, D. Radice, D. Rapagnani, B.M. Rebeiro, R. Reifarth, A.L. Richard, N. Rijal, I.U. Roederer, J.S. Rojo, J.S. K, Y. Saito, A. Schwenk, M.L. Sergi, R.S. Sidhu, A. Simon, T. Sivarani, Á. Skúladóttir, M.S. Smith, A. Spiridon, T.M. Sprouse, S. Starrfield, A.W. Steiner, F. Strieder, I. Sultana, R. Surman, T. Szücs, A. Tawfik, F. Thielemann, L. Trache, R. Trappitsch, M.B. Tsang, A. Tumino, S. Upadhyayula, J.O. Valle Martínez, M. Van der Swaelmen, C. Viscasillas Vázquez, A. Watts, B. Wehmeyer, M. Wiescher, C. Wrede, J. Yoon, R.G.T. Zegers, M.A. Zermane, M. Zingale, arXiv e-prints arXiv:2205.07996 (2022)